ANNUAL REPORT 2016

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for
the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
CRITICAL
announcement.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
annual consolidated financial statements.
Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
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(Toronto Stock code: CGG)

The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Overseas Regulatory Announcement

As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

VANCOUVER, March 30, 2017 - China Gold International Resources Corp. Ltd. (TSX: CGG; HKEx:

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

2099)
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and
Financial
for the Year
Ended
31,a 2016
on SEDAR
(www.sedar.
The Company
hasMD&A
not paid
any
dividendsStatements
since incorporation
and does
not December
currently have
fixed dividend
policy.
The Board of

com)
on will
March
30, 2017,
Vancouver
time.
Directors
determine
any future
dividend
policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada see
and the
Hong
Kong andannouncement
at both the TSX and
HKSE, details.
and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
Please
attached
for more
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.

By order of the Board

China Gold International Resources Corp. Ltd.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or
of fully
paid shares
Mr.
Song,
Xin or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend mayChairman
be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December
31, 2016
Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
Hong
Kong, March
31,the
2017

As at the date of this announcement, the Board of Directors of the Company comprises of Mr. Xin Song, Mr. Bing
Liu, Mr. Liangyou Jiang and Mr. Xiangdong Jiang as executive directors, Mr. Lianzhong Sun as non-executive
Director, and Mr. Gregory Hall, Mr. Ian He, Mr. John King Burns and Mr. Yunfei Chen as independent nonexecutive Directors.
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MANAGEMENT'SMANAGEMENT'S
DISCUSSION AND DISCUSSION
ANALYSIS
AND ANALYSIS
RELATED
PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
The following
Management
Discussion and Analysis of financial condition and results of operations (“MD&A”) is prepared as of

CNG owned
percent
of the be
outstanding
common shares
Company asfinancial
at December
31, 2016
and
December
March 39.3
30, 2017.
It should
read in conjunction
with of
thethe
consolidated
statements
and
notes
thereto31,
of 2015.
China Gold
International Resources Corp. Ltd. (referred to herein as “China Gold International”, the “Company”, “we” or “our” as the context
The Company
had major
party transactions
with2016
the following
companies
by way
shareholders
andUnless
shareholder
may require)
for therelated
year ended
December 31,
and the year
ended related
December
31, of
2015,
respectively.
the context
in common:
otherwise provides, references in this MD&A to China Gold International or the Company refer to China Gold International and
each of its subsidiaries collectively on a consolidated basis.
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and
sale ofThe
doré
with CNG
(the “2008
Contract”)
pursuant
to which statements
Inner Mongolia
Pacific
occasionally
sold
gold objectives,
doré bars to
CNG
following
discussion
contains
certain
forward-looking
relating
to the
Company’s
plans,
expectations
through
to intentions,
Decemberwhich
31, 2011.
pricing
wasCompany’s
based on the
daily expectations
average priceand
of gold
ingot astoquoted
on the Shanghai
Gold
and
are The
based
on the
current
are subject
risks, uncertainties
and changes
in
Exchange
and the daily
average
pricecarefully
of silverconsider
as quoted
Huatong
& Silver
Exchange
at the
circumstances.
Readers
should
all on
of the Shanghai
information
set out Platinum
in this MD&A,
including
the prevailing
risks and uncertainties
time ofoutlined
each relevant
order during
the Information
contract period.
JanuaryInformation
27, 2012, the
2008orContract
was renewed
for2017
another
further purchase
in the Company’s
Annual
FormOn
(“Annual
Form”
“AIF”) dated
March 30,
on SEDAR
three years
ending December
31, 2014
and subsequently
on June
2014 that
for the
period
of January
1, 2015oftoforward-looking
December 31, 2017.
at www.sedar.com.
For further
information
on risks and
other30,
factors
could
affect
the accuracy
statements
and the result of operations of the Company, please refer to the sections titled “Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors”
Revenue
sales of gold
doré bars
to CNG
decreased
million for
the year
endedcondition
December
2015
US$227.6 could
andfrom
to discussions
elsewhere
within
this MD&A.
Chinafrom
GoldUS$233.8
International’s
business,
financial
or 31,
results
of to
operations
millionbe
formaterially
the year ended
December
31, 2016.
and adversely
affected
by any of these risks.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
Certain
statements
made
other
than statements
of historical
to the Company,
represent from
forward-looking
produced
at the
Jiama Mine.
Theherein,
quantity
of copper
concentrates,
pricing fact
termsrelating
and payment
terms be established
time
In some
this forward-looking
information
be identified
by words
phrases
as “may”,
“will”,
“expect”,
to timeinformation.
by the parties
with cases,
reference
to the pricing principles
for can
connected
transactions
setorout
undersuch
the Product
and
Service
“anticipate”,
“contemplates”,
“aim”,
“estimate”,
“intend”,
“plan”,
“believe”,
“potential”,
“continue”,
“is/are
likely
to”,
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products “should”
to
or the
negative
of these
terms,toorUS$21.0
other similar
identify forward-looking information. This forward-looking
CNG was
US$59.8
million,
compared
million expressions
for the sameintended
period into2015.
information includes, among other things; China Gold International’s production estimates, business strategies and capital
the development
and expansion
and schedules
for provided
the CSH to
Mine
the Jiama
Mine; China
For theexpenditure
year endedplans;
December
31, 2016, construction
servicesplans
of US$39.6
million were
theand
Company
by subsidiaries
of Gold
International’s
financial
condition;
the
regulatory
environment
as
well
as
the
general
industry
outlook;
general
economic
trends
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
in China; and statements respecting anticipated business activities, planned expenditures, corporate strategies, participation in
projects
andtwo
financing,
and othermajor
statements
not historical
In addition
to the
aforementioned
relatedthat
partyare
transactions,
thefacts.
Company also obtains additional services from related
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
ByHuatailong
their nature,
information involves numerous assumptions, both general and specific, which may cause the
Pacific,
andforward-looking
China Gold Finance.
actual results, performance or achievements of China Gold International and/or its subsidiaries to be materially different from any

future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward–looking information. Some of the key assumptions
PROPOSED
TRANSACTIONS
include, among others, the absence of any material change in China Gold International’s operations or in foreign exchange rates,
The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
the prevailing price of gold, copper and other non-ferrous metal products; the absence of lower-than-anticipated mineral recovery
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
or other production problems; effective income and other tax rates and other assumptions underlying China Gold International’s
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
financial performance as stated in the Company’s technical reports for its CSH Mine and Jiama Mine; China Gold International’s
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
ability to obtain regulatory confirmations and approvals on a timely basis; continuing positive labor relations; the absence of any
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
material adverse effects as a result of political instability, terrorism, natural disasters, litigation or arbitration and adverse changes
in government regulation; the availability and accessibility of financing to China Gold International; and the performance by
counterparties of the terms and conditions of all contracts to which China Gold International and its subsidiaries are a party. The
forward-looking information is also based on the assumption that none of the risk factors identified in this MD&A or in the AIF that
could cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking information actually occurs.

2

60

39

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION
MANAGEMENT'S
AND ANALYSIS
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
annual consolidated financial statements.
Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
on the balance sheet.
The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

Forward-looking information contained herein as of the date of this MD&A is based on the opinions, estimates and assumptions of
management. There are a number of important risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual actions, events or
The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
results to differ materially from those described as forward-looking information. China Gold International disclaims any obligation to
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
update any forward-looking information, whether as a result of new information, estimates, opinions or assumptions, future events
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
or results, or otherwise except to the extent required by law. There can be no assurance that forward-looking information will prove
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
to be accurate, as actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. The forwardlooking information in this MD&A is expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. The reader is cautioned not to place undue
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
reliance on forward-looking information.
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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AND ANALYSIS
MANAGEMENT'S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THE COMPANY
RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

Overview

The Company
hadInternational
major relatedis party
with the
following
companies
related
by wayCanada.
of shareholders
and shareholder
China Gold
a goldtransactions
and base metal
mining
company
based in
Vancouver,
The Company’s
main business
in common:
involves the operation, acquisition, development and exploration of gold and base metal properties.

On October
24, 2008, the
Company’s
entered
a non-exclusive
contract
the purchase
The Company’s
principal
miningsubsidiary,
operationsInner
are Mongolia
the ChangPacific
Shan Hao
Goldinto
Mine
( “CSH Mine” or
“CSH”),for
located
in Inner and
Mongolia,
sale ofChina
doré and
with the
CNG
(the Copper-Gold
“2008 Contract”)
pursuantMine
to which
Inner
Mongolia
Pacificlocated
occasionally
sold
gold China
doré bars
CNG
Jiama
Polymetallic
(“Jiama
Mine”
or “Jiama”),
in Tibet,
China.
GoldtoInternational
through
to December
31, 2011.
TheCSH
pricing
was
based
on the daily
price of partner
gold ingot
as the
quoted
on the3.5%
Shanghai
Gold
holds
a 96.5% interest
in the
Mine,
while
its Chinese
joint average
venture (“CJV”)
holds
remaining
interest.
The CSH
Exchange
the daily average
priceproduction
of silver as on
quoted
the Shanghai
Huatong
Silver Exchange
prevailing
at thehosts a
Mineand
commenced
commercial
July 1,on2008.
The Company
ownsPlatinum
a 100% &
interest
in the Jiama
Mine, which
time oflarge
eachscale
relevant
purchasepolymetallic
order during deposit
the contract
period.
On January
2012, the 2008
Contract
waszinc
renewed
another
copper-gold
containing
copper,
gold, 27,
molybdenum,
silver,
lead and
metals.forThe
Jiama Mine
three years
ending December
31,production
2014 and subsequently
June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.
commenced
commercial
in Septemberon
2010.

Revenue
fromGold
salesInternational’s
of gold doré bars
to CNG
decreased
fromonUS$233.8
million
for the
year ended
December
2015Exchange
to US$227.6
China
common
shares
are listed
the Toronto
Stock
Exchange
(“TSX”)
and The 31,
Stock
of Hong
million Kong
for the
year
ended
December
31,
2016.
Limited (“HKSE”) under the symbol CGG and the stock code 2099, respectively. Additional information about the Company,
including the Company’s Annual Information Form, is available on SEDAR at sedar.com as well as Hong Kong Exchange News at
On May
29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
hkexnews.hk.
Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time

Performance Highlights

to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to

Three
months
ended
December
31,million
2016for the same period in 2015.
CNG was
US$59.8
million,
compared
to US$21.0

Revenue increased by 18% to US$93.6 million from US$79.0 million for the same period in 2015.
For the yearMine
ended
December
31, 2016,
construction
of US$39.6
million
weremillion
provided
to the
Company
subsidiaries of
operating
earnings
increased
by 210%services
to US$13.0
million from
US$4.2
for the
same
period inby2015.
CNG (US$140.8
million
the year
ended
December
31, 2015).
Net loss
afterforincome
taxes
decreased
to US$9.1
million from US$18.5 million for the same period in 2015.
Gold production from the CSH Mine decreased by 5% to 52,828 ounces from 55,673 ounces for the same period in 2015.
In addition Copper
to the two
aforementioned
major
related
transactions,
the4,364
Company
obtains additional
servicespounds)
from related
production
from the
Jiama
Mineparty
increased
by 1% to
tonnesalso
(approximately
9.62 million
from 4,339
parties in itstonnes
normal(approximately
course of business,
including
a Financial
Agreement
9.56 million
pounds)
for theServices
same period
in 2015.entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

Year ended December 31, 2016

PROPOSED
TRANSACTIONS
Revenue
remained consistent to US$338.6 million from US$339.9 million for the same period in 2015.

The Board of
Directors
has given
the decreased
Company approval
conduct
reviews
a number
of projects
qualify
as acquisition
Mine
operating
earnings
by 11% totoUS$56.2
million
fromofUS$62.8
million
for the that
samemay
period
in 2015.
targets through
joint
venture,
merger
outright
acquisitions.
The Group
not for
have
material
and due
disposal
Net loss
after
income
taxes and/or
increased
to US$12.3
million from
US$6.8 did
million
theany
same
period acquisition
in 2015, mainly
to foreign
of subsidiaries
and associated
companies
the US$3.8
year ended
31, 2016.of The
Company continues
to review
possible
exchange
loss of US$16.4
millioninand
millionDecember
value impairment
Available-For-Sale
securities
incurred
during the
acquisitioncurrent
targets,period
including
Jinfeng copper
Mine acquired
and the
decreased
price. by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such reviewGold
will result
in anyfrom
acquisition
production
the CSHtransactions.
Mine decreased by 9% to 185,052 ounces from 204,471 ounces for the same period in 2015.
Copper production from the Jiama Mine increased by 6% to 18,321 tonnes (approximately 40.4 million pounds) from 17,284
tonnes (approximately 38.1 million pounds) for the same period in 2015.
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MANAGEMENT'S
AND ANALYSIS
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Selected
Annual
Information*
CRITICAL
ACCOUNTING

ESTIMATES

Year
December
31 identified accounting
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the Directors
of ended
the Company
have
judgments
and key
significant effect
recognized
US$ Millions except
forsources
per shareof estimation uncertainty that have a2016
2015 on the amounts
2014
2013 in the audited
2012
annual consolidated financial statements.
332
303
278
340
Total revenue
339
76
73 of each reporting
39
Profitassumptions
from continuing
operationsthe future and other key sources of estimation
34
Key
concerning
uncertainty
at the end
period 99
that
have
a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
of assets and42liabilities within
74
57 the next twelve
Net (loss)
profit
(12) amounts (7)
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.
17.90
13.88
10.02
(2.07)
Basic (loss) earnings per share (cents)
(3.36)

CHANGE
IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
Diluted (loss) earnings
per share (cents)

N/A

(2.07)

17.90

13.88

10.02

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
1,806
2,219
3,013
2,781
Total assets
2,967
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
279
431
850
971
Total non-current liabilities
737

FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
Distribution or cash dividends
declared per AND
share OTHER INSTRUMENTS
-

-

-

-

-

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
*Prepared under IFRS

receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
on the balance sheet.

OUTLOOK

The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.
Projected gold production of 218,700 ounces in 2017.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

production
of approximately
79 million
pounds
in 2017. sheet arrangements.
As atProjected
Decembercopper
31, 2016,
the Company
had not entered
into any
off-balance
The Jiama Mine’s Phase II expansion consists of two series, with each series having a mining and mineral processing capacity

DIVIDEND
AND DIVIDEND POLICY
of 22,000 tpd. The Phase II series I construction is now complete. The commissioning started in December 2016. It is expected

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
that the output of series I will be ramped up to its full capacity to 22,000 tpd around the middle of 2017. With Phase II series I
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
put in production, the total nameplate capacity will be increased from the current 6,000 tpd to 28,000 tpd.
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
The Company will continue to leverage the technical and operating experience of the Company’s controlling shareholder,
China National Gold Group Corporation (“CNG”), to improve operations at its mines. In addition, the Company continues to
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
focus its efforts on increasing production while minimizing costs at both mines.
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
To fulfill its growth strategy, the Company is continually working with CNG and other interested parties to identify potential
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
international mining acquisition opportunities, namely projects outside of China, which can be readily and quickly brought
into production with the possibility of further expansion through continued exploration.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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MANAGEMENT'S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
RELATED
PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
Selected
Quarterly
Financial Data

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.
Quarter ended
Quarter ended
2016
2015
(US$ had
in thousands
except party
per share)
31-Dec
30-Sep companies
30-Jun related
31-Mar
30-Sep and
30-Jun
31-Mar
The Company
major related
transactions with
the following
by way31-Dec
of shareholders
shareholder
Revenues
93,552
109,560
69,904
65,585
78,967
99,948
83,647
77,387
in common:
Cost of sales
80,517
85,681
58,162
58,039
74,798 82,752
63,336
56,217
Mine operating earnings
13,035
23,879
11,742
7,546
4,169 17,196
20,311
21,170
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and
General and administrative expenses
5,127
5,902
5,361
5,049
6,483
5,330
5,988
6,028
sale of doré
with CNG
(the
“2008 Contract”)
Exploration
and
evaluation
expenses pursuant to
216which Inner
65 Mongolia
53 Pacific occasionally
46
157 sold gold
45 doré bars
62 to CNG
38
through toIncome
December
The pricing was based7,692
on the daily
price of gold
as quoted
on the 14,261
Shanghai15,104
Gold
(loss)31,
from2011.
operations
17,912average
6,328
2,451ingot (2,471)
11,821
gain (loss)
(9,154)on the
2,493
1,198
(8,606) prevailing
1,482 at (789)
Exchange Foreign
and theexchange
daily average
price of silver as quoted
Shanghai(5,980)
Huatong Platinum
&(5,623)
Silver Exchange
the
Finance
costs
4,264
3,793
4,063
4,453
(868)
7,181
6,570
8,524
time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
(Loss) profit before income tax
(2,703) 13,972
(8,198)
(2,986) (13,640)
692
13,742
10,813
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.
Income tax expense
6,431
6,276
5,563
500
4,836
5,850
3,173
4,575
Net (loss) profit
(9,134)
7,696
(7,401)
(3,486) (18,476) (5,158) 10,569
6,238
Revenue from
gold doré
CNG decreased
from US$233.8
for the year
December
31, 20152.54
to US$227.6
Basicsales
(loss)of
earnings
per bars
shareto(cents)
(2.32)
1.82 million
(1.95)
(0.91)ended(4.69)
(1.41)
1.49
Diluted
earnings
per share
N/A
1.82
(1.95)
(0.91)
(4.69)
(1.41)
2.54
1.49
million for the
year(loss)
ended
December
31, (cents)
2016.
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
produced
at the Jiama
Mine. The and
quantity
of copper
concentrates, Data
pricing terms
payment terms be established from time
Selected
Quarterly
Annual
Production
and and
Analysis

to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to
CSH Mine
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.
Three months ended
Year ended
December 31,
December 31,
For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of
2015
2016
2016
2015
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
233.80
227.58
64.92
60.92
Gold sales (US$ million)
In addition to the two aforementioned
major
related
party
transactions,
the
Company
also
obtains
additional
services
from
related
1,117
1,238
1,241
1,070
Realized average price1 (US$) of gold per ounce
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Gold
producedand
(ounces)
Pacific,
Huatailong
China Gold Finance.
Gold sold (ounces)

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

52,828

55,673

185,052

204,471

52,315

56,924

183,864

209,285

884
1,054
1,091
961
Total production cost2(US$) of gold per ounce
The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
764 and disposal 652
769did not have any
753material acquisition
production
cost2 (US$)
of goldand/or
per ounce
targetsCash
through
joint venture,
merger
outright acquisitions. The Group
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition
including
the Jinfeng
Mine
acquired
by CNG
September
2016.
However, there can be no assurances that
1 Nettargets,
of resource
compensation
fees that
is based
on revenue
andinpaid
to the PRC
government
such review
will result
in any
transactions.
2 Non-IFRS
measure.
Seeacquisition
'Non-IFRS measures’
section of this MD&A
Gold production at the CSH Mine decreased by 5% from 55,673 ounces for the three months ended December 31, 2015 to 52,828
ounces for the three months ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in gold production is mainly due to the lower grades of ores
mined during the current period.
The cash production cost, and total production cost of gold for the three months ended December 31, 2016 both increased
compared with the same period in 2015, which is mainly caused by the higher waste rock removal costs due to higher stripping
ratio during the current quarter.
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Jiama Mine

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Three months ended
Year ended
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies,December
the Directors
identified
31, of the Company haveDecember
31,accounting
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have
a significant effect
recognized in the
audited
2016
2015
2015 on the amounts
2016

annual consolidated financial statements.
Copper sales 1 (US$ in millions)

19.40

69.28

12.50

74.93

2
Keyaverage
assumptions
the future
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that
Realized
priceconcerning
(US$) of copper
perand
pound
1.99
1.65
1.81
1.55 within the next
after smelting
fee
discount
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
twelve

months
are described
ended December
31, 2016.
17,284
18,321
4,339 for the year
4,365 financial statements
Copper
produced
(tonnes) in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Copper produced (pounds)

9,622,602

9,564,819

40,391,851

38,104,950

A summary
of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations
in Note 2 of the 19,158
audited annual consolidated
17,859
4,708 are outlined3,533
Copper
sold (tonnes)
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
39,372,115
42,235,934
7,789,068
10,379,519
Copper sold (pounds)
5,531
6,133
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

Gold produced (ounces)

26,250

24,037

The Company
significant of which
accounts
24,531
27,322 investments,
4,654are available-for-sale
6,204
Gold sold
(ounces) holds a number of financial instruments, the most
receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
1,227,600
1,233,312
279,093
281,628
Silver produced (ounces)
on the balance sheet.
1,289,415
1,297,910
212,988
298,870
Silver sold (ounces)
The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

2.49

2.84

at December
2016,ofthe
Company
not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Total As
production
cost 331,
(US$)
copper
per had
pound
1.48
2.45
1.70
after by-products credits 5

1.99

Total production cost 3 (US$) of copper per pound

2.66

3.21

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

Cash production cost 4 (US$) per pound of
2.39
2.09
2.63
2.29
copper
The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
willcost
determine
future dividend
policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
4
Cash Directors
production
(US$) any
of copper
per pound
1.54
1.09
1.87
1.33
financial conditions,
after by-products
credits 5 operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
1 Net of
resource
fees thatBusiness
is based Corporations
on revenue andAct,
paidthe
to PRC
government
agency
Subject
to compensation
the British Columbia
Directors
may from
time to time declare and authorize payment of
2 a discount
factor
of
22.4-30.9%
is
applied
to
the
copper
bench
mark
price
to
compensate
the
costs
incurred
by the
buyers
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof andrefinery
the time
and
method
of payment
provided that

3 Production
costs date
include
incurred
at the mineshareholders
sites for the activities
to production
including
processing,
site the
the record
forexpenditures
the purpose
of determining
entitledrelated
to receive
payment
of the mining,
dividend
must notmine
precede
a G&Adate
and royalties
etc.
on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
4 Non-IFRS measure. See 'Non-IFRS measures’ section of this MD&A

5 By-products
creditmay
refers
the sales
of gold
and silver
during
the corresponding
A dividend
betopaid
wholly
or partly
by the
distribution
of cash, period.
specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures

or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
During the three months ended December 31, 2016, the Jiama Mine produced 4,364 tonnes (approximately 9.62 million pounds) of
Company insolvent.
copper in concentrate, an increase of 1% compared with the three months ended December 31, 2015 (4,339 tonnes, or 9.56 million

OUTSTANDING SHARES

pounds). The increase in production was mainly due to the higher volume of ore processed and the higher copper grade of ore
during the period.
As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
Both cash production cost and total production cost of copper per pound decreased, mainly because of the higher ore grade
mined and processed during the period.
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RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

Three months ended December 31, 2016 compared to three months ended December 31,2015

Revenuehad
of US$93.6
million party
for the
fourth quarter
increased
by US$14.6
million
or 18%,
from US$79.0
million
for the same
The Company
major related
transactions
with of
the2016
following
companies
related
by way
of shareholders
and
shareholder
period
in
2015.
in common:
Revenue
Mine wassubsidiary,
US$64.9 million,
an increase
of US$4.0
million,
to US$60.9
million
forpurchase
the sameand
period in
On October
24, from
2008,the
theCSH
Company’s
Inner Mongolia
Pacific
entered
into acompared
non-exclusive
contract
for the
by theContract”)
CSH Mine was
52,828toounces
(gold Mongolia
sold: 52,315),
compared
to 55,673
(gold
sold:
56,924) for
sale of2015.
doréGold
with produced
CNG (the “2008
pursuant
which Inner
Pacific
occasionally
sold ounces
gold doré
bars
to CNG
thetosame
period 31,
in 2015.
decreased
production
are attributed
loweringot
grades
of ore mined.
through
December
2011.CSH’s
The pricing
was based
on thevolumes
daily average
price oftogold
as quoted
on the Shanghai Gold

Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
from the
Jiama Mine
US$28.6
million, an
increase
of US$10.5
compared
to US$18.1
for for
theanother
same period
time ofRevenue
each relevant
purchase
orderwas
during
the contract
period.
On January
27,million,
2012, the
2008 Contract
was million
renewed

in 2015.
Total December
copper sold31,was
4,708
(10.38 million
pounds)
forfor
thethe
three
months
ended 1,December
31, 2016, an
of
three years
ending
2014
andtonnes
subsequently
on June
30, 2014
period
of January
2015 to December
31, increase
2017.
33% from 3,533 tonnes (7.8 million pounds) for the same period in 2015.
Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
of sales
of US$80.5
million for
quarter ended December 31, 2016, an increase of US$5.7 million or 8% from US$74.8 million
millionCost
for the
year ended
December
31,the
2016.

for the same period in 2015. The overall increase is primarily attributed to an increase of 59% in revenue at Jiama. Cost of sales as

a percentage
revenue for
the Company
decreased
from 95%
to 86% fortransaction
the three months
ended
Decemberamending
31, 2015 and
On May
29, 2015, theofCompany
entered
into a revised
continuing
connected
and major
transaction
the 2016,
respectively.
Product
and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time
operating
of US$13.0
million
for the
three months
ended December
31,set
2016
increase
of 210%,and
or US$8.8
to timeMine
by the
parties earnings
with reference
to the
pricing
principles
for connected
transactions
outan
under
the Product
Servicemillion,

from US$4.2
millionFor
for the
the year
sameended
periodDecember
in 2015. Mine
earnings
a percentage
of revenue increased
5% toto
14% for
Framework
Agreement.
31, operating
2016, revenue
from as
sales
of copper concentrate
and otherfrom
products
the US$59.8
three months
December
31, 2015
andfor
2016,
The2015.
increase in mine operating earnings as a percentage of
CNG was
million,ended
compared
to US$21.0
million
the respectively.
same period in
revenue can be attributed to a 10% increase in the realized average price of copper per pound and a 15% increase in the realized

priceDecember
of gold per31,
ounce
the three months
December
2016.
For theaverage
year ended
2016,for
construction
servicesended
of US$39.6
million31,
were
provided to the Company by subsidiaries of
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
General and administrative expenses decreased by US$1.4 million, from US$6.5 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2015
to US$5.1
million
for the quarter ended
31,transactions,
2016. The 22%
is consistent
with
the Company’s
of
In addition
to the
two aforementioned
major December
related party
thedecrease
Company
also obtains
additional
services implementation
from related
programs
during the
year. a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
partiescost
in itsreductions
normal course
of business,
including
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.
Income from operations of US$7.7 million for the fourth quarter of 2016, increased by US$10.2 million, compared to a loss of US$2.5
million for the same period in 2015.
PROPOSED
TRANSACTIONS

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
Finance costs of US$4.3 million for the three months ended December 31, 2016, increased by US$5.1 million compared to the same
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
period in 2015. During the three months ended December 31, 2016, interest payments of US$6.2 million (2015: US$5.2 million) were
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
capitalized for borrowing costs related to the Jiama Mine expansion.
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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Foreign
lossofincreased
US$9.2
million foraccounting
the three months
ended
2016
from US$5.6
million
for the accounting
same
In exchange
the process
applyingtothe
Company’s
policies,
the December
Directors of31,the
Company
have
identified
periodjudgments
in 2015. The
increase
is related
to the revaluation
of monetary
held in Chinese
was based
on changes
in
and
key sources
of estimation
uncertainty
that haveitems
a significant
effect RMB,
on thewhich
amounts
recognized
in the audited
the RMB/USD
exchange rates.
annual consolidated
financial statements.

Interest
other income
of US$3.0the
million
forand
the other
three key
months
ended
Decemberuncertainty
31, 2016 increased
from
expense
of US$1.7
Keyand
assumptions
concerning
future
sources
of estimation
at the end
of an
each
reporting
period that
millionhave
for the
same
period
in
2015,
due
to
higher
income
earned
on
term
deposits
and
related
party
loans.
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Income tax expense of US$6.4 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2016, increased by US$1.6 million from US$4.8 million for

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

the comparative period in 2015. During the current quarter, the Company had US$2.1 million of deferred tax expense compared
to US$1.7
million inof2015.
A summary
new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
Net loss of the Company decreased by US$9.4 million from US$18.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2015 to US$9.1
million for the three months ended December 31, 2016.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts

Year ended December 31, 2016 compared to Year ended December 31, 2015

receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
Revenue of US$338.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, decreased by US$1.3 million or 0.4%, from US$339.9 million for
on the balance sheet.
the same period in 2015.
The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.
Revenue from the CSH Mine was US$227.6 million (2015: US$233.8 million), a decrease of US$6.2 million due to a 12% decrease in
gold sales volume. Gold produced by the CSH Mine was 185,052 ounces (gold sold: 183,864), compared to 204,471 ounces (gold

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

sold: 209,285 ounces) for the same period in 2015. CSH’s decreased production volumes are attributed to lower grades of ore
As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.
mined.

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

Revenue from the Jiama Mine was US$111.0 million compared to US$106.2 million for the same period in 2015. Total copper sold
The Company
has million
not paid
any dividends
since
incorporation
and
have
fixed
dividend
policy.
Board of
was 19,158
tonnes (42.2
pounds)
for the year
ended
December
31,does
2016,not
an currently
increase of
7% afrom
17,859
tonnes
(39.4 The
million
Directors
determine
future
on the
basis of, among
others
things,
the results of operations, cash flows and
pounds)
for thewill
same
period inany
2015.
The dividend
increase policy
in revenue
is attributed
to higher
copper
production.
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada
Hong million
Kong and
at both
TSX and
HKSE, and
the amount
of distributable
profitsorand
otherUS$277.1
relevantmillion
factors.for
Cost of
sales ofand
US$282.4
for the
year the
ended
December
31, 2016,
increased
by US$5.3 million
2% from
the same period in 2015. The overall increase is primarily attributed to lower production volume at CSH in addition to lower grades
to the 2016.
BritishCost
Columbia
Corporations
Act, thefor
Directors
may from
time tototime
payment of
of oreSubject
mined during
of salesBusiness
as a percentage
of revenue
the Company
increased
83%declare
from 82%and
for authorize
the year ended
such dividends
as they may
deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
December
31, 2016 compared
to 2015.
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.

46

61

9

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS
MANAGEMENT'S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Mine operating earnings of US$56.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased by 11%, or US$6.6 million, from US$62.8
CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.
million in 2015. Mine operating earnings as a percentage of revenue decreased from 18% to 17% for the year ended December
31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The decrease in mine operating earnings as a percentage of revenue can be attributed to a 22%
The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
decrease in the realized average price of copper per pound after smelting fee discount.
in common:
General and administrative expenses decreased by US$2.4 million, from US$23.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and
US$21.4 million in 2015. The decrease is due to the Company’s implementation of cost reduction programs and continuous efforts
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG
in monitoring spending.
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold
Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
Income from operations for the year ended December 31, 2016 of US$34.4 million, decreased by US$4.3 million from US$38.7 million
time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
for the same period in 2015.
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.
Finance costs of US$16.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased by US$4.8 million, from US$21.4 million for the
Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
same period in 2015. The decrease in the 2016 period is attributed to lower interest rates held on Jiama’s project loans. During the
million for the year ended December 31, 2016.
year ended December 31, 2016, US$24.8 million (2015: US$23.9 million) of interest payments were capitalized for borrowing costs
related to the Jiama Mine expansion.
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
Foreign exchange loss increased to US$16.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 from US$13.5 million for the same period
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time
in 2015. The 2016 loss is related to the revaluation of monetary items held in Chinese RMB, which was based on changes in the RMB/
to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
USD exchange rates.
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.
Interest and other income of US$8.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased from US$12.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2015, due to decreased interest income earned on term deposits and related party loans.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
Loss on Available for sale investment of US$3.8 million was recognized in relation to the equity securities investment listed in Hong
Kong during the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to US$4.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. The loss was
In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related
recorded due to an overall 25% decline in the share price of the investment security since the purchase date.
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.
Income tax expense of US$18.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, increased by 2%, from US$18.4 million in 2015. During
the current year, the Company had US$740,000 of deferred income tax expense compared to US$6.7 million in 2015, the change is

PROPOSED
attributed toTRANSACTIONS
the depreciation of the RMB.

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
targetsNet
through
venture, merger
and/or
outrightmillion
acquisitions.
The Group
not year
haveended
any material
acquisition
disposalmillion
loss ofjoint
the Company
increased
by US$5.5
from US$6.8
million did
for the
December
31, 2015and
to US$12.3
of subsidiaries
and
associated
companies
in
the
year
ended
December
31,
2016.
The
Company
continues
to
review
possible
for the year ended December 31, 2016.
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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CRITICAL
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
NON-IFRS
MEASURES

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting

judgments
and
key sources
of unit
estimation
uncertainty
have
a significant
the for
audited
The following
table
provides
certain
cost information
on that
a cost
of production
pereffect
tonneon
of the
ore amounts
processedrecognized
(non-IFRS) in
basis
annual
financial
the CSH
Mineconsolidated
and the Jiama
Mine forstatements.
the three months and the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:
Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertaintyCSH
at the
end of each reporting period that
Mine
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
YearDecember
ended
Threefinancial
months ended
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated
statements for the year ended
31, 2016.
December 31,
December 31,

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2016

2015

2016

2015

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations
in Note 2 of the audited
annual consolidated
US$
US$
US$ are outlined US$
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
1.41
1.37
1.33
1.18
Cost of mining per tonne of ore
2.43
2.08
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

Cost of mining waste per tonne of ore

2.76

2.81

Company
of financial instruments, the most
investments,0.31
accounts
0.28
0.36 are available-for-sale
0.05significant of which
Other The
mining
costs perholds
tonneaofnumber
ore
receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
4.53
4.41
4.12
3.31
Total mining costs per tonne of ore
on the balance sheet.
The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.
1.06
1.39
1.45
Cost of reagents per tonne of ore

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

1.00

0.88

1.06

As at December
2016,
the Company had not entered into any
2.70 arrangements. 1.94
2.61 off-balance sheet
Total processing
cost per31,
tonne
of ore

2.06

Other processing costs per tonne of ore

1.16

1.31

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The cash cost of production is a measure that is not in accordance with IFRS.
The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
The Company has included cash production cost per ounce gold data to supplement its consolidated financial statements,
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
which are presented in accordance with IFRS. Non-IFRS measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed under IFRS,
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
and therefore they may not be comparable to similar measures employed by other companies. The data is intended to provide
additional information and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance, operating results or
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
financial condition prepared in accordance with IFRS. The Company has included cash production cost per ounce data because
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
it understands that certain investors use this information to determine the Company’s ability to generate earnings and cash flow.
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
The measure is not necessarily indicative of operating results, cash flow from operations, or financial condition as determined under
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
IFRS. Cash production costs are determined in accordance with the Gold Institute’s Production Cost Standard.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of cost of sales to the cash costs of production in total dollars and in dollars per gold

RELATED
PARTY
ounce for
the CSH TRANSACTIONS
Mine or per copper tonne for the Jiama Mine:

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.
The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
CSH Mine （Gold）
in common:
Three months ended December 31,
Year ended December 31,
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and
2016
2015
2016
2015
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$ Per
US$ Gold
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing wasUS$based
the daily average
price
of gold ingotUS$
as quoted
on the Shanghai
Per ounce
Per on
ounce
Per ounce
ounce
Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
185,052,316
Total production costs
193,797,572
57,066,133
1,054
1,091
884
54,715,003
961
time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
(48,516,309)
Adjustments
three years
ending December 31, 2014 and
subsequently (322)
on June(11,866,275)
30, 2014 for the period
January 1, 2015(290)
to December
31, 2017. (232)
(16,841,000)
(164) of(53,364,836)
Total cash production costs
136,536,007
140,432,736
40,225,133
764
769
652
42,848,728
Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8
million for 798
the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Jiama Mine (Copper with by-products credits)
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
Product and Service Framework Agreement with
CNG.
According
to the amendments,
CNG purchases
the copper
concentrates
Year ended
December
31,
Three
months
ended December
31,
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time
2016
2015 transactions set out
2016 principles for connected
to time by the parties with reference to the pricing
under the Product and2015
Service
US$
US$
US$
US$
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December
31, 2016, revenue
sales of copper concentrate
and other products
US$ Perto
US$ Per Pound
US$ Per Pound
US$from
Pound
Per Pound
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.
111,798,518
105,122,287
27,577,076
25,024,225
Total production costs
2.66
2.49
2.84
3.21
For theAdjustments
year ended December 31, 2016, construction
services
to the Company
subsidiaries of (0.45)
(17,632,209)
(16,734,029)
(3,802,514)
(4,552,512)million were
(0.37) of US$39.6
(0.40) by
(0.58) provided
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
94,166,309
88,388,258
23,774,562
20,471,712
Total cash production costs
2.29
2.09
2.39
2.63
(33,563,675)
(9,946,546)
(5,912,193)
By-products
credits
In addition
to the two
aforementioned major
related party
transactions,
the Company
obtains additional
from related (0.85)
(0.96)
(1.01)services
(0.76) also(42,553,463)
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Total cash production costs
60,602,634
45,834,795
13,828,016
14,559,520
1.33
Pacific,
Huatailong
and credits
China Gold Finance.
1.09
1.54
1.87
after
by-products

PROPOSED
TRANSACTIONS
The adjustments
above include depreciation and depletion, amortization of intangible assets, and selling expenses
included
in total
costs. approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
The Board
of Directors
hasproduction
given the Company

targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
MINERAL PROPERTIES
CRITICAL
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The CSH
Mine

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
The CSH Mine is located in Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region of China (Inner Mongolia). The property hosts two low-grade, near
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
surface gold deposits, along with other mineralized prospects. The main deposit is called the Northeast Zone (the “Northeast
annual consolidated financial statements.
Zone”), while the second, smaller deposit is called the Southwest Zone (the “Southwest Zone”).
Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that
The CSH Mine is owned and operated by Inner Mongolia Pacific Mining Co. Limited, a Chinese Joint Venture in which China Gold
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
International holds a 96.5% interest and Ningxia Nuclear Industry Geological Exploration Institution (formerly known as Brigade 217)
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.
holds the remaining 3.5%.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The CSH Mine has two open-pit mining operations and has a mining and processing capacity of 60,000 tpd.
A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
The capital expenditure incurred in the CSH Mine for the year ended December 31, 2016 was US$83.0 million.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

Major new contracts entered into during the year ended December 31, 2016 are as follows.
The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded
at either
fair values or amortized amount
Contract
period
Subject amount (effective day and
Item Contract Name
Date of
Counterpart
on the balance sheet.
(US $ millions) expiration date)
No.
Contract
1

The
Company
did not have anyInner
financial
derivatives
outstandingUnit
hedging
contracts2016.5.11-2017.6.11
as at December 31, 2016.
Liquid
Sodium Cyanide
Mongolia
ChengxinorYongan
price contract
2016.5.11
Purchase contract
Chemical Co., Ltd.
Estimated amount: 14

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
2

As
at December
31, 2016, the Company
notAnentered
into any Unit
off-balance
sheet arrangements.
2016.1.1-2016.12.30
Mixed
Explosive Purchase
Bayannuurhad
Sheng
Chemical
price contract
contract
Co., Ltd.
Estimated amount:
12.5

2016.1.1

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both

Production Update

Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.

CSH Mine

Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors
may ended
from time to time declare and
Three months
Yearauthorize
ended payment of
December
31, the time and method of
December
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount
thereof and
payment31,provided that
2015
2016
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders 2016
entitled to receive2015
payment of the dividend
must not precede
the
dateand
on which
is to be paid by more than two
months.
5,005,467
Ore mined
placedthe
on dividend
pad (tonnes)

4,719,942

22,275,694

21,144,471

0.49
0.51
Average ore grade (g/t)
0.49 or of bonds, 0.55
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares
debentures
or othergold
securities
of the Company, or in any one or more of 46,868
those ways. No dividend
46,883 may be declared
Recoverable
(ounces)
219,128or assets
209,616 or paid in money
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
181,720
176,037
Ending ore inventory (ounces)
176,037
181,720
Company insolvent.
26,175,092
16,124,486
Waste rock mined (tonnes)
96,310,335
92,691,570

OUTSTANDING SHARES

of December
31, 2016
the Company
had
396,413,753
common
outstanding.
For theAsthree
months ended
December
31, 2016,
the
total amount
of ore shares
placedissued
on theand
leach
pad was 5.0 million tonnes, with total
contained gold of 46,868 ounces (1,458 kilograms). The accumulative project-to-date gold recovery rate has slightly increased
from approximately 51.71% at the end of September 2016 to 52.07% at the end of December 2016.
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MANAGEMENT'S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Exploration
The Company continues to conduct surface reconnaissance and exploration for expansion opportunities around the CSH Mine.
RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Eight holes with a cumulative 7,211 meters have been drilled in 2015 and 2016.
CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

Mineral Reserves Update

The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:
CSH Mine Reserves by category, Northeast and Southwest pits combined at December 31, 2016 under NI 43-101:
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contractMetal
for the purchase and
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG
Type
Quantity
g/t of gold ingot as quoted
Auon
t the Shanghai GoldAu Moz
through
to December 31, 2011. The pricing was
basedMt
on the daily average Au
price
Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
Measured
26.72
0.67
17.94
0.58
time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
three years
ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently
period of January 1, 2015
to December 31, 2017. 2.68
Indicated
136.59 on June 30, 2014 for the
0.61
83.35
M+I
163.31
0.62
102.29
3.26
Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2016.
On May
29, 2015,
the Company
Mineral
Resource
Updateentered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the

Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
produced
theResources
Jiama Mine.
The quantity
of copper
terms
payment
be established
CSHat
Mine
by category,
Northeast
andconcentrates,
Southwest pitspricing
combined
atand
December
31,terms
2016 under
NI 43-101:from time
to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.

Metal

Quantity services
Mt
Au g/t
Au t
Au Moz
For theType
year ended December 31, 2016, construction
of US$39.6 million
were provided to the Company
by subsidiaries of
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
Proven
25.87

0.68

17.59

0.57

Probable
0.64 also obtains additional
59.34services from related 1.91
In addition
to the two aforementioned major related93.32
party transactions, the Company
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Total
119.20
0.65
76.93
2.47
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition

Jiama
Mine
targetsThe
through
joint
venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
The Company
acquired the
Jiama Mine
December
1, 2010. Jiama
is a large
polymetallic
deposit
containing
of subsidiaries
and associated
companies
in theonyear
ended December
31, 2016.
The copper-gold
Company continues
to review
possible

copper,
gold, including
silver, molybdenum,
other
metalsby
located
Gandise2016.
metallogenic
belt
in Tibet
Regionthat
of China.
acquisition
targets,
the Jinfengand
Mine
acquired
CNG in the
September
However,
there
canAutonomous
be no assurances
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
The Jiama Mine has both underground mining and open-pit mining operations. Phase I of the Jiama Mine commenced mining
operations in the latter half of 2010 and reached its design capacity of 6,000 tpd in early 2011.
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DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Phase II Expansion
The Jiama Expansion Program

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
The Jiama Mine’s Phase II expansion consists of two series, with each series having a mining and mineral processing capacity of
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
22,000 tpd. The Phase II series I construction is now complete. The commissioning started in December 2016. It is expected that
annual consolidated financial statements.
the output of Series I will be ramped up to its full capacity around the middle of 2017. With Phase II series I in production, the total
nameplate capacity will be increased from the current 6,000 tpd to 28,000 tpd. Given the recent global economic volatility and
Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that
uncertainty and their potential impact on commodity prices and market conditions, the Company will complete construction of
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
Phase II but slow down the mining projects construction, commissioning of the series II facility while it re-optimizes the mining plan
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.
and production schedules.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The capital expenditure incurred for the Jiama Mine expansion for the year ended December 31, 2016 was US$143.7 million.
A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
Major new contracts entered into during the year ended December 31, 2016 are as follows:

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

period
The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which Contract
are available-for-sale
investments, accounts
Item Contact Name
Subject amount (effective day and
Date of
Counterpart
receivable,
accounts
payable,
cash
and
loans.
The
financial
instruments
are
recorded
at
either
fair
values
or amortized amount
No.
(US $ millions) expiration date)
Contract
on the balance sheet.
17.2 2015.12.1-2018.11.30
1
2016.2.14
Jiama Copper Polymetallic Color Twelve Metallurgical
Construction Co.,Ltd.
Mine Hornfel Open-pit
The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.
Mining and Stripping Project
Contract
2

OFF-BALANCE
ARRANGEMENTS
Jiama Mine 4-12 Shaft SHEET
UG
Jiangxi
Weile Construction

3

DIVIDEND
AND DIVIDEND
POLICY
Jiama Mine 4490 Ramp
In color twelve Metallurgical

48.3 2016.3.1-2019.2.28
AsMining
at December
31, 2016, the Company
had
not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Project (2000t/d)
Group Co.,
Ltd.
Contract

2016.3.1

28.9 2016.3.1-2019.2.28
2016.3.1
The
Company has
not paid anyConstruction
dividends since
and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Underground
Mining
Co., incorporation
Ltd.
Directors
determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
(1500t/d)will
Contract
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both

4

5

6

7

Canada
and Copper
Hong Kong
both
the TSX
and HKSE, Co.,
and the amount of distributable
profits and other relevant
factors.
Jiama Mine
Mt. and atThe
Second
Engineering
21 2016.3.1-2019.2.28
2016.3.1
Underground Mining
Ltd of China Railway 17 Bureau
(1000t/d) Contract
Group Corporation
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
Zhejiang Huaye Mine Group
68.5 2016.3.1-2019.2.28
2016.3.1
Jiama Mine 4-12 Shaft UG
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
Mining Project(4000t/d) and Co.,Ltd.
date
which the dividend
ShaftonRepairment
Project is to be paid by more than two months.
Contract
AJiama
dividend
may Polymetallic
be paid whollyFeiyi
or partly
of fully paid shares or of
bonds, debentures
Co., by
Ltd.the distribution of cash, specific assets
7.2 or2016.4.26-2016.10.31
2016.4.25
Copper
Mine
Filling
System
Zhongtai
Construction
Group
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
Equipment & pipelines
Co.,
if Purchase
there areand
reasonable
grounds
forLtd.
believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Installment
Company
insolvent.
Project Contract
Jiama Copper Polymetallic

Zhejiang Huaye Mine Group

Co.,Ltd.
Mine Phase II UG Stope
OUTSTANDING
SHARES

194

2016.3.1-2026.2.28

2016.4.25

Mining(Section III) Project
As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
Contract
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Production Update

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016
Jiamaand
MineDecember 31, 2015.
Three months ended
Year ended
The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies
related31,
by way of shareholders and
shareholder
December
December
31,
in common:

2016

2015

2015

2016

On October
24, 2008,
the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered
for the purchase and
2,317,522
390,152 into a non-exclusive
525,174 contract2,132,483
Ore mined
(tonnes)
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG
Waste mined (tonnes)
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold
Average
oreaverage
grade (%)
Exchange
and copper
the daily
price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai0.94
Huatong Platinum0.81
& Silver Exchange0.85
prevailing at the 0.79
time ofCopper
each relevant
Contract was renewed
91 for another
recoverypurchase
rate (%) order during the contract period. On January9227, 2012, the 2008 91

92
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.
0.46
0.48
0.56
0.46
Average gold ore grade (g/t)
Revenue
from
sales of
gold
71 to US$227.6 68
71 for the year ended
69 December 31, 2015
Gold
recovery
rate
(%) doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million
million for the year ended December 31, 2016.
21.62
23.95
24.92
19.91
Average silver ore grade (g/t)
On May
29,recovery
2015, the
Company
entered into a revised continuing connected
68 transaction and68major transaction67amending the
Silver
rate
(%)

68

Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time

Exploration

to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to
The Company plans peripheral prospecting and mineral exploration work in 2016, and have planning of 12 drilling holes; nine
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.
holes are completed and the drilling work was suspend due to the winter. The rest of fieldwork exploration will be continued in
2017.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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Mineral
ResourcesACCOUNTING
Estimate
CRITICAL

ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
An NI judgments
43-101 compliant
estimate
was independently
Mining
Pty Ltd. inrecognized
Novemberin2013,
and keymineral
sourcesresource
of estimation
uncertainty
that have acompleted
significantby
effect
on One
the amounts
the audited
basedannual
on information
collected
up to
November 12, 2012. The drilling programs subsequent to November 2012, including an
consolidated
financial
statements.
extensive drill program conducted in 2013, will be included in future updates of the Mineral Resources and Reserves.

MiningKey
One
Pty Ltd. noted
that goldthe
andfuture
silver and
mineralization
theofore
body had
a significantly
higher
assumptions
concerning
other key within
sources
estimation
uncertainty
at the
end spatial
of eachvariability
reportingthan
period that
the other
elements.
This
classification
takes
into
account
the
proposed
large
scale
mining
techniques
where
Au
and
Ag
will
only
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
be credits
to the
products
Mining
One Pty Ltdfinancial
has assumed
that Au
willended
not beDecember
assigned 31,
a 2016.
months
are overall
described
in Notefrom
4 ofthe
theoperations.
audited annual
consolidated
statements
forand
the Ag
year
single cut-off grade for a selected mining block and will be mined in conjunction with the other elements.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
financial statements asJiama
at December
31,Mo,
2016.
Project - Cu,
Pb, Zn ,Au, and Ag Mineral Resources under NI 43-101
Reported at a 0.3% Cu Equivalent Cut off grade*, as of December 31, 2016

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
Cu

Mo
Pb
Zn
The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
Quantity
Metal Metal Metal Metal
Au
Ag
receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
Class
Mt
Cu %
Mo %
Pb %
Zn % Au g/t Au g/t
(kt)
(kt)
(kt)
(kt)
Moz
Moz
on the balance
Measured
96.6 sheet.
0.40
0.04
0.04
0.02
0.09
5.71
384
35
43
23
0.268
17.729
Indicated
1,382.7
0.41
0.03
0.05
0.03
0.11
6.08 5,695
467
751
470
4.947
270.472
M+I The Company
1,479.4did not
0..41
0.03financial
0.05derivatives
0.03 or outstanding
0.11
6.06hedging
6,079contracts
502 as at
794December
493 31, 2016.
5.215
288.201
have any
Inferred
406.1
0.31
0.03
0.08
0.04
0.10
5.13 1,247
123
311
175
1.317
66.926

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Note: As at
Figures
reported31,
are2016,
rounded
which may result
in small
tabulation
errors.
December
the Company
had not
entered
into any
off-balance sheet arrangements.
The Copper Equivalent basis for the reporting of resources has been compiled on the following basis:

DIVIDEND
AND DIVIDEND POLICY
Price + Zn Grade * Zn Price + Mo Grade * Mo Price) / Copper Price
CuEq Resources:

= (Ag Grade * Ag Price + Au Grade * Au Price + Cu Grade * Cu Price + Pb Grade * Pb

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED
MineralPARTY
ReservesTRANSACTIONS
Estimate

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.
A Mineral Reserve estimate, dated November 20, 2013, has been independently verified by Mining One Pty Ltd. in accordance
The Company
related
party transactions
with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
with the had
CIM major
Definitions
Standards
under NI 43-101.
in common:

Jiama Project Statement of NI 43-101 Mineral Reserve Estimate as of December 31, 2016
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and
Cu
Mo
Pb
Zn
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG
Quantity
Metal Metal Metal Metal
Au
Ag
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold
Class
Mt
Cu %
Mo %
Pb %
Zn % Au g/t Au g/t
(kt)
(kt)
(kt)
(kt)
Moz
Moz
Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
Proven
21.4
0.61
0.05
0.05
0.03
0.21
9.35
131
10
11
7
0.148
6.431
time ofProbable
each relevant purchase
order
period.
January11.42
27, 2012,
the 2008132
Contract
for
another
412.8
0.61 during
0.03the contract
0.13
0.08 On 0.18
2,520
549was renewed
318
2.451
151.583
P+P ending December
434.2
0.61
0.03subsequently
0.13 on0.07
2,651of January
142 1, 2015
561 to December
325
2.599
158.014
three years
31,
2014 and
June 30,0.19
2014 for11.32
the period
31, 2017.
RevenueNote:
from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

1. All Mineral Reserves have been estimated in accordance with the JORC code and have been reconciled to CIM

standards as prescribed by the NI 43-101.
On May 29,
2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the

Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
2. Mineral Reserves were estimated using the following mining and economic factors:
produced
at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time

Pits:
to time byOpen
the parties
with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
5% dilution factor and 95% recovery were applied to the mining method;
Frameworka)Agreement.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to
b) overall slope angles of 43 degrees;
CNG was US$59.8
million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.
c) a copper price of US$2.9/lbs;

d) an overall processing recovery of 88 – 90% for copper
For the year
ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of
Underground:
CNG (US$140.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
a) 10% dilution added to all Sub-Level Open Stoping;

Stope recovery is 87% for Sub-Level Open Stoping;
In additionb)to the
two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related

c) An overall processing recovery of 88 – 90% for copper.
parties in its
normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia

Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

3. The cut-off grade for Mineral Reserves has been estimated at copper equivalent grades of 0.3% Cu (NSR) for the

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

open pits and 0.45% Cu (NSR) for the underground mine.

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The Company operates in a capital intensive industry. The Company’s liquidity requirements arise principally from the need for
financing the expansion of its mining and processing operations, exploration activities and acquisition of exploration and mining
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
rights. The Company’s principal sources of funds have been proceeds from borrowing from commercial banks in China, equity
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
financings, and cash generated from operations. The Company’s liquidity primarily depends on its ability to generate cash flow
annual consolidated financial statements.
from its operations and to obtain external financing to meet its debt obligations as they become due, as well as the Company’s
future operating and capital expenditure requirements.
Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
At December 31, 2016, the Company had an accumulated surplus of US$172.2 million, working deficit of US$338.7 million and
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.
borrowings of US$1,154.8 million. The Company’s cash balance at December 31, 2016 was US$59.9 million.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Management believes that its forecast operating cash flows are sufficient to cover the next twelve months of the Company’s
A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
operations including its planned capital expenditures and current debt repayments. The Company’s borrowings are comprised
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
of US$506.9 million of 3.5% unsecured bonds maturing on July 17, 2017 and US$89.4 million of short term debt facilities with interest
rates ranging from 2.35% to 4.35% per annum arranged through various banks in China. In addition, on November 3, 2015, the

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

Company entered into a Loan Facility agreement with a syndicate of banks, led by Bank of China. The lenders agreed to lend
Companyprinciple
holds a amount
number of
of financial
the most significant
of which
investments,
accounts
to theThe
aggregate
RMB 3.98 instruments,
billion, approximately
US$613 million
withare
theavailable-for-sale
interest rate of 2.83%
per annum

receivable,
accounts
cash and
loans.
The financial
instruments
are
recorded atfor
either
fair values
or amortized
amount
currently.
The People’s
Bank payable,
of China Lhasa
Center
Branch’s
interest rate
serves as
a benchmark
the interest
on the
drawdowns.
on theinterest
balance
sheet.
The bank’s
rate
is then discounted by 7 basis points (or 0.07%) to calculate the interest on the drawdowns. The proceeds
from the Loan Facility are to be used for the development of the Jiama Mine. The loan is secured by the mining rights for the
Company
did not have
any financial
derivatives
or outstanding
hedging
as at US$415.9
December
31, 2016.
JiamaThe
Mine.
As of December
31, 2016,
the Company
has drawdown
RMB2.89
billion, contracts
approximately
million
under the Loan
Facility. The Company believes that the availability of debt financing in China at favorable rates will continue for the foreseeable

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

future. The Company is currently assessing various strategic alternatives for the repayment of its 3.5% unsecured bonds maturing
As17,
at 2017.
December
31, 2016, the
had not
entered
intoorany
off-balance
sheet
arrangements.
on July
The Company
mayCompany
pursue a new
bond
issuance
access
other debt
financing
opportunities.

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

Given the challenging market conditions in the global mining industry, the Company continues to rigorously test its assets for
impairment
as part of
financial
reporting
processes.
To date, the
testing
bydividend
the Company
The Company
hasitsnot
paid any
dividends
since incorporation
and
does procedures
not currentlycarried
have aout
fixed
policy.support
The Board of
the carrying
values
of
the
Company’s
assets,
and
no
impairment
has
been
required.
However,
management
of
the
Company,
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
together
with itsconditions,
auditors, continues
evaluate
test key assumptions
on estimates and
management
judgmentsdividends
in order to
financial
operatingtoand
capitaland
requirements,
the rules promulgated
by the
regulators affecting
in both
determine
the
fair
value
less
cost
of
disposal
of
the
CSH
Mine
and
the
Jiama
Mine.
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.

CashSubject
flows to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of

The following
table sets
selected
cashadvisable,
flow data from
the Company’s
consolidated
interim
cashofflow
statements
for that
such dividends
asout
they
may deem
including
the amountcondensed
thereof and
the time and
method
payment
provided
the year
ended
December
31,
2016
and
December
31,
2015.
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
Year ended December 31,
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
2015or assets
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend2016
may be declared or paid in money
US$’000
US$’000
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company
insolvent.
79,330
Net cash
from operating
activities
(355,506)
Net cash used in investing activities
225,808
Net cash from (used in) financing activities
(50,368)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
(2,101)
Effect of
foreign
exchange
rate
changes
on
cash
and
cash
equivalents
As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and
outstanding.
112,399
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

OUTSTANDING SHARES

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

56

59,930

66,867
(298,672)
(219,036)
(450,841)
(2,338)
565,578
112,399
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RELATED
PARTY
Operating
cash TRANSACTIONS
flow

CNG owned
39.3 percent
of the outstanding
common
shares
offrom
the Company
at December
31, 2016
andwhich
December
31, 2015.
For the year
ended December
31, 2016, the
net cash
inflow
operating as
activities
was US$79.3
million
is primarily
attributable
to (i) depreciation and depletion of US$77.7 million (ii) increase in accounts and other payables and accrued expenses of US$19.4
The Company
had(iii)
major
related
party
transactions
with
the following
companies
related
by US$38.4
way of shareholders
and shareholder
million, and
finance
cost
of US$16.6
million,
partially
offset by
(i) interest
paid of
million; (ii) increase
in inventory of
in common:
US$30.6 million and (iii) income taxes paid of US$17.5 million.
On October
24, 2008,
Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and
Investing
cashtheflow

sale ofFor
doré
(theDecember
“2008 Contract”)
pursuant
which
Inner Mongolia
Pacific
occasionally
sold goldmillion,
doré bars
to CNG
thewith
yearCNG
ended
31, 2016,
the nettocash
outflow
from investing
activities
was US$355.5
which
is primarily
through
to December
2011. The
was based
on the daily
average
price of gold
ingot asmillion
quoted
thetoShanghai
attributable
to (i)31,
payment
for pricing
the acquisition
of property,
plant
and equipment
of US$194.3
(ii)on
loan
a relatedGold
company
Exchange
and themillion
daily and
average
price of silver
as quotedcash
on the
Shanghai
Platinum
Silver Exchange
the
of US$150.0
(iii) placement
of restricted
bank
balanceHuatong
of US$33.7
million,&partially
offset by prevailing
a release at
of restricted
time ofbank
eachbalance
relevantofpurchase
order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
US$20.7 million.
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

Financing cash flow

Revenue
fromyear
salesended
of gold
doré bars31,
to 2016,
CNG decreased
US$233.8
million foractivities
the yearwas
ended
December
31,which
2015 istoprimarily
US$227.6due to
For the
December
the net cashfrom
inflow
from financing
US$225.8
million,
millionproceeds
for the year
ended
2016.
from
bank December
borrowings 31,
of US$411.7
million partially offset by repayments of borrowings of US$185.6 million.
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the

Expenditures Incurred

Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company incurred mining costs of US$82.4 million, processing costs of US$113.5 million,
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time
transportation costs of US$5.1 million and resource compensation fee, which was paid to the PRC government, of US$2.4 million.
to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to

Gearing ratio

CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.
Gearing ratio is defined as the ratio of consolidated total debt to consolidated total equity. As at December 31, 2016, the Company’s
total debt was US$1,155 million and the total equity was US$1,420 million. The Company’s gearing ratio was therefore 0.81 as at
For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of
December 31, 2016 and 0.66 as at December 31, 2015.
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related

Restrictive covenants

parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
The Company is subject to various customary conditions and covenants under the terms of its financing agreements.
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.
Under a Loan Facility agreement entered on November 3, 2015 between the Company and a syndicated of banks, led by Bank of

PROPOSED
TRANSACTIONS
China pursuant to which the banks agreed to lend to Tibet Huatailong, the Company’s subsidiary, the aggregate principle amount
The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
of RMB 3.98 billion (approximately US$613 million), the debt to assets ratio of Huatailong should be less than 75% during the term of
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
the agreement.
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
In the process ofINVESTMENTS,
applying the Company’s
accounting policies, AND
the Directors
of the Company
identified accounting
SIGNIFICANT
ACQUISITIONS
DISPOSAL
OF have
SUBSIDIARIES.
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
ASSOCIATES
AND JOINT VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
annual consolidated financial statements.
OF CAPITAL ASSETS

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this MD&A or in the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended
Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that
December 31, 2016, there were no significant investments held by the Company, nor were there any material acquisitions or
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year ended December 31, 2016. Other than as disclosed in this
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.
MD&A, there was no plan authorized by the Board for other material investments or additions of capital assets at the date of this
MD&A.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated

CHARGE
ASSETS
financial ON
statements
as at December 31, 2016.

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this MD&A, none of the Group’s assets were pledged as at December 31, 2016.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
EXPOSURE
TOholds
FLUCTUATIONS
INinstruments,
EXCHANGE
RELATED
HEDGESinvestments, accounts
The Company
a number of financial
the mostRATES
significantAND
of which
are available-for-sale

The Company
is exposed
the financial
to the
fluctuation
of foreign
exchangeatrates
forfair
thevalues
monetary
assets and
receivable,
accountstopayable,
cash risk
andrelated
loans. The
financial
instruments
are recorded
either
or amortized
amount
liabilities
denominated
in
the
currencies
other
than
the
functional
currencies
to
which
they
relate.
The
Company
has
not
hedged
on the balance sheet.
its exposure to currency fluctuation. However, the Management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant
foreign currency
thederivatives
need arise.
Refer to Note
30, Financial
Instruments,
in the annual
consolidated
The Company
did not exposure
have any should
financial
or outstanding
hedging
contracts
as at December
31, 2016.
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
COMMITMENTS
CONTINGENCIES
As at December 31,AND
2016, the
Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Commitments and contingencies include principal payments on the Company’s bank loans and syndicated loan facility, material
future aggregate minimum operating lease payments required under operating leases and capital commitments in respect of the

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

future acquisition of property, plant and equipment and construction for both the CSH Mine and the Jiama Mine.
The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
The Company has leased certain properties in China and Canada, which are all under operating lease arrangements and are
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
negotiated for terms of between one and seventeen years. The Company is required to pay a fixed rental amount under the terms
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
of these leases.
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
The Company’s capital commitments relate primarily to the payments for purchase of equipment and machinery for both mines
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
and payments to third-party contractors for the provision of mining and exploration engineering work and mine construction work
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
for both mines. The Company has entered into contracts that prescribe such capital commitments; however, liabilities relating
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
to them have not yet been incurred. Therefore, capital commitments are not included in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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The following table outlines payments for commitments for the periods indicated:

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December
Within 31, 2016 and December
Within 31, 2015.
Total
One year
Two to five years
Over 5 years
US$’000
US$’000
US$’000
US$’000
The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
296,238
262,361
89,375
Principal repayment of bank loans
647,974
in common:
506,858
Repayment of bonds
506,858
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and
171
304
108
Operating lease commitments (a)
583
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG
218,994
Capital
commitments
(b) The pricing was based on the daily average
218,994 price of gold
through
to December
31, 2011.
ingot as quoted on the Shanghai
Gold
Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
296,409
262,665
815,335
Total
1,374,424
time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
(a)Operating
are primarily
for premises
and production.
three years
endingleases
December
31, 2014
and subsequently
on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.
(b)Capital commitments relate to contracts signed for construction and equipment supply.

Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
In addition to the table set forth above, the Company has entered into service agreements with third-party contractors such as
million for the year ended December 31, 2016.
China Railway and China Metallurgical for the provision of mining and exploration engineering work and mine construction work
for the CSH Mine. The fees for such work performed and to be performed each year varies depending on the amount of work
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
performed. The Company has similar agreements with third party contractors for the Jiama Mine.
Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time
to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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RELATED
PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
CRITICAL
ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES

CNG owned
percent
of the outstanding
common
shares of the
Company
as at December
2016 andhave
December
31, 2015.
In the 39.3
process
of applying
the Company’s
accounting
policies,
the Directors
of the 31,
Company
identified
accounting
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
The Company
had major related
party
transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
annual consolidated
financial
statements.
in common:

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that
On October
2008, the risk
Company’s
subsidiary,
Inneradjustment
Mongolia Pacific
a non-exclusive
contract
for the
purchase
andtwelve
have a24,significant
of causing
a material
to the entered
carrying into
amounts
of assets and
liabilities
within
the next
sale ofmonths
doré with
(the “2008
pursuant
to which
Inner Mongolia
Pacific
occasionally
doré
bars to CNG
are CNG
described
in NoteContract”)
4 of the audited
annual
consolidated
financial
statements
for thesold
yeargold
ended
December
31, 2016.
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

million for the year ended December 31, 2016.
The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
on the balance sheet.
Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time
The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.
to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.
As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Directors
willtwo
determine
any future
dividend
policy
the basis of,the
among
others
things,
theadditional
results of operations,
cash
flows and
In addition
to the
aforementioned
major
related
partyon
transactions,
Company
also
obtains
services from
related
conditions,
operating
capitala Financial
requirements,
the Agreement
rules promulgated
affecting
dividends
in both
partiesfinancial
in its normal
course of
business,and
including
Services
entered by
on the
Mayregulators
29, 2015 among
Inner
Mongolia
Canada
and and
HongChina
Kong Gold
and at
both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
Pacific,
Huatailong
Finance.
Subject to the
British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
PROPOSED
TRANSACTIONS

suchofdividends
may
advisable,
including
the amount
and the
time andthat
method
of payment
provided that
The Board
Directorsas
hasthey
given
thedeem
Company
approval
to conduct
reviewsthereof
of a number
of projects
may qualify
as acquisition
recordjoint
dateventure,
for the merger
purposeand/or
of determining
shareholdersThe
entitled
receive
payment
of the dividend
must
notdisposal
precede the
targetsthe
through
outright acquisitions.
Grouptodid
not have
any material
acquisition
and
date on which
the dividend
is to be paid
by year
more ended
than two
months. 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
of subsidiaries
and associated
companies
in the
December

acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
A dividend
mayinbeany
paid
wholly ortransactions.
partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
such review
will result
acquisition

or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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CNG owned
percent
of the outstanding
common
shares of the
Company
as at December
2016 andhave
December
31, 2015.
In the 39.3
process
of applying
the Company’s
accounting
policies,
the Directors
of the 31,
Company
identified
accounting
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
The Company
had major related
party
transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
annual consolidated
financial
statements.
in common:

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that
On October
2008, the risk
Company’s
subsidiary,
Inneradjustment
Mongolia Pacific
a non-exclusive
contract
for the
purchase
andtwelve
have a24,significant
of causing
a material
to the entered
carrying into
amounts
of assets and
liabilities
within
the next
sale ofmonths
doré with
(the “2008
pursuant
to which
Inner Mongolia
Pacific
occasionally
doré
bars to CNG
are CNG
described
in NoteContract”)
4 of the audited
annual
consolidated
financial
statements
for thesold
yeargold
ended
December
31, 2016.
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

million for the year ended December 31, 2016.
The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
on the balance sheet.
Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time
The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.
to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.
As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Directors
willtwo
determine
any future
dividend
policy
the basis of,the
among
others
things,
theadditional
results of operations,
cash
flows and
In addition
to the
aforementioned
major
related
partyon
transactions,
Company
also
obtains
services from
related
conditions,
operating
capitala Financial
requirements,
the Agreement
rules promulgated
affecting
dividends
in both
partiesfinancial
in its normal
course of
business,and
including
Services
entered by
on the
Mayregulators
29, 2015 among
Inner
Mongolia
Canada
and and
HongChina
Kong Gold
and at
both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
Pacific,
Huatailong
Finance.
Subject to the
British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
PROPOSED
TRANSACTIONS

suchofdividends
may
advisable,
including
the amount
and the
time andthat
method
of payment
provided that
The Board
Directorsas
hasthey
given
thedeem
Company
approval
to conduct
reviewsthereof
of a number
of projects
may qualify
as acquisition
recordjoint
dateventure,
for the merger
purposeand/or
of determining
shareholdersThe
entitled
receive
payment
of the dividend
must
notdisposal
precede the
targetsthe
through
outright acquisitions.
Grouptodid
not have
any material
acquisition
and
date on which
the dividend
is to be paid
by year
more ended
than two
months. 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
of subsidiaries
and associated
companies
in the
December

acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
A dividend
mayinbeany
paid
wholly ortransactions.
partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
such review
will result
acquisition

or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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MANAGEMENT'S
AND ANALYSIS
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES
DISCLOSURE
CONTROLS AND
PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
In
the
process
of
applying
the
Company’s
accounting policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
FINANCIAL REPORTING
judgments
and key sources
estimation
uncertainty
thatand
have
a significant
effectand
on the
amounts
in the
audited
Management
is responsible
for the of
design
of disclosure
controls
procedures
(“DC&P”)
the design
of recognized
internal control
over
annual
consolidated
financial
statements.
financial reporting (“ICFR”) to provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to the Company, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to the Company’s certifying officers. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Key Officer
assumptions
the future
and other key
sources
of estimation
uncertainty
theand,
end inof accordance
each reporting
Financial
have concerning
each evaluated
the Company’s
DC&P
and ICFR
as of December
31, at
2016
withperiod
the that
have a established
significant risk
of causing
a material
the carrying
amounts
of assets and
liabilities
withinand
theInterim
next twelve
requirements
under
Canadian
Nationaladjustment
Instrument to
52-109
– Certification
of Disclosure
in Issuer’s
Annual
months
are
described
in
Note
4
of
the
audited
annual
consolidated
financial
statements
for
the
year
ended
December
31, 2016.
Filings, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that these controls and procedures were effective
as December 31, 2016, and provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to the Company is made known to

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

them by others within the Company and that the information required to be disclosed in reports that are filed or submitted under
A summary
of legislation
new and are
revised
IFRS standards
and
interpretations
are outlined
Note
2 of
the audited
Canadian
securities
recorded,
processed,
summarized
and reported
withinin the
time
period
specifiedannual
in thoseconsolidated
rules.
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have used the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

Treadway Commission (COSO) 2013 framework to evaluate the Company’s ICFR as of December 31, 2016 and have concluded
that these
controls and
effective
as of December
2016 and
reasonable
assurance
that financial
The Company
holdsprocedures
a number were
of financial
instruments,
the most31,
significant
of provide
which are
available-for-sale
investments,
accounts
information
is recorded,
processed,
and reported
in a timely
manner.
is required
to apply
its judgment
receivable,
accounts
payable,summarized
cash and loans.
The financial
instruments
areManagement
recorded at either
fair values
or amortized
amount
in evaluating
the cost-benefit
on the balance
sheet. relationship of possible controls and procedures. The result of the inherent limitations in all control
systems means design of controls cannot provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud will be detected.

DuringThe
theCompany
year ended
31, 2016,
therederivatives
were no changes
in the Company’s
DC&P oras
ICFR
that materially
affected, or are
didDecember
not have any
financial
or outstanding
hedging contracts
at December
31, 2016.
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
RISKAsFACTORS
at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

There are certain risks involved in the Company’s operations, some of which are beyond the Company’s control. Aside from risks

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

relating to business and industry, the Company’s principal operations are located within the People’s Republic of China and
are governed by a legal and regulatory environment that in some respects differs from that which prevails in other countries.
The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Readers of this MD&A should give careful consideration to the information included in this document and the Company’s audited
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
annual consolidated financial statements and related notes. Significant risk factors for the Company are metal prices, government
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
regulations, foreign operations, environmental compliance, the ability to obtain additional financing, risk relating to recent
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
acquisitions, dependence on management, title to the Company’s mineral properties, and litigation. China Gold International’s
business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected by any of these risks. For details of
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
risk factors, please refer to the Company’s annual audited consolidated financial statements, and Annual Information Form filed
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
from time to time on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.

QUALIFIED
PERSON
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures

Disclosure of a scientific or technical nature in this section of the MD&A in respect of updates at the CSH Gold Project was prepared
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
by or under the supervision of Mr. Songlin Zhang, a qualified person for the purposes of NI 43-101.
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.
Disclosure of a scientific or technical nature in this MD&A in respect of the Jiama Mine for the Mineral Resources, Mineral Reserves
and Phase II Expansion was prepared by or under the supervision of Mr. Bin Guo and Anthony R Cameron, both qualified person

OUTSTANDING SHARES

for the purposes of NI 43-101; all remaining information in regards to the Jiama project contained in this MD&A was prepared by or
As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
under the supervision of Mr. Songlin Zhang, a qualified person for the purposes of NI 43-101.
March 30, 2017
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.
The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG

CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES
CORP. LTD.
Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
(incorporated in British Columbia, Canada with
time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
limited liability)
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold

three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

Report and Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time
to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.

CRITICAL
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
REPORT AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In the process
of applying
the Company’s
accounting
the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
FOR THE
YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER
31, 2016policies,
AND 2015
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
annual consolidated financial statements.
Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
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months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.
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-2
A summary
of new and revised
IFRS standards
and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the1audited
annual consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

3&4

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION are recorded at either fair
5 &values
6
receivable,
accounts payable,
cash and loans.
The financial instruments
or amortized amount
on the balance sheet.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

7

The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
OFF-BALANCE
SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

8&9

As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

10 - 67

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.
The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of China Gold International Resources Corp. Ltd.

sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG
through to December
2011.
The pricing
was based onconsolidated
the daily average
price
of gold ingot
as quoted
on the Shanghai Gold
We31,
have
audited
the accompanying
financial
statements
of China
Gold International
Exchange and the Resources
daily average
priceLtd.
of silver
quoted on the
Shanghai
Huatong Platinum
& Silverreferred
Exchange
Corp.
(theas"Company")
and
its subsidiaries
(collectively
to prevailing
as the at the

"Group"),
consolidated
statement
position
as at was
December
time of each relevant
purchasewhich
order comprise
during the the
contract
period. On
January of
27, financial
2012, the 2008
Contract
renewed31,
for another
2016 and 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
(expenses) income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, and a summary of
accounting
policies
and other
information.
Revenue from salessignificant
of gold doré
bars to CNG
decreased
fromexplanatory
US$233.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6

three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

On May 29, 2015, the
Company is
entered
into afor
revised
continuing and
connected
transaction
transaction
amending the
Management
responsible
the preparation
fair presentation
of and
thesemajor
consolidated
financial

statements
accordance
Financial
Reporting
issued
by concentrates
the
Product and Service
FrameworkinAgreement
withwith
CNG.International
According to the
amendments,
CNG Standards
purchases the
copper
International
Board, andpricing
for such
controlterms
as the
produced at the Jiama
Mine. TheAccounting
quantity of Standards
copper concentrates,
termsinternal
and payment
be management
established from time
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free

to time by the parties
with
reference
to the pricing
principles
connected
from
material
misstatement,
whether
due toforfraud
or error.transactions set out under the Product and Service
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to

Auditor's
Responsibility
CNG was US$59.8 million,
compared
to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our

For the year endedaudits.
December
2016, construction
services
of US$39.6 million
were provided
to the accepted
Company auditing
by subsidiaries of
We 31,
conducted
our audits
in accordance
with Canadian
generally
CNG (US$140.8 million
for the year
ended
December
31,that
2015).
standards.
Those
standards
require
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related
parties in its normalAn
course
of business,
a Financial
Services
on May
29, 2015
among Inner
audit
involves including
performing
procedures
to Agreement
obtain auditentered
evidence
about
the amounts
andMongolia

in the
consolidated financial statements.
Pacific, Huatailong disclosures
and China Gold
Finance.

The procedures selected depend on the
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated
financial
statements
to design
procedures
that are
appropriate
The Board of Directors
has given the
Company
approvalintoorder
conduct
reviewsaudit
of a number
of projects
that
may qualifyinasthe
acquisition
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
of subsidiaries and and
associated
companies in
year ended
December
The Company
to review
the reasonableness
of the
accounting
estimates
made31,
by2016.
management,
as wellcontinues
as evaluating
the possible
presentation
the consolidated
statements.2016. However, there can be no assurances that
acquisition targets,overall
including
the JinfengofMine
acquired by financial
CNG in September
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CRITICALINDEPENDENT
ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES
AUDITOR'S
REPORT

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of China Gold International Resources Corp. Ltd. -

judgments and
key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
continued
annual consolidated financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the

Key assumptions
concerning
theoffuture
and other
sources31,
of 2016
estimation
uncertainty
end ofperformance
each reporting period that
financial
position
the Group
as at key
December
and 2015,
and of at
its the
financial

and itsriskcash
flows for
yearsadjustment
then endedtointhe
accordance
with International
Financial
Reporting
have a significant
of causing
a the
material
carrying amounts
of assets and
liabilities
within the next twelve
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
financial statements
at December
31, 2016.
DeloitteasTouche
Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
AND
March
30, 2017

OTHER INSTRUMENTS

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
on the balance sheet.
The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.

-2-
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

NOTES related by way2016
2015
The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies
of shareholders and
shareholder
in common:

Revenues

5

US$'000

US$'000

338,601
_______

339,949
_______

56,202
_______

62,846
_______

On October 24,Cost
2008,ofthe
Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive
contract for the
purchase and
sales
(282,399)
(277,103)

sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG

Mine operating earnings

through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold

Expenses
General and administrative expenses
6
(21,439)
(23,829)
time of each relevant
purchase
during the
contract period. On January7 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract
for another
Exploration
andorder
evaluation
expenditure
(380) was renewed
(302)
_______
_______
Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

(21,819)
_______

(24,131)
_______

Income
fromdoré
operations
34,383
38,715
Revenue from sales
of gold
bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015
to US$227.6
_______
_______
million for the year
ended
December
31, 2016.
Other
(expenses)
income

Foreign exchange loss, net
(16,429)
(13,537)
Interest and other income
8,863
12,556
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
Finance costs
8
(16,573)
(21,407)
Product and Service
Framework
with CNG. investment
According to the amendments,
CNG purchases
concentrates
Impairment
lossAgreement
on available-for-sale
19
(3,831) the copper
(4,720)
_______
_______
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time

(27,970)

(27,108)

_______
to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set _______
out under the Product
and Service
Profit before
income
tax December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate
6,413
11,607
Framework Agreement.
For the
year ended
and other
products to
Income tax expense

9

(18,738)
_______

(18,434)
_______

Loss for the year

10

(12,325)

(6,827)

CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of

Other comprehensive (expenses) income for the year

CNG (US$140.8 Items
millionthat
for the
ended December
31, 2015).
mayyear
be reclassified
subsequently

to profit or loss:
Exchange
difference arising
on translation
(15,746)
(11,497)
In addition to the two aforementioned
major related
party transactions, the Company also obtains
additional services
from related
Fair value loss on available-for-sale investment
19
(2,553)
(3,998)
parties in its normal
course
of
business,
including
a
Financial
Services
Agreement
entered
on
May
29,
2015
among
Inner
Mongolia
Reclassification adjustment upon impairment of
Pacific, Huatailongavailable-for-sale
and China Gold investment
Finance.
19
3,831
4,720
_______
_______
Total comprehensive expenses for the year

PROPOSED(Loss)
TRANSACTIONS
profit for the year attributable to:

(26,793)
_______

(17,602)
_______

The Board of Directors
has given the
Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects 979
that may qualify as
acquisition
Non-controlling
interests
1,361

targets through joint
venture,
and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any
material acquisition
and disposal
Owners
of themerger
Company
(13,304)
(8,188)
_______
_______
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible

(12,325)
_______

(6,827)
_______

977
(27,770)
_______

1,164
(18,766)
_______

(26,793)
_______

(17,602)
_______

_______
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However,
there can be no _______
assurances that
(expenses)
income for the year
such review willTotal
result comprehensive
in any acquisition
transactions.
attributable to:
Non-controlling interests
Owners of the Company
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies,NOTE
the Directors of the 2016
Company have identified
accounting
2015
US$'000
US$'000
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
annual consolidated financial statements.

Loss per share
- Basic (US)

13

3.36 cents
___________

2.07 cents
___________

___________
Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of ___________
each reporting period that
- Dilutedrisk
(US)
2.07
cents
have a significant
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts ___________
of assets N/A
and liabilities
within
the next twelve
___________
months are
described
in Note
4 of theofaudited
annual
statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Weighted
average
number
common
sharesconsolidated financial
13

- Basic and diluted

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

396,413,753
___________

396,413,753
___________

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
on the balance sheet.
The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.

-4-

61

7

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

NOTES related by way2016
2015
The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies
of shareholders and
shareholder

US$'000
US$'000
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
14
59,930
112,399
On October 24,Restricted
2008, the Company’s
subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered
contract for the purchase
bank balance
14 into a non-exclusive
21,085
9,242 and
Trade
receivables
15 Pacific occasionally
163,228
sale of doré with
CNGand
(theother
“2008
Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia
sold gold doré35,801
bars to CNG
Prepaid
expenses
and
deposits
16
5,633
8,446
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold
Prepaid lease payments
17
366
225
Exchange and Inventories
the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai18
Huatong Platinum &220,557
Silver Exchange prevailing
at the
190,876
__________
_________
in common:

time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another

470,799

356,989

_________
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of__________
January 1, 2015 to December
31, 2017.
Non-current assets
Prepaid expenses and deposits
16
12,156
11,974
Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
Prepaid lease payments
17
14,403
7,620
million for the year
endedtax
December
Deferred
assets 31, 2016.
9
382
1,728
Available-for-sale investments
19
14,755
17,447
Property,
plant and
equipment
20 transaction and
1,531,307
1,454,319
On May 29, 2015,
the Company
entered
into a revised continuing connected
major transaction
amending the
Mining rights
21
922,817
930,516
__________
_________

Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates

2,495,820
2,423,604
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment
terms be established
from time
__________
_________

to time by the parties
with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set2,966,619
out under the Product
and Service
Total assets
2,780,593
__________
_________
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to

Current liabilities

CNG was US$59.8
million, and
compared
to US$21.0
million
for the
same period in
Accounts
other payables
and
accrued
expenses
222015.

176,464
166,004
Entrusted loan payable
24
28,831
Borrowings
23 were provided 596,233
For the year ended
December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million
to the Company by189,009
subsidiaries of
Tax liabilities
7,944
7,802
__________
_________
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
809,472
__________

362,815
_________

__________

_________

2,157,147
__________

2,417,778
_________

In addition to the
two
aforementioned
additional services(5,826)
from related
Net
current
liabilities major related party transactions, the Company also obtains
(338,673)

parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia

Total assets less current liabilities

Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

Non-current liabilities
Entrusted loan payable
24
30,800
PROPOSEDDeferred
TRANSACTIONS
tax liabilities
9
124,808
125,414
Deferred
4,214
1,798
The Board of Directors
hasincome
given the Company approval to conduct reviews 25
of a number of projects
that may qualify as
acquisition
Borrowings
23
558,599
763,422
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
Environmental rehabilitation
26
49,337
49,090
__________
_________
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible

736,958
970,524
__________
_________
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However,
there can be no
assurances that
such review willTotal
result liabilities
in any acquisition transactions.

1,546,430
__________

1,333,339
_________
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies,NOTE
the Directors of the 2016
Company have identified
accounting
2015
US$'000
US$'000
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

Owners' equity
annual consolidated
financial statements.

Share capital
27
1,229,061
1,229,061
Reserves
5,191
18,849
Key assumptions
at
the end of each
reporting period that
Retainedconcerning
profits the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
172,205
186,317
__________
_________
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve

1,406,457
__________

1,434,227
_________

1,420,189
__________

1,447,254
_________

2,966,619

2,780,593

months are
described in Note
4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for
the year ended December
Non-controlling
interests
13,732
13,027 31, 2016.

Total owners' equity

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Total liabilities and owners' equity

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in __________
Note 2 of the audited
annual consolidated
_________
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER
The consolidated
financial statements
on pages INSTRUMENTS
3 to 67 were approved and authorized for issue by the

Boardholds
of Directors
onofMarch
30 2017
and arethe
signed
its behalfofby:
The Company
a number
financial
instruments,
moston
significant
which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
on the balance sheet.
The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

_______(Signed by) Xin Song________

_______(Signed by) Bing Liu________
Bing Liu
Director
As at December 31, 2016, the Company
had not entered into any off-balance sheet Director
arrangements.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
Xin Song
DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.
Investment
NonTotal
The Company had major related party transactions
related
by way
of shareholders
and owners'
shareholder
Number with the
Share following
Equity companies
revaluation Exchange
Statutory
Retained
controlling
of shares

in common:
At January 1, 2015

396,413,753
___________

capital
US$'000

reserve
US$'000
Note (a)

reserve
US$'000

reserve
US$'000

reserve
US$'000
Note (b)

profits
US$'000

Subtotal
US$'000

1,229,061
_________

11,179
_______

(722)
_______

7,615
_______

11,355
_______

194,505 _________
1,452,993
_______

interests
US$'000

equity
US$'000

12,165 _________
1,465,158
_______

On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and
(Loss) profit for the year
Fair value loss on available-for-sale
investment
Reclassified adjustment upon impairment
of available-for-sale investment (note 19)
Exchange difference arising on
translation

-

-

-

-

-

-

(8,188)

(8,188)

1,361

(6,827)

sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant
to which
Inner
Mongolia
Pacific
occasionally
sold
gold doré
bars
to CNG
(3,998)
(3,998)
(3,998)
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based
on the
daily - average
price -of gold - ingot as- quoted
on the- Shanghai
Gold
4,720
4,720
4,720
Exchange and the daily average price of silver
as quoted
on
Shanghai
& Silver
Exchange
prevailing
- the
- Huatong
(11,300) Platinum
- _________
(11,300) _______
(197)
(11,497) at the
___________
_________
_______
_______
_______
_______
_______
_________

time of each relevant
purchase
during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
Total comprehensive
incomeorder
(expenses)
for the year

-

-

-

722

(11,300)

-

(8,188)

(18,766)

1,164

(17,602)

Dividend
paid to a non-controlling
three years ending
December
31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.
shareholder

At December 31, 2015

___________

_________

_______

_______

_______

_______

- _________
_______

(302) _________
(302)
_______

396,413,753
___________

1,229,061
_________

11,179
_______

_______

(3,685)
_______

11,355
_______

186,317 _________
1,434,227
_______

13,027 _________
1,447,254
_______

Revenue from sales
of gold doré bars to CNG decreased
from
US$233.8
million
for the
year- ended
December
31,979
2015 (12,325)
to US$227.6
(Loss) profit for the year
(13,304)
(13,304)
Fair value loss on available-for-sale
million for the year
ended December 31, 2016.
investment
Reclassified adjustment upon impairment
of available-for-sale investment (note 19)
Exchange difference arising on
translation

-

-

-

(2,553)

-

-

-

(2,553)

-

(2,553)

-

-

-

3,831

-

-

-

3,831

-

3,831

- connected
(15,744)
- and
- _________
(15,744)
(2) amending
(15,746)
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into
a revised
continuing
transaction
major
transaction
the
___________
_________
_______
_______
_______
_______
_______
_______
_________
Total comprehensive
income Agreement
(expenses)
Product and Service
Framework
with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
for the year

-

-

-

1,278

(15,744)

-

(13,304)

(27,770)

977

(26,793)

Transfer
to statutory
reserve
- pricing
- terms- and payment
808
(808)
- established
produced at the
Jiama
Mine.
The quantity of copper
concentrates,
terms be
from
time
Dividend paid to a non-controlling

shareholder
(272) _________
(272)
_________
_______
_______
_______
_______
_________
_______
to time by the parties
with reference to the ___________
pricing- principles
for
connected
transactions
set _______
out - under
the
Product
and
Service
At December 31, 2016

396,413,753

1,229,061

11,179

1,278

(19,429)

12,163

172,205

1,406,457

13,732

1,420,189

_________
___________ _________
_______
_______of copper
_______
_______
_________ and
_______
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December
31, 2016,_______
revenue
from sales
concentrate
other
products to

CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.

Notes:

For the year ended
2016, construction
services
of US$39.6
million were
provided to the
Company
by subsidiaries of
(a) December
Amounts31,
represent
equity reserve
arising
from share-based
compensation
provided
to directors
CNG (US$140.8 million for
year ended
December
2015).plan of the Company.
andthe
employees
under
the stock31,option

(b)

Statutory reserve which consists of appropriations from the profit after taxation of the subsidiaries
established in the People's Republic of China ("PRC"), forms part of the equity of PRC
parties in its normal course
of business,
a Financial
Services
Agreement
on May 29,
2015 among of
Inner
subsidiaries.
In including
accordance
with the PRC
Company
Law entered
and the Articles
of Association
the Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong andPRC
China
Gold Finance.
subsidiaries,
the PRC subsidiaries are required to appropriate an amount equal to a minimum
of 10% of their profits after taxation each year to a statutory reserve until the reserve reaches 50%
of the registered capital of the respective subsidiaries.
In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.

CRITICAL
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

In the process
of applying
the Company’s
accounting
the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
FOR THE
YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER
31, 2016policies,
AND 2015
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
annual consolidated financial statements.

Operating activities

2016
US$'000

2015
US$'000

Key assumptions
concerning
end of each reporting
Profit before
incomethe
taxfuture and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
6,413
11,607 period that

Items not risk
requiring
use ofa cash
and cash
equivalents:
have a significant
of causing
material
adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve

Amortization of mining rights
4,814
5,264
Depreciation
77,686
70,456
Finance costs
16,573
21,407
Impairment
loss on available-for-sale
investment
3,831
4,720
CHANGE
IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
Loss
on
disposal
of
property,
plant
and
equipment
34
- consolidated
A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual
Release of prepaid lease payment
208
185
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
Release of deferred income
(658)
(716)
Unrealized foreign exchange loss
21,142
17,197
Change in operating working capital items:
FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
15,292
(9,288)
Trade and other receivables
The Company
holdsexpenses
a number
financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale
investments,
accounts
Prepaid
andofdeposits
1,414
2,081
(31,977)
receivable,Inventories
accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at(30,612)
either fair values or
amortized amount
Accounts
and other payables and accrued expenses
19,358
31,216
_______
_______
on the balance
sheet.
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Cash generated from operations

135,495

122,152

Interest paid
Income taxes paid

(38,376)
(17,505)
_______

(42,693)
(12,592)
_______

79,330

66,867
_______

Environmental
rehabilitation
expense
paid or outstanding hedging contracts as at (284)
The Company
did not have
any financial
derivatives
December 31, 2016. -

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
Net cash from operating activities

_______
As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Investing activities
Payment for acquisition of property, plant and equipment
(194,333)
(276,068)
DIVIDEND
DIVIDEND
POLICY
Loan toAND
a related
company
(150,000)
(14,021)
Placement
of paid
restricted
bank deposits
(33,654)
(9,242)The Board of
The Company
has not
any dividends
since incorporation and does not currently have
a fixed dividend policy.
Receipt
of
asset-related
government
grants
3,488
940
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations,
cash flows and
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment
(90)
(616)
financial Proceeds
conditions,
operating
and
capital
requirements,
the
rules
promulgated
by
the
regulators
affecting
dividends
in both
from disposal of property, plant and equipment
335
Canada and
Hongfor
Kong
and
both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits
and other relevant- factors.
Payment
land
useatrights
(7,586)
Repayment from loan to a related party
6,000
Withdrawal
of
restricted
bank
balance
20,669
- payment of
_______
_______
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize
Net cash
usedmay
in investing
activities
(355,506)
(298,672)
such dividends
as they
deem advisable,
including the amount thereof and the time
and method of payment
_______
_______provided that
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

2016
US$'000

2015
US$'000

Proceeds from borrowings
Repayments of borrowings
Dividend paid to a non-controlling shareholder

411,705
(185,625)
(272)
_______

335,007
(553,741)
(302)
_______

Net cash from (used in) financing activities

225,808

(219,036)

Financing
activities
The Company had
major related
party transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and

_______
_______
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally
sold gold doré
bars to CNG
Net decrease
in cash
and cash
equivalents
through to December
31, 2011.
The pricing
was
based on the daily average price of gold ingot(50,368)
as quoted on the(450,841)
Shanghai Gold

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
112,399
565,578
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash
time of each relevant
purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract
for another
equivalents
(2,101) was renewed
(2,338)
_______
_______
Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

59,930
_______

112,399
_______

Cashofand
cash
equivalents
are decreased
comprised from
of US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
Revenue from sales
gold
doré
bars to CNG
cash
and bank
deposits
banks
million for the year
ended
December
31, in
2016.

59,930
_______

112,399
_______

On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time
to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.

CRITICAL
ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES
NOTES
TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In the process
of applying
the Company’s
accounting
the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
FOR THE
YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER
31, 2016policies,
AND 2015
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
annual consolidated
financialAND
statements.
1.
GENERAL
BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

China Gold International Resources Corp. Ltd., formerly known as Jinshan Gold Mines Inc., (the

Key assumptions "Company")
concerning the
andlisted
othercompany
key sources
of estimation
uncertainty
at the Canada
end of each
reporting
is afuture
publicly
incorporated
in British
Columbia,
on May
31, period that
2000
limitedaliability
the legislation
of the Province
and within
its shares
have a significant
risk with
of causing
materialunder
adjustment
to the carrying
amountsofofBritish
assets Columbia
and liabilities
the next twelve

are listed
on the
Stock
Exchange
("TSX")financial
and The statements
Stock Exchange
Hong
KongDecember 31, 2016.
months are described
in Note
4 ofToronto
the audited
annual
consolidated
for theofyear
ended

Limited (the "Stock Exchange"). The Company together with its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group") is principally engaged in the acquisition, exploration, development and
of mineral reservesPOLICIES
in the PRC. Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out
CHANGE INmining
ACCOUNTING
in note 33. The Group considers that China National Gold Group Corporation ("CNG"), a state
A summary of new
andcompany
revised IFRS
standards
and interpretations
are
outlined by
in Note
2 of theAssets
audited annual consolidated
owned
registered
in Beijing,
PRC which is
controlled
State-owned
Supervision
and Administration
Commission of the State Council of the PRC, is able to exercise
financial statements
as at December
31, 2016.
significant influence over the Company.
head office, principal
address
and registered
and records office of the Company are located at
FINANCIALThe
INSTRUMENTS
AND
OTHER
INSTRUMENTS
Suite 660, One Bentall Centre, 505 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V7X

The Company holds
a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
1M4.

receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars ("US$") which is

on the balance sheet.
also the functional currency of the Company.

December
2016, the
Group'sorcurrent
liabilities
exceeded
its current
assets by approximately
The Company didAtnot
have any31,
financial
derivatives
outstanding
hedging
contracts
as at December
31, 2016.

US$339 million. In view of these circumstances, the management have given consideration to the
future liquidity and performance of the Group and its available sources of finance in assessing
whether
the Group
will have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern. Taking
OFF-BALANCE
SHEET
ARRANGEMENTS
into account the Group's cash flow projection, including the Group's unutilized bank facilities of
As at December approximately
31, 2016, the Company
not entered
into
any off-balance
arrangements.
US$496 had
million,
ability to
renew
or refinance sheet
the banking
facilities upon maturity
and the Group's future capital expenditure in respect of its non-cancellable capital commitments
of US$219 million, the management consider that it has sufficient working capital to meet in full
DIVIDEND AND
DIVIDEND
its financial
obligations POLICY
as they fall due for at least the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting
and accordingly,
the consolidated
financial
statements
have
beendividend
preparedpolicy.
on a The Board of
The Company has
not paidperiod
any dividends
since incorporation
and does
not currently
have
a fixed
going concern basis.

Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL

Canada and Hong
Kong and atSTANDARDS
both the TSX and
HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
REPORTING
("IFRSs")

Amendments
IFRSsCorporations
that are mandatorily
effectivemay
for the
Subject to the British
Columbia to
Business
Act, the Directors
fromcurrent
time toyear
time declare and authorize payment of
such dividends asThe
they
may deem
advisable,
includingamendments
the amount thereof
the time
and methodAccounting
of payment provided that
Group
has applied
the following
to IFRSsand
issued
by International

Boardof("IASB")
for the
first time in
the current
year: payment of the dividend must not precede the
the record date Standards
for the purpose
determining
shareholders
entitled
to receive
date on which the
dividend is totobe
paid11by more than twoAccounting
months.
Amendments
IFRS
for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint

Operations
Amendments to IAS 1
Disclosure Initiative
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
Amendments to IAS 16
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation
or other securities and
of the
Company,
or in any one or more of and
those
ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
IAS
38
Amortization
Amendments
to for
IASbelieving
16
Agriculture:
BearerorPlants
if there are reasonable
grounds
that the Company
is insolvent
the payment of the dividend would render the
and IAS 41
Company insolvent.
Amendments to IFRS 10,
Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
IFRS 12 and IAS 28
Exception
Amendments to IFRSs
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2012 - 2014
OUTSTANDING SHARES
Cycle
As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("IFRSs") - continued

The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied the amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative for the first time in the

current
year. The
amendments
to IAS 1Pacific
clarifyentered
that an entity
need not provide
a specific
On October 24, 2008, the
Company’s
subsidiary,
Inner Mongolia
into a non-exclusive
contract
for the purchase and

disclosure required by an IFRS if the information resulting from that disclosure is not material,
and give guidance on the bases of aggregating and disaggregating information. However, the
through to December 31,
2011. The pricing
on the
dailyconsider
averageproviding
price of gold
ingot as
quoted onwhen
the Shanghai Gold
amendments
reiteratewas
thatbased
an entity
should
additional
disclosures
withofthesilver
specific
requirements
in IFRS isHuatong
insufficient
to enable
users
of financial
Exchange and the dailycompliance
average price
as quoted
on the Shanghai
Platinum
& Silver
Exchange
prevailing at the
statements to understand the impact of particular transactions, events and conditions on the
time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
entity's financial position and financial performance.

sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG

three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

As regards the structure of the financial statements, the amendments provide examples of
systematic
ordering
or decreased
grouping offrom
the notes.
Revenue from sales of gold
doré bars
to CNG
US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
million for the year ended
2016. these amendments retrospectively. The grouping and ordering of segment
TheDecember
Group has31,
applied

information has been revised to give prominence to the areas of the Group's activities that
management
considers
be mostcontinuing
relevant toconnected
an understanding
of the
Group's
On May 29, 2015, the Company
entered
into atorevised
transaction
and
major financial
transaction amending the
performance and financial position. Specifically, information in relation to segment was
Product and Service Framework
Agreement
with
CNG.
According
to
the
amendments,
CNG
purchases
the application
copper concentrates
reordered to note 5. Other than the above presentation and disclosure changes, the
of
amendments
to IAS
1 has not
resulted in any
impact
on and
the financial
or financial
produced at the Jiamathe
Mine.
The quantity
of copper
concentrates,
pricing
terms
paymentperformance
terms be established
from time
position
of the to
Group
in theseprinciples
consolidated
financial statements.
to time by the parties with
reference
the pricing
for connected
transactions set out under the Product and Service
Framework Agreement.Other
For the
year
December
31, 2016,
fromofsales
of copper concentrate
and
products to
than
theended
amendments
to IAS
1, therevenue
application
the amendments
to IFRSs in
theother
current

year
has had no
materialmillion
impactforonthe
thesame
Group's
financial
CNG was US$59.8 million,
compared
to US$21.0
period
in 2015.performance and positions for the current
and prior years and/or on disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended December
2016, construction
services
of US$39.6
were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of
New and31,
amendments
to IFRSs
in issue
but not million
yet effective
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).

The Group has not early applied the following new, amendments and interpretation to IFRSs that
has been issued but are not yet effective:

In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related
2
parties in its normal course
Agreement
entered
on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
IFRSof9business, including a Financial Services
Financial
Instruments

15Gold Finance.
Pacific, Huatailong andIFRS
China

Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the Related
Amendments2
IFRS 16
Leases3
IFRIC 22
Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
Consideration2
The Board of Directors has
given the Company
reviews of a and
number
of projectsof
that
may qualify as acquisition
Amendments
to IFRS 2approval to conduct
Classification
Measurement
Share-based
2
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. Payment
The Group
did not have any material acquisition and disposal
Transactions
Amendments
to IFRS
Applying 31,
IFRS
9 Financial
Instruments
with to review possible
of subsidiaries and associated
companies
in 4the year ended December
2016.
The Company
continues
IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts2
acquisition targets, including
the Jinfeng
Mine10acquired by CNGSale
in September
2016. of
However,
there cananbeInvestor
no assurances
that
Amendments
to IFRS
or Contribution
Assets between
and
such review will result in any
acquisition
transactions.
and IAS
28
its Associate or Joint Venture4
Amendments to IAS 7
Disclosure Initiative1
Amendments to IAS 12
Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized
Losses1
Amendments to IAS 40
Transfers of Investment Property2
Amendments to IFRSs
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014 - 2016
Cycle5
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CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
ofAPPLICATION
applying the Company’s
accounting
policies, the
of the Company
have identified accounting
2.
OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS
TODirectors
INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL

REPORTING
STANDARDS
("IFRSs")
continued
judgments and key
sources of estimation
uncertainty
that- have
a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
annual consolidated
statements.
Newfinancial
and amendments
to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective - continued
1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018
3 risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
have a significant
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019
4
Effective
periods
beginning
on or after
a datestatements
to be determined
months are described
in Note 4for
of annual
the audited
annual
consolidated
financial
for the year ended December 31, 2016.
5
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017 or January 1, 2018, as
appropriate

Key assumptions 2concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Amendments
IASstandards
7 Disclosure
A summary of new
and revisedtoIFRS
and Initiative
interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
financial statements
at December
31, 2016.
Theas
amendments
require
an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements

to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes. Specifically, the amendments require the following
FINANCIALchanges
INSTRUMENTS
ANDfrom
OTHER
INSTRUMENTS
in liabilities arising
financing
activities to be disclosed: (i) changes from financing
arising
from
obtaining
or losing control
of are
subsidiaries
or other investments, accounts
cash
flows;
(ii)
changes
The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant
of which
available-for-sale
businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in fair values; and
receivable, accounts
payable,
cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
(v) other
changes.
on the balance sheet.

The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017
with earlier application permitted. The application of the amendments will result in additional
The Company diddisclosures
not have any
financial
derivatives
outstanding
hedging contracts
as at between
December
2016.
on the
Group's
financingoractivities,
specifically
reconciliation
the31,
opening
and closing balances in the consolidated statement of financial position for liabilities arising from
financing activities will be provided on application.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

management
anticipate
thatentered
the application
IAS 7 in the
future
may result in more
As at December The
31, 2016,
the Company
had not
into any of
off-balance
sheet
arrangements.

disclosures, however, the management do not anticipate that the application of IAS 7 will have a
material impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows in the respective reporting periods.

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Directors will determine
future dividend
policy on the
basisclassification
of, among others
things, the results
of operations,
IFRS 9any
introduces
new requirements
for the
and measurement
of financial
assets, cash flows and

financial
liabilities,
general requirements,
hedge accounting
and impairment
requirements
for financial
assets.
financial conditions,
operating
and capital
the rules
promulgated
by the regulators
affecting
dividends in both
Canada and Hong
Kong
and at both
TSX9and
HKSE,
the amount
of distributable
profits and other relevant factors.
Key
requirements
of the
IFRS
which
areand
relevant
to the Group
are:

• Columbia
all recognized
assets
thatthe
areDirectors
within the
scope
IFRS
9 aredeclare
requiredand
to be
Subject to the British
Business financial
Corporations
Act,
may
fromof
time
to time
authorize payment of
subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that

such dividends as they may
deemwithin
advisable,
including
thewhose
amount
thereofisand
the time
method of
payment
are held
a business
model
objective
to collect
theand
contractual
cash
flows, provided that
and
that
have
contractual
cash
flows
that
are
solely
payments
of
principal
and
interest
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must on
not precede the

the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortized cost at the end of

date on which the dividend
is to be paid
by more
than two
months.
subsequent
accounting
periods.
Debt
instruments that are held within a business model

whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial

that have
contractual
that specific
give riseassets
on specified
dates
cash flows
that debentures
A dividend may be paidassets,
wholly and
or partly
by the
distributionterms
of cash,
or of fully
paidtoshares
or of bonds,
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are

or other securities of the generally
Company,measured
or in any at
one
or value
more through
of those other
ways. comprehensive
No dividend may
be declared
or paid in
fair
income
("FVTOCI").
Allmoney or assets

other debt
andthe
equity
investments
are measured
at their fair
value
at the end
of render the
if there are reasonable grounds
forinvestments
believing that
Company
is insolvent
or the payment
of the
dividend
would
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING

subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an
irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity
investment (that is not held for trading). In other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognized in profit or loss.
SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("IFRSs") - continued

The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - continued
•

in relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss

On October 24, 2008, the Company’s
Inner
Mongolia
intounder
a non-exclusive
contractInstruments:
for the purchase and
model,subsidiary,
as opposed
to an
incurredPacific
credit entered
loss model
IAS 39 Financial

Recognition
and
Measurement.
expected
credit
lossoccasionally
model requires
entity
to bars to CNG
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008
Contract”)
pursuant
to whichThe
Inner
Mongolia
Pacific
soldangold
doré
for expected
credit
losses
and
changesprice
in those
expected
credit
losses
through to December 31, 2011.account
The pricing
was based
on the
daily
average
of gold
ingot as
quoted
on at
theeach
Shanghai Gold

reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it
is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are
time of each relevant purchaserecognized.
order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

Application of IFRS 9 in the future may have a material impact on the classification and
measurement of the Group's financial assets. The Group's available-for-sale investments,
Revenue from sales of gold
doré bars
CNG decreased
million forwill
theeither
year ended
December
31,value
2015 to US$227.6
including
thosetocurrently
stated at from
cost US$233.8
less impairment,
be measured
as fair
million for the year ended
December
2016.or be designated as FVTOCI (subject to fulfillment of the designation
through
profit 31,
or loss
criteria). In addition, the expected credit loss model may result in early provision of credit losses
which are not yet incurred in relation to the Group's financial assets measured at amortized cost.
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 9 until the
Product and Service Framework
Agreement
with CNG.
According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
Group performs
a detailed
review.
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time

IFRSreference
15 Revenue
from
Contracts
with
to time by the parties with
to the
pricing
principles
for Customers
connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to

IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in

CNG was US$59.8 million,
compared
US$21.0 arising
million for
thecontracts
same period
2015.
accounting
fortorevenue
from
with incustomers.
IFRS 15 will supersede the current

revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and the

related interpretations
when it services
becomesofeffective.
For the year ended December
31, 2016, construction
US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of
CNG (US$140.8 million for
year
ended December
2015).
Thethe
core
principle
of IFRS 1531,
is that
an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of

promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the

entity expects tomajor
be entitled
exchange
for those
or services.
Specifically,
the
standard
In addition to the two aforementioned
relatedinparty
transactions,
thegoods
Company
also obtains
additional
services
from related

introduces
a 5-step
approach
to revenue
recognition:
parties in its normal course
of business,
including
a Financial
Services
Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong and• China Step
Gold 1:
Finance.
Identify the contract(s) with a customer

•
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
•
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
•
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
•
Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal

Under IFRS
15, an entity
revenue
when31,
(or2016.
as) a performance
obligation
satisfied,
of subsidiaries and associated
companies
in therecognizes
year ended
December
The Company
continuesis to
review possible
i.e. when
theacquired
goods orby
services
particular
performance
is
acquisition targets, including
the'control'
Jinfeng of
Mine
CNG inunderlying
Septemberthe
2016.
However,
there canobligation
be no assurances
that
transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal

such review will result inwith
any specific
acquisition
transactions.
scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
ofAPPLICATION
applying the Company’s
accounting
policies, the
of the Company
have identified accounting
2.
OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS
TODirectors
INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL
REPORTING
STANDARDS
("IFRSs")
continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
annual consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers - continued

Key assumptions In
concerning
future
andClarifications
other key sources
of estimation
uncertainty
at the end ofofeach
reporting period that
2016, the the
IASB
issued
to IFRS
15 in relation
to the identification
performance

obligations,
principal
versus adjustment
agent considerations,
as well
as licensing
application
guidance.
have a significant
risk of causing
a material
to the carrying
amounts
of assets
and liabilities
within the next twelve
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

The management anticipate that the application of IFRS 15 in the future may result in more
disclosures, however, the management do not anticipate that the application of IFRS 15 will have
impact on the timing
and amounts of revenue recognized in the respective reporting
CHANGE INa material
ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
periods.
A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and
FINANCIALaccounting
INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede IAS 17 Leases and the

The Company holds
a number
of financial
instruments,
the
most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
related
interpretations
when
it becomes
effective.

receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount

IFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is
on the balance sheet.

controlled by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for
lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
The Company didliability
not have
anytofinancial
derivatives
or leases
outstanding
hedging
contracts
as at December
31,leases
2016. of
have
be recognized
for all
by lessees,
except
for short-term
leases and
low value assets.

OFF-BALANCE
SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to
As at December certain
31, 2016,exceptions)
the Company
not entered
into any off-balance
sheet losses,
arrangements.
lesshad
accumulated
depreciation
and impairment
adjusted for any

re-measurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for
DIVIDEND AND
POLICY
interest DIVIDEND
and lease payments,
as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For the
The Company has
not paid anyofdividends
since
andpresents
does notupfront
currently
have lease
a fixed
dividendaspolicy. The Board of
classification
cash flows,
theincorporation
Group currently
prepaid
payments
investing
cash
flows
in
relation
to
leasehold
lands
for
owned
use
and
those
classified
as
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations,
cash flows and
investment
properties
while
other
operating
lease
payments
are
presented
as
operating
cash flows.
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Upon application of IFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a
Canada and Hong
Kong and
the TSX
and which
HKSE, and
amount ofas
distributable
profits
and other
relevant
factors.
principal
andatanboth
interest
portion
willthe
be presented
financing and
operating
cash
flows by
the Group, respectively.
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of

Under IAS 17, the Group has already recognized prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands
where the Group is a lessee. The application of IFRS 16 may result in potential changes in
the record date classification
for the purpose
determining
shareholders
entitledthe
to Group
receivepresents
paymentright-of-use
of the dividend
of of
these
assets depending
on whether
assetsmust not precede the
separately
within
the by
same
linethan
itemtwo
at which
the corresponding underlying assets would be
date on which the
dividendor
is to
be paid
more
months.
presented if they were owned.
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that

A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures

In contrast to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting

or other securitiesrequirements
of the Company,
or 17,
in any
or moretoofrequire
those ways.
No to
dividend
be declared
or paid
in money or assets
in IAS
andone
continues
a lessor
classifymay
a lease
either as an
operating

lease orgrounds
a financeforlease.
if there are reasonable
believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 16.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("IFRSs") - continued

The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

IFRS 16 Leases - continued

As at December 31, 2016, the Group as a lessee has non-cancellable operating lease commitments

On October 24, 2008, the
subsidiary,
InnerinMongolia
entered intodo
a non-exclusive
purchase and
of Company’s
HK$583,000
as disclosed
note 31. Pacific
The management
not expect thecontract
adoptionforofthe
IFRS

resultContract”)
in significant
impact
the Group's
result but
it is expected
that sold
certain
of to CNG
sale of doré with CNG would
(the “2008
pursuant
to on
which
Inner Mongolia
Pacific
occasionally
goldportion
doré bars
these
lease
will beonrequired
toaverage
be recognized
in gold
the consolidated
statement
through to December 31,
2011.
Thecommitments
pricing was based
the daily
price of
ingot as quoted
on theofShanghai Gold
financial position as lease liabilities.

Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
time of each relevant purchase
order
during
period.
January
27, 2012,
the 2008
was of
renewed
Other than
those
newthe
andcontract
amendments
to On
IFRSs
mentioned
above,
the Contract
management
the for another

Company
notand
anticipated
that the
application
offor
other
andofamendments
to IFRSs
will have
three years ending December
31,do
2014
subsequently
on June
30, 2014
the new
period
January 1, 2015
to December
31, 2017.
a material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
million for the year
December 31,ACCOUNTING
2016.
3. ended
SIGNIFICANT
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by the
IASB. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required
Product and Service Framework
Agreement
withthe
CNG.
According
to the on
amendments,
CNG purchases
copper
concentrates
by the Rules
Governing
Listing
of Securities
the Stock Exchange
of Hongthe
Kong
Limited
Rules")
andofbycopper
the Hong
Kong Companies
produced at the Jiama("Listing
Mine. The
quantity
concentrates,
pricing Ordinance
terms and ("CO").
payment terms be established from time
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the

to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for

Framework Agreement.certain
For thefinancial
year ended
December
31, 2016,
revenue from
sales
of copper
concentrate
and other products to
instruments,
which
are measured
at fair
values
at the end
of each reporting
CNG was US$59.8 million,
compared
to US$21.0
million
for the same
period
in 2015.
period,
as explained
in the
accounting
policies
below.

Historical
is generally
based
on the
valuemillion
of thewere
consideration
given
exchange
For the year ended December
31,cost
2016,
construction
services
offair
US$39.6
provided to
the in
Company
byfor
subsidiaries of
goods.

CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction
between
participants the
at the
measurement
date, regardless
of whether
In addition to the two aforementioned
major
relatedmarket
party transactions,
Company
also obtains
additional services
from related
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
Pacific, Huatailong andliability
China Gold
Finance.
if market
participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
The Board of Directors has
given the that
Company
approval
to conduct
of a number
of projects that
transactions
are within
the scope
of IASreviews
17 Leases,
and measurements
that may
havequalify
some as acquisition
similarities
to
fair
value
but
are
not
fair
value,
such
as
net
realizable
value
in
IAS
2
Inventories
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition andordisposal
value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
ofSIGNIFICANT
applying the ACCOUNTING
Company’s accounting
policies,
the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
3.
POLICIES
- continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

In addition,
financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Level
annual consolidated
financialfor
statements.

1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described
Key assumptions as
concerning
follows: the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve

•
are quoted
prices
(unadjusted)
in active
markets for
for the
identical
assets December
or
months are described
in Level
Note 41ofinputs
the audited
annual
consolidated
financial
statements
year ended
31, 2016.

liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;
Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are
CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING
observable for thePOLICIES
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
• and Level
3 inputs
are unobservable
inputs for the
or liability.
A summary of new
revised
IFRS standards
and interpretations
areasset
outlined
in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
•

financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

of consolidation AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
FINANCIALBasis
INSTRUMENTS

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and

receivable, accounts
payable,
cashbyand
The financial
instruments are
recorded
at either
fair the
values
or amortized amount
entities
controlled
theloans.
Company
and its subsidiaries.
Control
is achieved
when
Company:
on the balance sheet.

•
has power over the investee;
•
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.
•
has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group
reassesses
whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
OFF-BALANCE
SHEET
ARRANGEMENTS
onenot
or entered
more of into
the three
elements ofsheet
control
listed above.
therethe
areCompany
changes tohad
As at December that
31, 2016,
any off-balance
arrangements.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when
the Group POLICY
loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
DIVIDEND AND
DIVIDEND
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of
The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date
Directors will determine
anyGroup
futureceases
dividend
policy on
basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
when the
to control
thethe
subsidiary.
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both

Profit
orand
lossat
and
each
other
comprehensive
income
are attributed
to the
of the factors.
Canada and Hong
Kong
both
theitem
TSX of
and
HKSE,
and the amount
of distributable
profits
andowners
other relevant

Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in
Subject to the British
Columbia Business
Corporations
the Directors
the non-controlling
interests
having Act,
a deficit
balance. may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that

made to the
financial
statements
of subsidiaries
to bring
their
the record date Where
for the necessary,
purpose of adjustments
determining are
shareholders
entitled
to receive
payment
of the dividend
must
not precede the
accounting policies into line with the Group's accounting policies.

date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to

transactions
between
members
of the Group
are eliminated
in fulloronofconsolidation.
A dividend may be
paid wholly
or partly
by the distribution
of cash,
specific assets
fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group's equity therein.

if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Business
The Company had major
relatedcombination
party transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
On October 24, 2008, the
subsidiary,
Inner Mongolia
Pacific
entered into
a non-exclusive
contract
for the
and
theCompany’s
acquisition-date
fair values
of the assets
transferred
by the
Group, liabilities
incurred
bypurchase
the
to former
owners
of the acquiree
theMongolia
equity interests
issued by thesold
Group
in doré
exchange
sale of doré with CNG Group
(the “2008
Contract”)
pursuant
to whichand
Inner
Pacific occasionally
gold
bars to CNG
for 2011.
control
the acquiree.
Acquisition-related
costs price
are recognized
in profit
or lossonasthe
incurred.
through to December 31,
Theofpricing
was based
on the daily average
of gold ingot
as quoted
Shanghai Gold
Exchange and the dailyAtaverage
price ofdate,
silverthe
as quoted
on identifiable
the Shanghai
Huatong
Platinum
Silver Exchange
prevailing
acquiree's
assets,
liabilities
and&contingent
liabilities
that at the
the acquisition
time of each relevant purchase
duringfor
therecognition
contract period.
January
2012, theat2008
wasexcept
renewed
for another
meet the order
conditions
under On
IFRS
3 are 27,
recognized
theirContract
fair value,
that:
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and
Revenue from sales of gold doré
bars
CNG decreased
US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
IAS
19 to
Employee
Benefits from
respectively;
•

million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree
orinto
share-based
arrangements
the Groupand
entered
into
to replaceamending
shareOn May 29, 2015, the Company
entered
a revisedpayment
continuing
connectedof
transaction
major
transaction
the
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2
Product and Service Framework
Agreement
with
CNG.
According
to
the
amendments,
CNG
purchases
the
copper
concentrates
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and
•

produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time

• reference
assets (or
groups)
that for
are connected
classified astransactions
held for salesetinout
accordance
IFRSand
5 Service
to time by the parties with
to disposal
the pricing
principles
under thewith
Product
Held31,
for2016,
Salerevenue
and Discontinued
are measured
in other products to
Framework Agreement. For theNon-current
year ended Assets
December
from sales Operations
of copper concentrate
and
accordance with that standard.

CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any

non-controlling
in theservices
acquiree,
the fair
value
of provided
the acquirer's
equity
For the year ended December
31, 2016,interests
construction
of and
US$39.6
million
were
to thepreviously
Companyheld
by subsidiaries
of
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling
interests
in the acquiree
and thealso
fairobtains
value of
the acquirer's
In addition to the two aforementioned
major related party
transactions,
the Company
additional
services from related
previously
held including
interest inathe
acquiree
(if any),
the excessentered
is recognized
in profit
parties in its normal course
of business,
Financial
Services
Agreement
on Mayimmediately
29, 2015 among
Inneror
Mongolia
loss as a bargain purchase gain.
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).

Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary's net assets in the event of liquidation may be
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
initially measured either at recognized amounts or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate
The Board of Directors has
given
therecognized
Company approval
reviews
of a number
projectsThe
thatchoice
may qualify
as acquisition
netofassets.
of
share
of the
amounts to
ofconduct
the acquiree's
identifiable
targets through joint venture,
mergerbasis
and/or
outright
The Group did not
have any material acquisition and disposal
measurement
is made
on acquisitions.
a transaction-by-transaction
basis.
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting
period in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
such review will result inwhich
any acquisition
transactions.
the accounting
is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the
measurement period (see above) and additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognized as of that date.

acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
ofSIGNIFICANT
applying the ACCOUNTING
Company’s accounting
policies,
the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
3.
POLICIES
- continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

Revenue
recognition
annual consolidated
financial
statements.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is

Key assumptions reduced
concerning
the future customer
and otherreturns,
key sources
of estimation
uncertainty
at the end of each reporting period that
for estimated
rebates
and other similar
allowances.
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve

Revenue is recognized when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group's activities, as described below.

months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

passed.consolidated
Revenue
from the
of goodsand
is recognized
whenare
theoutlined
goods are
haveannual
A summary of new
and revised
IFRSsale
standards
interpretations
in delivered
Note 2 ofand
thetitles
audited
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying amount on
FINANCIALreceipts
INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
initial recognition.

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts

Foreign
currencies
receivable, accounts
payable,
cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
on the balance sheet.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of
The Company didexchanges
not have any
financial
outstanding
hedging
contracts
as at
December
31, 2016.
prevailing
onderivatives
the dates oforthe
transactions.
At the
end of the
reporting
period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
OFF-BALANCE
SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
not retranslated.
As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has
notthe
paid
any dividends
since the
incorporation
andfinancial
does notstatements,
currently have
a fixed
dividend
policy.
For
purposes
of presenting
consolidated
the assets
and
liabilities
of The Board of

the Group's
foreign
operations
areon
translated
presentation
currency
of the of
Group
Directors will determine
any future
dividend
policy
the basisinto
of, the
among
others things,
the results
operations, cash flows and
(i.e. US$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period and their income
and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
Canada and Hong
Kong andarising,
at bothifthe
TSXare
and
HKSE, andinthe
amount
of distributable
profits
other relevant
differences
any,
recognized
other
comprehensive
income
andand
accumulated
in factors.
equity (exchange reserve).

financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both

Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of

Borrowing costs

such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
the record date Borrowing
for the purpose
determining
shareholders
entitled to receive
payment
of the dividend
must not precede the
costsofdirectly
attributable
to the acquisition,
construction
or production
of qualifying

assets,
which
arebeassets
necessarily
take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their
date on which the
dividend
is to
paid that
by more
than two
months.

intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
or other securitiesthe
of borrowing
the Company,
in any one
more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
costsoreligible
for or
capitalization.
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Taxation
The Company had major
related party transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The
tax currently
payableInner
is based
on taxable
for into
the year.
Taxable profit
differs
frompurchase and
On October 24, 2008, the
Company’s
subsidiary,
Mongolia
Pacificprofit
entered
a non-exclusive
contract
for the

'profit before income tax' as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
through to December 31,
was taxable
based on
daily average
price ofliability
gold ingot
quoted
the Shanghai Gold
and2011.
itemsThe
thatpricing
are never
or the
deductible.
The Group's
for as
current
taxon
is calculated
tax rates
have as
been
enacted
or substantively
enacted
by the end
of the
reporting
period. at the
Exchange and the dailyusing
average
pricethat
of silver
quoted
on the
Shanghai Huatong
Platinum
& Silver
Exchange
prevailing

sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG

time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and

three years ending December
31,in2014
subsequently
on June
30, 2014 and
for the
of January
2015 used
to December
liabilities
the and
consolidated
financial
statements
the period
corresponding
tax1,bases
in the 31, 2017.

computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable
temporary
differences.
Deferred tax
assets
are generally
for allDecember
deductible31,
temporary
Revenue from sales of gold
doré bars
to CNG decreased
from
US$233.8
million forrecognized
the year ended
2015 to US$227.6
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
million for the year ended
December
31,temporary
2016.
those
deductible
differences can be utilized. Such deferred assets and liabilities are not
recognized if the temporary differences arise from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination)
of other
and continuing
liabilities inconnected
a transaction
that affects
taxable profit
On May 29, 2015, the Company
entered
into assets
a revised
transaction
andneither
major the
transaction
amending the
nor accounting profit.

Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates

taxquantity
liabilities
recognized
for taxable
temporary
differences
with
produced at the JiamaDeferred
Mine. The
of are
copper
concentrates,
pricing
terms and
paymentassociated
terms be established
from time

investments
in to
subsidiaries,
where
Group istransactions
able to control
ofProduct
the
to time by the parties with
reference
the pricingexcept
principles
for the
connected
set the
out reversal
under the
and Service
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the

Framework Agreement.foreseeable
For the yearfuture.
ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be
For the year ended December
2016, construction
services
million
were of
provided
to the Company
subsidiaries
of
sufficient31,taxable
profits against
whichoftoUS$39.6
utilize the
benefits
the temporary
differencebyand
they
CNG (US$140.8 million for
year ended
December
2015). future.
arethe
expected
to reverse
in the 31,
foreseeable
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and

In addition to the two aforementioned
major related
transactions,
the
Company
also
obtains
additional
services
fromtorelated
reduced to the extent
that it isparty
no longer
probable
that
sufficient
taxable
profits
will be
available

parties in its normal course
business,
a Financial
Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
allowofall
or part including
of the asset
to be recovered.
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

PROPOSED

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realized, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
TRANSACTIONS

The Board of Directors has
the Company
approval
conduct and
reviews
of areflects
number
oftax
projects
that may that
qualify
as acquisition
Thegiven
measurement
of deferred
taxtoliabilities
assets
the
consequences
would

targets through joint venture,
outright
acquisitions.
Groupatdid
any
materialperiod,
acquisition
and disposal
follow merger
from theand/or
manner
in which
the GroupThe
expects,
thenot
endhave
of the
reporting
to recover

or settle the
carryinginamount
of its
assetsDecember
and liabilities.
of subsidiaries and associated
companies
the year
ended
31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including
Jinfeng
Mine
by CNG
in September
2016. However,
there to
can
be no
that
Currentthe
and
deferred
taxacquired
is recognized
in profit
or loss, except
when it relates
items
thatassurances
are
such review will result inrecognized
any acquisition
transactions.
in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and

deferred tax are also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination,
the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net
basis.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
ofSIGNIFICANT
applying the ACCOUNTING
Company’s accounting
policies,
the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
3.
POLICIES
- continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

Government
annual consolidated
financial grants
statements.

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will

Key assumptions comply
concerning
and other
key sources
estimation
uncertainty
at received.
the end of each reporting period that
withthe
thefuture
conditions
attaching
to themofand
that the grants
will be
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve

Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which
the Group recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to
compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
construct or otherwise
acquire non-current assets are recognized as deferred income in
CHANGE INpurchase,
ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
the
consolidated
statement
of
financial
position andare
transferred
a systematic
A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations
outlined to
in profit
Note or
2 ofloss
theonaudited
annual consolidated
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
FINANCIALfor
INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts

The benefit
of cash
a government
loan
a below-market
rateare
of interest
is at
treated
a government
receivable, accounts
payable,
and loans.
Theatfinancial
instruments
recorded
eitherasfair
values or amortized amount
grant, measured as the difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based
on the balance sheet.
on prevailing market interest rates.

The Company didRetirement
not have any
financial
benefit
costsderivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit scheme are recognized as an expense when
OFF-BALANCE
SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Cash and cash equivalents

DIVIDEND AND
DIVIDEND
POLICY
Cash and
cash equivalents
comprise cash at banks and on hand, and short-term deposits with an

The Company has
not paid
any dividends
incorporation
andare
does
not currently
have
dividend
policy.
original
maturity
of three since
months
or less, which
readily
convertible
intoa afixed
known
amount
of The Board of

cash. any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
Directors will determine
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both

Prepaid lease payments

Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.

Prepaid lease payments representing land use rights in the PRC are stated at cost and amortized on
a straight-line
basis over
the lease terms.
Prepaid
leasemay
payments
which
are to
be amortized
in the payment of
Subject to the British
Columbia Business
Corporations
Act, the
Directors
from time
to time
declare
and authorize
next twelve months or less are classified as current assets.
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that

the record date Inventories
for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs of inventories are
determined on weighted average cost method. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
or other securitiesnecessary
of the Company,
any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
to make or
theinsale.
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Inventories
- continued
The Company had major
related party
transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

Gold in process inventory

On October 24, 2008, the
Company’s
subsidiary,
Mongolia
Pacific
entered
a non-exclusive
contract
for the purchase and
Gold
in process
inventoryInner
consists
of gold
contained
in into
the ore
on leach pads
and in-circuit

within
processing
operations.
bar is gold
awaiting
refinement
and gold
sale of doré with CNG material
(the “2008
Contract”)
pursuant
to whichGold
Innerdoré
Mongolia
Pacific
occasionally
sold gold
dorérefined
bars to CNG
and2011.
readyThe
forpricing
sales. was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold
through to December 31,
Exchange and the dailyProduction
average price
as quoted
the Shanghai
Platinum
& Silver
Exchange
prevailing at the
costsofaresilver
capitalized
andonincluded
in goldHuatong
in process
inventory
based
on the current

time of each relevant purchase
order
during thecost
contract
period.
27, 2012,
2008 Contract
renewed
another
mining and
processing
incurred
up toOn
theJanuary
point prior
to thethe
refining
process was
including
the for
cost

allocated 31, 2017.
of raw materials
andsubsequently
direct labour;onmine-site
expenses;
three years ending December
31, 2014 and
June 30, overhead
2014 for the
period ofstripping
Januarycosts;
1, 2015and
to December
indirect costs, including depreciation and depletion of mining interests.

Revenue from sales of gold
CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
Golddoré
dorébars
barstoinventory
million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

The recovery of gold from ore is achieved through a heap leaching process. Under this method,
ore is placed on leach pads where it is treated with a chemical solution which dissolves the gold
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
contained in the ore. The resulting "pregnant" solution is further processed in a plant where the
Product and Service Framework
Agreement
withare
CNG.
According recycled
to the amendments,
the copper
gold is recovered.
Costs
subsequently
from ore on CNG
leachpurchases
pads as ounces
of goldconcentrates
are
on the
average concentrates,
cost per recoverable
leach pad.
Estimates
of
produced at the Jiamarecovered
Mine. Thebased
quantity
of copper
pricing ounce
terms on
andthe
payment
terms
be established
from time
recoverable
gold
leachprinciples
pads are calculated
fromtransactions
the quantities
oreunder
placed
the leach
to time by the parties with
reference
to on
thethe
pricing
for connected
setofout
theonProduct
and Service
pads (measured in tonnes added to the leach pads), the grade of the ore placed on the leach pads
Framework Agreement.(based
For theonyear
ended
December
31, 2016,
revenue (based
from sales
of copper
assay
data),
and a recovery
percentage
on ore
type). concentrate and other products to
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.

Copper inventory is copper concentrate after metallurgical processing and ready for sales.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of

Consumables used in operations, such as fuel, chemicals, and reagents and spare parts inventory

CNG (US$140.8 million for
year at
ended
December
arethe
valued
the lower
of cost31,
or 2015).
net realizable value.

Property, plant major
and equipment
In addition to the two aforementioned
related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia

General

Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation, depletion and
impairment charges.

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

The Board of Directors has
theproperty,
Company
approval
to conduct
of a number
of projects
may
An given
item of
plant
and equipment
is reviews
derecognized
upon disposal
orthat
when
no qualify
future as acquisition

economic
benefits
are outright
expectedacquisitions.
to arise from
continued
usehave
of the
asset.
Anyacquisition
gain or lossand disposal
targets through joint venture,
merger
and/or
Thethe
Group
did not
any
material
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized
acquisition targets, including
theorJinfeng
in profit
loss. Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that

of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.

Expenditures incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is
accounted for separately, including major inspection and overhaul expenditures, are capitalized
and the carrying amount of the component being replaced is derecognized. Directly attributable
costs incurred for major capital projects and site preparation are capitalized until the asset is
brought to a working condition for its intended use. These costs include dismantling and site
restoration costs to the extent these are recognized as a provision.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
ofSIGNIFICANT
applying the ACCOUNTING
Company’s accounting
policies,
the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
3.
POLICIES
- continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

Property,
plant
and equipment - continued
annual consolidated
financial
statements.
General - continued

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that

The
the Group
(the "Management")
reviews
the estimated
useful
lives, residual
have a significant
riskManagement
of causing aofmaterial
adjustment
to the carrying
amounts
of assets and
liabilities
within the next twelve
values and depreciation methods of the Group's property, plant and equipment at the end of each
reporting period and when events and circumstances indicate that such a review should be made.
Changes to estimated useful lives, residual values or depreciation methods resulting from such
are accounted for prospectively.
INreview
ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

CHANGE

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated

All direct costs related to the acquisition of mineral assets are capitalized, at their cost at the date
of acquisition.

financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

and evaluation expenditure
FINANCIALExploration
INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

The Company holds
a number
of financial
the most
significant
of which
accounts
Drilling
and related
costs instruments,
incurred on sites
without
an existing
mineare
andavailable-for-sale
on areas outsideinvestments,
the

boundary
of a known
mineral
which instruments
contains proven
and probable
reserves
are or amortized amount
receivable, accounts
payable,
cash and
loans.deposit
The financial
are recorded
at either
fair values
exploration and evaluation expenditure and are expensed as incurred up to the date on which costs
on the balance sheet.
incurred are economically recoverable. Further exploration and evaluation expenditures,
subsequent to the establishment of economic recoverability, are capitalized and included in the
The Company didcarrying
not have
any financial
derivatives
or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.
amount
of the mineral
assets.
Management evaluates the following criteria in its assessment of economic recoverability and
OFF-BALANCE
SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
probability of future economic benefit:
As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Geology - whether or not there is sufficient geologic and economic certainty of being able
to convert a residual mineral deposit into a proven and probable reserve at a development
DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND
POLICY
stage or production stage mine, based on the known geology and metallurgy. A history of
The Company has not paid
any
dividends
since incorporation
does not
currently
havethe
a fixed
dividend
conversion of resources
to reserves at and
operating
mines
to support
likelihood
of policy. The Board of
conversion.
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
•

financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both

Scoping - there is a scoping study or preliminary feasibility study that demonstrates the
additional resources will generate a positive commercial outcome. Known metallurgy
provides a basis for concluding there is a significant likelihood of being able to recoup the
incremental
costs
of extraction
Subject to the British Columbia
Business
Corporations
Act,and
theproduction.
Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
•

Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.

such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that

•

Accessible facilities - mining property can be processed economically at accessible mining
and processing facilities where applicable.

the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.

•

Life of mine plans - an overall life of mine plan and economic model to support the mine

the or
economic
of resources/reserves
A of
long-term
of mine
A dividend may be paidand
wholly
partly byextraction
the distribution
of cash, specificexists.
assets or
fully paidlife
shares
or ofplan,
bonds, debentures
and supporting geological model identifies the drilling and related development work
required to expand or further define the existing orebody.

or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the

•
Company insolvent.

Authorizations - operating permits and feasible environmental programs exist or are
obtainable.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

plant transactions
and equipment
continued
The Company had majorProperty,
related party
with- the
following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

Exploration and evaluation expenditure - continued

On October 24, 2008, theTherefore
Company’s
subsidiary,
Inner Mongolia
Pacific
entered
a non-exclusive
contractdetermines
for the purchase
prior
to capitalizing
exploration
drilling
and into
related
costs, Management
that and

the following
conditions
have been
met that
contribute
to future
cash flows:
sale of doré with CNG (the
“2008 Contract”)
pursuant
to which
Innerwill
Mongolia
Pacific
occasionally
sold gold doré bars to CNG
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold

•
There is a probable future benefit that will contribute to future cash inflows;
•
The Group can obtain the benefit and controls access to it;
time of each relevant purchase
order
during theor
contract
period.rise
Onto
January
27, 2012,
thehas
2008
Contract
was renewed
•
The
transaction
event giving
the future
benefit
already
occurred;
and for another
three years ending December
31,
2014incurred
and subsequently
on Junereliably.
30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.
•
Costs
can be measured
Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the

Development expenditure

Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
million for the year ended
December
31, 2016.
Drilling
and related
costs incurred to define and delineate a mineral deposit are capitalized as part

of mineral assets in the period incurred, when Management determines that there is sufficient
evidence entered
that the expenditure
will
result in aconnected
probable future
economic
to the Group.
On May 29, 2015, the Company
into a revised
continuing
transaction
and benefit
major transaction
amending the
Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates

Production expenditure

produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time

Capitalization
ofthe
costs
incurred
ceasesfor
when
the related
mining property
reached
the condition
to time by the parties with
reference to
pricing
principles
connected
transactions
set out has
under
the Product
and Service
therefore,
such to
forended
it to beDecember
capable of31,
operating
in the from
manner
intended
by Management,
Framework Agreement. necessary
For the year
2016, revenue
sales
of copper
concentrate and
other products
costs incurred are capitalized as part of the mineral assets and the proceeds from sales prior to

CNG was US$59.8 million,
compared to US$21.0
million
for the
same
period in 2015.
commissioning
are offset
against
costs
capitalized.

Mine development
costs incurred
to maintain
current
are included
in cost ofby subsidiaries of
For the year ended December
31, 2016, construction
services
of US$39.6
millionproduction
were provided
to the Company
inventories. For those areas being developed which will be mined in future periods, the costs
incurred are capitalized and depleted when the related mining area is mined.

CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).

In addition to the two aforementioned
Depreciation major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia

Mineral assets are depreciated using the unit-of-production method based on the actual production
volume over the estimated total recoverable ounces contained in proven and probable reserves at
the related mine when the production level achieved designed production volume intended by
Management.
TRANSACTIONS

Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

PROPOSED

The Board of Directors has
given the Company
approval
to conduct
reviews of ounces
a number
of projects
that may
qualify
as acquisition
Management
reviews the
estimated
total recoverable
contained
in proven
and
probable

targets through joint venture,
merger
acquisitions.
not and
havecircumstances
any material acquisition
disposal
reserves
at theand/or
end of outright
each reporting
periodThe
andGroup
whendid
events
indicate thatand
such

a reviewcompanies
should be made.
Changes
to estimated
ounces contained
proven
of subsidiaries and associated
in the year
ended
Decembertotal
31, recoverable
2016. The Company
continuesinto
reviewand
possible
probable reserves are accounted for prospectively.

acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in Assets
any acquisition
transactions.
under construction
are not depreciated until they are substantially complete and available

for their intended use.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated
useful lives of the assets.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
ofSIGNIFICANT
applying the Company’s
accounting
policies,
the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
3.
ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
- continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

Mining
rightsstatements.
annual consolidated
financial

Mining rights are depreciated using the unit-of-production method based on the actual production

Key assumptions concerning
and other
key sources of
estimation
uncertainty
at the
of each
reporting
volume overthe
thefuture
estimated
total recoverable
ounces
contained
in proven
andend
probable
reserves
at period that

mine.a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
have a significantthe
riskrelated
of causing
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Mining rights acquired in a business combination

rights acquired inPOLICIES
a business combination are recognized separately from goodwill and are
CHANGE INMining
ACCOUNTING

initially
recognized
at their fairand
value
at the acquisition
date (which
is regarded
their cost).
A summary of new
and revised
IFRS standards
interpretations
are outlined
in Note
2 of theasaudited
annual consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

Subsequent to initial recognition, mining rights with finite useful lives are carried at costs less
accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is provided
the unit of production method based on the actual production volume over the estimated
FINANCIAL using
INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
total proven and probable reserves of the ore mines.

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts

Impairment
tangible
mining rights
receivable, accounts
payable,ofcash
and assets
loans. and
The financial
instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
on the balance sheet.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets
and mining rights to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
The Company didimpairment
not have any
financial
or outstanding
contracts
as at
2016. in
loss.
If anyderivatives
such indication
exists, thehedging
recoverable
amount
of December
the asset is31,
estimated
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
OFF-BALANCE
SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
As at December 31,
2016, thecan
Company
had not
enteredassets
into any
sheet
arrangements.
allocation
be identified,
corporate
areoff-balance
also allocated
to individual
cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company hasRecoverable
not paid anyamount
dividends
since
incorporation
and
does
notofcurrently
a fixedindividend
is the
higher
of fair value
less
costs
disposalhave
and value
use. In policy. The Board of

assessing
use, the policy
estimated
future
cash
discounted
present
value using
Directors will determine
anyvalue
futureindividend
on the
basis
of, flows
amongare
others
things, to
thetheir
results
of operations,
cash flows and
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying
amount,
the carrying
amount
theDirectors
asset (ormay
a cash-generating
unit)declare
is reduced
its
Subject to the British
Columbia
Business
Corporations
Act,ofthe
from time to time
and to
authorize
payment of
recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a prothe record date for
purpose
entitled
payment
of the dividend
not precede the
ratathe
basis
basedofondetermining
the carryingshareholders
amount of each
assettoinreceive
the unit.
The carrying
amount ofmust
an asset
not reduced
thebyhighest
of itstwo
fairmonths.
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
date on which theisdividend
is to below
be paid
more than
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets

Where grounds
an impairment
loss subsequently
reverses,is the
carrying
amount
of theofasset
a cash-would render the
if there are reasonable
for believing
that the Company
insolvent
or the
payment
the (or
dividend
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
Company insolvent.

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal
of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
OUTSTANDING
SHARES
As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Financial
The Company had major
related instruments
party transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial
position when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
On October 24, 2008, the
Company’s
subsidiary,
Inner liabilities
Mongolia Pacific
entered
into a non-exclusive
for the
purchase
Financial
assets
and financial
are initially
measured
at fair value. contract
Transaction
costs
that and
attributablepursuant
to the acquisition
or issue
of financial
and financial
liabilities
sale of doré with CNG are
(thedirectly
“2008 Contract”)
to which Inner
Mongolia
Pacificassets
occasionally
sold gold
doré (other
bars to CNG
than2011.
financial
assets was
or financial
liabilities
fair value
through
profit
or as
loss)
are added
or
through to December 31,
The pricing
based on
the dailyataverage
price
of gold
ingot
quoted
on thetoShanghai
Gold
deducted from the fair value of financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
Exchange and the dailyrecognition.
average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another

Financial
three years ending December
31, assets
2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.
Financial assets are classified as available-for-sale ("AFS") financial assets and loans and

Revenue from sales of gold
doré barsThe
to CNG
decreased
from US$233.8
millionand
for the
year of
ended
December
31, 2015
receivables.
classification
depends
on the nature
purpose
the financial
assets
and isto US$227.6
million for the year ended
December
31, 2016.
determined
at the
time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
Product and Service Framework
Agreement
CNG.
to the amendments,
CNGcost
purchases
theinstrument
copper concentrates
and
The effective
interest with
method
is According
a method calculating
the amortized
of a debt

allocating
interest of
income
over
the relevant pricing
period.terms
The effective
interest
ratebe
is established
the rate thatfrom time
produced at the JiamaofMine.
The quantity
copper
concentrates,
and payment
terms

exactly
discounts
estimated
cashfor
receipts
(including
all fees set
andout
points
paid
receivedand
thatService
to time by the parties with
reference
to the
pricingfuture
principles
connected
transactions
under
theorProduct
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or

Framework Agreement.discounts)
For the year
endedthe
December
31, instrument
2016, revenue
from sales
of coppera concentrate
other
through
life of debt
or, where
appropriate,
shorter periodand
to the
netproducts to
CNG was US$59.8 million,
compared
to US$21.0
million
for the same period in 2015.
carrying
amount
on initial
recognition.

interest
basis
forprovided
debt instruments.
Interest income
recognized on
an effective
For the year ended December
31, 2016,isconstruction
services
of US$39.6
million
were
to the Company by subsidiaries of
CNG (US$140.8 million for
the year
ended December 31, 2015).
Loans
and receivables

Loans and receivables
are non-derivative
financial
withalso
fixed
or determinable
payments
In addition to the two aforementioned
major related
party transactions,
the assets
Company
obtains
additional services
from related
that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for those with
maturities greater than twelve months or those that are expected to be settled after twelve months
Pacific, Huatailong andfrom
China
theGold
end Finance.
of the reporting period, which are classified as non-current assets. Assets in this
category include "cash and cash equivalents", "restricted bank balance" and "trade and other
receivables".

parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

The Board of Directors has
given
Company are
approval
to recognized
conduct reviews
a number
of projects that
as acquisition
Loans
andthe
receivables
initially
at fairofvalue
plus transaction
costsmay
andqualify
subsequently

carried merger
at amortized
usingacquisitions.
the effectiveThe
interest
for short-term
receivables
targets through joint venture,
and/orcost
outright
Groupmethod,
did notexcept
have any
material acquisition
and disposal
when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
ofSIGNIFICANT
applying the ACCOUNTING
Company’s accounting
policies,
the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
3.
POLICIES
- continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

Financial
instruments
- continued
annual consolidated
financial
statements.
Financial assets - continued

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that

AFS
assets
have a significant
riskfinancial
of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as available-for-sale or are not
classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at
value through profit orPOLICIES
loss. Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as AFS
CHANGE INfairACCOUNTING
financial
assets
and
are
traded
an interpretations
active market are
at fair
theaudited
end of each
A summary of new and revised IFRS standards in
and
aremeasured
outlined in
Notevalue
2 of at
the
annual consolidated
reporting period. Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary financial assets relating to
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
changes in foreign exchange rates are recognized in profit or loss. Dividends on AFS equity
investments are recognized in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is
Other changes in the carrying amount of AFS financial assets are recognized in other
FINANCIALestablished.
INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation reserve.
The Company holds
a number
of financial
instruments,
most significant
which are
accounts
or loss
When
the investment
is disposed
of orthe
is determined
to beofimpaired,
theavailable-for-sale
cumulative gain investments,
previously
accumulated
the investment
revaluation
is reclassified
to profit
or loss
receivable, accounts
payable,
cash and in
loans.
The financial
instrumentsreserve
are recorded
at either
fair values
or (see
amortized amount
the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).
on the balance sheet.
AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair

The Company didvalue
not have
anybefinancial
or outstanding
contracts
as at
December
31,by
2016.
cannot
reliably derivatives
measured and
derivatives hedging
that are linked
to and
must
be settled

delivery of such unquoted equity investments are measured at cost less any identified impairment
losses at the end of each reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss
OFF-BALANCE
SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
on financial assets below).
As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Impairment of financial assets

DIVIDEND AND
DIVIDEND
POLICY
Financial
assets are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period.

The Company has
not paidassets
any dividends
since incorporation
does
notiscurrently
have
a fixedthat,
dividend
policy.
Financial
are considered
to be impairedand
when
there
objective
evidence
as a result
of The Board of

one or more
eventsdividend
that occurred
thebasis
initial
of the
financial
asset,ofthe
estimatedcash flows and
Directors will determine
any future
policy after
on the
of,recognition
among others
things,
the results
operations,
future cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada and Hong
at both
the TSX and
HKSE, andor
theprolonged
amount of
distributable
profits
andofother
relevant factors.
ForKong
AFSand
equity
investments,
a significant
decline
in the fair
value
the security

below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of

For loans and receivables, objective evidence of impairment could include:

such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
the record date •for the purpose
of financial
determining
shareholders
receive payment
significant
difficulty
of the entitled
issuer ortocounterparty;
or of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the
is toofbecontract,
paid by more
than
two months.
• dividend
breach
such as
a default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

•

it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization.

A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures

For certain categorizes of financial assets, such as trade receivables (included in trade and other

or other securitiesreceivable),
of the Company,
or in any
or more of
ways. No basis.
dividend
may be evidence
declaredof
or paid in money or assets
are assessed
forone
impairment
onthose
an individual
Objective
if there are reasonable
grounds
for receivables
believing that
theinclude
Company
insolvent
the payment
of the dividend
would render the
impairment
for the
could
the isGroup's
pastorexperience
of collecting
payments,

an increase in the number of delayed payments past the average credit period of 180 days,
Company insolvent.
observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Financial
- continued
The Company had major
related instruments
party transactions
with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

Financial assets - continued

On October 24, 2008, the
Company’s
Inner Mongolia
Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and
Impairment
ofsubsidiary,
financial assets
- continued

sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG

For2011.
financial
assets carried
at amortized
cost,average
the amount
impairment
loss recognized
is the Gold
through to December 31,
The pricing
was based
on the daily
priceofofthe
gold
ingot as quoted
on the Shanghai
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash

Exchange and the dailyflows,
average
price ofatsilver
as quotedasset's
on theoriginal
Shanghai
Huatong
Platinum
discounted
the financial
effective
interest
rate.& Silver Exchange prevailing at the

time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another

For financial
assets
at cost,onthe
amount
of the
is measured
the
three years ending December
31, 2014
and carried
subsequently
June
30, 2014
for impairment
the period ofloss
January
1, 2015 as
to December
31, 2017.
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
Revenue from sales of gold
doré bars
towill
CNGnot
decreased
from
million
for the
year
December
2015 to US$227.6
impairment
loss
be reversed
inUS$233.8
subsequent
periods
(see
theended
accounting
policy31,
below).
million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all
financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
Product and Service Framework
Agreement
with
to the
amendments,
CNG
purchases uncollectible,
the copper concentrates
account are
recognized
in CNG.
profit According
or loss. When
a trade
receivable
is considered
it is
account. Subsequent
recoveries
of amounts
writtenfrom time
produced at the Jiamawritten
Mine. off
The against
quantitythe
ofallowance
copper concentrates,
pricing terms
and payment
termspreviously
be established
off are
creditedtotothe
profit
or loss.
to time by the parties with
reference
pricing
principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
Framework Agreement.For
For financial
the year assets
endedmeasured
Decemberat31,
2016, revenue
of copper
concentrate
andof
other
amortized
cost, if,from
in asales
subsequent
period,
the amount
the products to
CNG was US$59.8 million,
comparedloss
to US$21.0
million
same period
2015. objectively to an event occurring after
impairment
decreases
and for
thethe
decrease
can be in
related

the impairment losses were recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed
to the extent
thatof
theUS$39.6
carrying
amount
the assettoat the
the Company
date the impairment
through 31,
profit
or loss
For the year ended December
2016,
construction
services
million
wereofprovided
by subsidiaries of
is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not
CNG (US$140.8 million for
therecognized.
year ended December 31, 2015).
been
When an AFS financial
asset party
is considered
to bethe
impaired,
cumulative
gains
or lossesservices
previously
In addition to the two aforementioned
major related
transactions,
Company
also obtains
additional
from related
recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period in which
the impairment takes place.

parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment losses previously recognized in profit or loss
are not reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
loss is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of
The Board of Directors has
given therevaluation
Company approval
investment
reserve. to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal

Derecognition of financial assets

of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including
the assets
Jinfeng
acquired by
CNG
September
2016.cash
However,
therethe
canassets
be noexpire.
assurances
Financial
areMine
derecognized
when
theinrights
to receive
flows from
On that
such review will result inderecognition
any acquisition
of transactions.
a financial asset, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum

of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulated gain or loss that had been
recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity in recognized in profit or
loss.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
ofSIGNIFICANT
applying the ACCOUNTING
Company’s accounting
policies,
the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
3.
POLICIES
- continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

Financial
instruments
- continued
annual consolidated
financial
statements.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that

Debt
equity instruments
issued by a to
group
areamounts
classifiedofasassets
eitherand
financial
liabilities
or next twelve
have a significant
risk and
of causing
a material adjustment
the entity
carrying
liabilities
within the
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

instrument
CHANGE INEquity
ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognized at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Equity instruments issued in a business
combination are recorded at their fair value at the acquisition date.

financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

The Company holds
a number
of financial
instruments,
Financial
liabilities
at amortized
cost the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts

receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount

Financial liabilities, including borrowings, entrusted loan payable, bills payable and accounts and
on the balance sheet.
other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

Effective interest method

OFF-BALANCE
SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability
As at December and
31, 2016,
the Company
had
not entered
any off-balance
sheeteffective
arrangements.
of allocating
interest
expenses
over into
the relevant
period. The
interest rate is the rate

DIVIDEND

that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
AND
POLICY
InterestDIVIDEND
expense is recognized
on an effective interest basis.

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of

Derecognition
of financial
liabilities
Directors will determine
any future
dividend policy
on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both

For financial liabilities, they are derecognized only when the Group's obligation specified in the

Canada and Hong
Kong and
at both
the TSX andcancelled
HKSE, andorthe
amount
of distributable
profits
and other
relevant factors.
relevant
contract
is discharged,
have
expired.
The difference
between
the carrying

amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is
recognized
in profit
or Corporations
loss.
Subject to the British
Columbia
Business
Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that

Environmental rehabilitation

the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the

Andividend
obligation
incur
rehabilitation
date on which the
is totobe
paidrestoration,
by more than
two months.and environmental costs arises when

environmental disturbance is caused by the development or ongoing production of a mining
property. Such costs arising from the decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work,
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
discounted to their net present value, are provided for and capitalized as part of the related
or other securitiesproperty,
of the Company,
in any oneatorthe
more
No as
dividend
declared
paidsuch
in money or assets
plant andorequipment
startofofthose
eachways.
project,
soon asmay
the be
obligation
toorincur
costs arises.
These
costs are recognized
in profit isorinsolvent
loss overorthe
of the operation,
throughwould render the
if there are reasonable
grounds
for believing
that the Company
thelife
payment
of the dividend
depreciation of the asset. Costs for restoration of subsequent site damage which is created on an
Company insolvent.
ongoing basis during production are recognized in profit or loss.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Environmental
- continued
The Company had major
related party rehabilitation
transactions with
the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

Changes in the measurement of a liability relating to the decommissioning of plant or other site
preparation work that result from changes in the estimated timing or amount of the cash flow,
On October 24, 2008, the
Company’s
subsidiary,
Inner Mongolia
Pacific entered
into a
non-exclusive
purchase and
including
the effects
of inflation
and movements
in foreign
exchange
rates, contract
revisionsfor
tothe
estimated
andpursuant
lives of operations,
or aMongolia
change inPacific
the discount
rate, are
added
or bars to CNG
sale of doré with CNG reserves,
(the “2008resources
Contract”)
to which Inner
occasionally
sold
goldto,
doré
deducted
from,
the cost
the related
the period
it occurred.
Theasperiodic
of
through to December 31,
2011. The
pricing
wasof
based
on theasset
daily in
average
price
of gold ingot
quoted unwinding
on the Shanghai
Gold
discount is recognized in profit or loss as a finance cost as it occurs. If a decrease in the liability
Exchange and the dailyexceeds
average
price
of
silver
as
quoted
on
the
Shanghai
Huatong
Platinum
&
Silver
Exchange
prevailing
at
the carrying amount of the asset, the excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss. If the
time of each relevant purchase
the contract
period.
January that
27, 2012,
the 2008carrying
Contract
was is
renewed
for another
the asset order
valueduring
is increased
and there
is anOn
indication
the revised
value
not
recoverable,
an and
impairment
test ison
performed
in accordance
withof
theJanuary
Group's1, accounting
policy. 31, 2017.
three years ending December
31, 2014
subsequently
June 30, 2014
for the period
2015 to December
Leasing

Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
million for the year ended
December
31, 2016.
Leases
are classified
as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the

risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease

Product and Service Framework
Agreement
with CNG.
According
amendments,
CNGofpurchases
the copper
concentrates
term, except
where another
systematic
basistoisthe
more
representative
the time pattern
in which

the leased
asset are consumed.
produced at the Jiamaeconomic
Mine. Thebenefits
quantityfrom
of copper
concentrates,
pricing terms and payment terms be established from time

to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service

Leasehold land and building

Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to
CNG was US$59.8 million,
compared
US$21.0both
million
forand
thebuilding
same period
in 2015.
When
a lease to
includes
land
elements,
the Group assesses the classification of

each element as a finance or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially
all the
risks and rewards
ownership
of each element
have beenby subsidiaries of
For the year ended December 31, 2016,
construction
services incidental
of US$39.6 to
million
were provided
to the Company
transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in which case
CNG (US$140.8 million for
yearlease
ended
Decemberas31,
thethe
entire
is classified
an2015).
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the building
elements in proportion
to the party
relative
fair valuesthe
of the
leasehold
in the landservices
elementfrom
and related
In addition to the two aforementioned
major related
transactions,
Company
alsointerests
obtains additional
building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong andTo
China
Gold Finance.
the extent
the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land

PROPOSED

that is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as "prepaid lease payments" in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortized over the lease term on a straight-line
TRANSACTIONS
basis.

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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In the process
ofKEY
applying
the Company’s
accounting
policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
4.
SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the Group are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
arefuture
based and
on historical
other factors
that are
considered
to be reporting period that
Key assumptions assumptions
concerning the
other keyexperience
sources of and
estimation
uncertainty
at the
end of each
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
annual consolidated financial statements.

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
months are described
in Note 4 and
of the
audited annual
consolidated
financial
the year
ended to
December 31, 2016.
The estimates
underlying
assumptions
are reviewed
on statements
an on-goingforbasis.
Revisions

CHANGE

accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
INaffects
ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
both
current and future periods.

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated

Theas
following
are the
assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
financial statements
at December
31,key
2016.

uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

FINANCIAL(a)INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
Impairment of mining rights and property, plant and equipment

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts

While assessing
anyfinancial
indications
of impairment
exist for
rights
andor amortized amount
receivable, accounts payable,
cash and whether
loans. The
instruments
are recorded
at mining
either fair
values
on the balance sheet. property, plant and equipment, consideration is given to both external and internal sources

of information. Information the Group considers includes changes in the market,
economic and legal environment in which the Group operates that are not within its
control
affectderivatives
the recoverable
amounts hedging
of the mining
rights
property, plant
and
The Company did not have
any and
financial
or outstanding
contracts
as and
at December
31, 2016.
equipment. Internal sources of information includes the manner in which the mining
rights and property, plant and equipment are being used or are expected to be used and
OFF-BALANCE SHEET
ARRANGEMENTS
indications
of economic performance of the assets and operating results. The carrying
amounts
of mining
and property,
and equipment
are reviewed for impairment
As at December 31, 2016, the Company
hadrights
not entered
into anyplant
off-balance
sheet arrangements.
in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets whenever certain events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Group's two
cash-generating POLICY
units ("CGUs") for impairment assessment of mining rights and related
DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND
property, plant and equipment are two significant mine sites which are principal producing
The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
gold and copper mines.

Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and

When an
impairment
review is undertaken,
assessed by
reference
to
financial conditions, operating
and
capital requirements,
the rules recoverable
promulgatedamount
by the isregulators
affecting
dividends
in both

the higher of 1) value in use and 2) fair value less costs to disposal ("FVLCD"). The best
evidence of FVLCD is the value obtained from an active market or binding sale
agreement. Where neither exists, FVLCD is based on the best information available to
reflect Business
the amount
the GroupAct,
could
formay
the CGU
in antoarm's
transaction.
Subject to the British Columbia
Corporations
thereceive
Directors
from time
timelength
declare
and authorize payment of
This is often estimated using discounted cash flow techniques. In determining the
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
recoverable amounts of the Group's mining rights and property, plant and equipment, the
the record date for the purpose
of determining
shareholders
entitled
to on
receive
payment
of theestimates
dividendof
must
Group estimates
the recoverable
amount
based
FVLCD
and makes
the not precede the
discounted
cash two
flows
expected to be derived from the Group's CGUs, costs
date on which the dividend
is to be future
paid bypre-tax
more than
months.
to sell the mining properties and the appropriate discount rate. The key assumptions used
in estimating the projected cash flows are metal selling price, recoverable reserves,
A dividend may be paidresources,
wholly or partly
by the distribution
of production
cash, specific
or of fully
paid
shares orcosts,
of bonds, debentures
and exploration
potential,
costassets
estimates,
future
operating
discount
rates
and
exchange
rates.
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.

if there are reasonable grounds
for in
believing
that forecasts,
the Company
is insolvent
or the future
payment
dividend would render the
Reductions
metal price
increases
in estimated
costsofofthe
production,
Company insolvent.
increases in estimated future operating costs, reductions in the amount of recoverable

OUTSTANDING

reserves, resources, and exploration potential, and/or change in economic conditions can
result in a write-down of the carrying amounts of the Group's mining rights and property,
SHARES
plant and equipment.

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY - continued

(a)related
Impairment
of miningwith
rights
property,
plant and
equipment
continued
The Company had major
party transactions
the and
following
companies
related
by way- of
shareholders and shareholder
in common:

The Group uses its internal experts to perform the valuation for the purpose of impairment
assessment with the assistance from third party qualified valuers. The management works
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s
Innerexperts
Mongolia
entered
intovaluers
a non-exclusive
contract
for the purchase and
closelysubsidiary,
with internal
andPacific
qualified
external
to establish
the appropriate
valuation
techniques
andtoinputs
the model,
thatPacific
are notoccasionally
based on observable
datato CNG
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008
Contract”)
pursuant
whichtoInner
Mongolia
sold gold market
doré bars
to
estimate
the
FVLCD
for
the
mining
rights
and
property,
plant
and
equipment.
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold
Exchange and the daily average
of silver
as quoted
on the Shanghai
Platinum
& Silver
Exchange
Theprice
carrying
amounts
of property,
plant and Huatong
equipment
and mining
rights
as at prevailing at the
time of each relevant purchaseDecember
order during
contract
period. in
Onnotes
January
27, 2012,
the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
31,the
2016
are disclosed
20 and
21, respectively.
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, no impairment loss was recognized
for the property, plant and equipment in the Group's gold producing mine and the mining
Revenue from sales of gold doré
barsand
to CNG
decreased
fromequipment
US$233.8 million
the year
ended
December
31,as2015
rights
property,
plant and
in the for
Group's
copper
producing
mine
the to US$227.6
million for the year ended December
31, 2016.
recoverable
amounts were higher than their respective carrying amounts.
(b)

Inventories

On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
Product and Service Framework
Agreement
with CNG.
According
the amendments,
purchases
the in
copper
concentrates
The
Group records
the cost
of gold to
mining
ore placed onCNG
its leach
pads and
process
at

as gold
in process
inventory, and
values
gold
in payment
process inventory
the lower of
produced at the Jiama Mine. its
Themine
quantity
of copper
concentrates,
pricing
terms
and
terms be atestablished
from time

cost andtoestimated
netprinciples
realizableforvalue.
The assumptions
in the
valuation
of goldand
in Service
to time by the parties with reference
the pricing
connected
transactionsused
set out
under
the Product
process inventories include estimates of gold contained in the ore placed on leach pads,

Framework Agreement. For theassumptions
year ended of
December
31, of
2016,
revenue
salestoofbe
copper
concentrate
to
the amount
gold
that is from
expected
recovered
from theand
ore other
placedproducts
on
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared
to US$21.0
million
for the
sameinperiod
in 2015. plant and an assumption of the gold
leach pads,
and the
amount
of gold
the processing

price expected to be realized when the gold is recovered. If these estimates or
prove inaccurate,
Group could
required
to write
down
the recorded
For the year ended Decemberassumptions
31, 2016, construction
services the
of US$39.6
millionbe
were
provided
to the
Company
by subsidiaries of
value of its gold in process inventories. During the year, there is no change in the relevant
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2015).
estimation.
Although
the quantities
of recoverable
placed on also
the leach
padadditional
and the processing
In addition to the two aforementioned
major
related party
transactions,gold
the Company
obtains
services from related
plant are reconciled by comparing the grades of ore placed on the leach pad to the
quantities actually recovered, the nature of the leaching process inherently limits the
Pacific, Huatailong and China ability
Gold Finance.
to precisely monitor inventory levels. The actual recovery of gold from the leach
pad is not known until the leaching process has concluded at the end of the mine life.

parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
Management periodically reassesses the assumptions used in the valuation of gold in

The Board of Directors has givenprocess
the Company
conduct reviews
a number
of projects that
qualify asofacquisition
and the approval
costing oftoproduction
of goldofdoré
bars, particularly
the may
assumptions
the

amountand/or
of goldoutright
that is expected
to be
recovered
from
oreany
placed
on leach
pads (the
targets through joint venture, merger
acquisitions.
The
Group did
notthe
have
material
acquisition
and disposal
"Estimated Recovery Rate"). As a result of such reassessments, an increase/decrease in
the Estimated Recovery Rate led to a decrease/increase in the average production cost of
acquisition targets, including the
Jinfeng
Mine During
acquired
CNGthere
in September
2016.
However,
there
can be no assurances that
gold
doré bars.
thebyyear,
is no change
in the
relevant
estimation.

of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.

The carrying amount of gold in process and gold doré bars as at December 31, 2016 is
disclosed in note 18.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
ofREVENUE
applying the
Company’s
accounting
policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
5.
AND
SEGMENT
INFORMATION
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

IFRSfinancial
8 requires
operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports that are
annual consolidated
statements.

regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker ("CODM") to allocate resources to the
segments and to assess their performance.

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that

The
operating
decision-maker,
which
is responsible
for allocating
resources
and assessing
have a significant
riskchief
of causing
a material
adjustment
to the
carrying amounts
of assets
and liabilities
within the next twelve
performance of the operating segments, has been defined as the executive directors of the
Company. The chief operating decision-maker has identified two operating and reportable
segments as follows:

months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(i) and The
mine-produced
goldand
segment
- the production
of gold
the Group's
A summary of new
revised
IFRS standards
interpretations
are outlined
in bullion
Note 2 through
of the audited
annual consolidated
integrated processes, i.e., mining, metallurgical processing, production and selling of gold
doré bars to external clients.

financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

The mine-produced copper segment - the production of copper concentrate and other byFINANCIAL(ii)INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
products through the Group's integrated separation, i.e., mining, metallurgical processing,

The Company holds a number
of financial
instruments,
the most significant
of by-products
which are available-for-sale
investments, accounts
and other
to external clients.
production
and selling
copper concentrate

receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount

Information regarding the above segments is reported below.
on the balance sheet.
(a)

Segment revenues and results

The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenues and results by reportable and
operating segment:

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As at December 31, 2016,For
thethe
Company
hadDecember
not entered
year ended
31, into
2016any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Mine Mine produced
produced
gold
copper
incorporation
not
US$'000 and does
US$'000

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has not paid any dividends since
Revenue - external and

Segment
total
currently
have
US$'000

Unallocated

Consolidated

a fixed
dividend US$'000
policy. The Board of
US$'000

Directors will determine any
future
dividend policy on the
basis of, among
cash flows and
segment
revenue
227,580
111,021others things,
338,601the results of- operations,
338,601
Cost of sales
(193,797)
(88,602)
(282,399)
- affecting
(282,399)
financial conditions, operating
and capital requirements,
the rules promulgated
by the regulators
dividends in both
_______
_______
_______
_______
_______
operating
earnings
33,783
22,419
56,202profits and
56,202
Canada and Hong KongMining
and at
both the
TSX and HKSE, _______
and
the amount
of distributable
other
relevant
factors.
_______
_______
_______
_______
Income (expenses) from
operations
33,405
7,177
40,582
(6,199)
34,383
Subject to the British Columbia
Businessgain
Corporations
Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
Foreign exchange
(loss),
net (Note)
(22,322)
(143)
(16,429)
such dividends as they may
deem advisable, including the6,036
amount thereof
and the(16,286)
time and method
of payment
provided that
Interest and other (expense)
Income
(2,948)
980
(1,968)
10,831
8,863
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
(8,505)
(16,573)
Finance costs
(3,667)
(4,401)
(8,068)
date on which the dividend
is to be
Impairment
losspaid
on by more than two months.
available-for-sale investment
(3,831)
(3,831)
_______
_______
_______
_______
_______
(loss) before income tax
32,826
(18,566)
(7,847)
6,413
_______
_______
_______
A dividend may be paidProfit
wholly
or partly by the distribution
of cash, specific
assets _______
or14,260
of fully paid
shares or of_______
bonds,
debentures

or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued

(a)related
Segment
revenues and
results
- continued
The Company had major
party transactions
with
the following
companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

For the year ended December 31, 2015

Mineinto
- a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner MongoliaMine
Pacific
entered
produced

produced

Segment

sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to whichgold
Inner Mongolia
sold gold doré
bars to CNG
copperPacific occasionally
total
Unallocated
Consolidated
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000on the Shanghai
US$'000 Gold
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on theUS$'000
daily average
price of gold
ingot as quoted
Revenue - external and

segment
233,799
106,150
339,949
339,949 at the
Exchange and the daily average
pricerevenue
of silver as quoted on the
Shanghai Huatong
Platinum
& Silver Exchange
prevailing
Cost of sales

(185,052)

(92,051)

(277,103)

-

(277,103)

48,747

14,099

62,846

-

62,846

_______
_______
_______
time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period.
On January_______
27, 2012, the_______
2008 Contract
was renewed
for another
Mining operating earnings

_______
_______
_______
_______
_______
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June
30, 2014 for
the period of
January 1, 2015
to December
31, 2017.
Income (expenses) from
operations
48,444
(2,827)
45,617
(6,902)
38,715
Foreign
(loss),
Revenue from sales of gold doré
barsexchange
to CNGgain
decreased
from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
net (Note)
4,808
(17,197)
(12,389)
(1,148)
(13,537)
Interest and
(expense)
million for the year ended December
31,other
2016.
income
(2,013)
5,169
3,156
9,400
12,556
(11,226)
(10,181)
(21,407)
Finance costs
(4,778)
(6,448)
Impairment
on a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
On May 29, 2015, the Company
enteredlossinto
available-for-sale investment
(4,720)
(4,720)
_______
_______
_______
_______
_______

Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
Profit (loss) before income tax
46,461
(21,303)
25,158
(13,551)
11,607
_______
_______
_______
_______
_______
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time

to time by the parties with reference
to
pricing
principles
connected
transactions
out under
the Product
and Service
Note:
Duethe
to the
depreciation
of RMBfor
against
US$, the Group
incurred netset
exchange
loss amounting
to
US$16,429,000
(2015:
US$13,537,000)
for
the
year
ended
December
31,
2016,
which
was
mainly
from
the
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products
to
translation of US$ denominated intra-group borrowing of Tibet Huatailong Mining Development Co. Ltd.

from Skyland
Limited
to RMB, the functional currency of Huatailong, for the
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to("Huatailong")
US$21.0 million
for theMining
same (BVI)
period
in 2015.
Jiama Mine development in mine-produced copper segment.

For the year ended DecemberThe
31, 2016,
construction
of US$39.6segments
million were
provided
to the
the Group's
Company
by subsidiaries of
accounting
policiesservices
of the operating
are the
same as
accounting

policies
described
in note
3. Segment result represents profit (loss) before income tax
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year
ended
December
31, 2015).

attributable to the respective segment. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related
parties in its normal course of business,
a Financial
Services
Agreement
entered
on May
2015
There areincluding
no inter-segment
sales
for the
years ended
December
31,29,
2016
andamong
2015. Inner Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

(b)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by segment representing
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
assets/liabilities directly attributable to respective segment:

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions.
Group
did- not have any material acquisition and disposal
Mine The
Mine
produced
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended
December produced
31, 2016. TheSegment
Company continues to review possible
gold

copper

total

Unallocated

Consolidated

726,956
229,336

2,049,043
816,873

2,775,999
1,046,209

190,620
500,221

2,966,619
1,546,430

655,103
186,426

2,023,092
648,070

2,678,195
834,496

102,398
498,843

2,780,593
1,333,339

acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG
in September
2016. However,
can be no assurances
that
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000 thereUS$'000
US$'000
As of December
31, 2016
such review will result in any acquisition
transactions.
Total assets
Total liabilities
As of December 31, 2015
Total assets
Total liabilities
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
ofREVENUE
applying the
Company’s
accounting
policies,- continued
the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
5.
AND
SEGMENT
INFORMATION
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

(c) financial
Other statements.
segment information (included in the measure of segment profit or loss or regularly
annual consolidated
provided to the chief operating decision maker)

Mine - of estimation
Mine - uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that
Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
produced

produced

Segment

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment gold
to the carrying
amounts of
assets and
liabilities within
the next twelve
copper
total
Unallocated
Consolidated
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000
months are described in For
Note
4 of the audited annual consolidated
financial
statements
for the US$'000
year ended December
31, 2016.
the year ended
December 31, 2016

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
Additions of property, plant
and equipment

82,987

145,309

228,296

-

228,296

A summary of new and Depreciation
revised IFRS
standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
of property,
and equipment
(65,086)
(12,600)
(77,686)
(77,686)
financial statements as atplant
December
31, 2016.
Amortization of mining rights

-

(4,814)

(4,814)

-

(4,814)

For the year ended

December 31, 2015AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company holds a number
instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
Additionsofoffinancial
property, plant
and equipment

71,731

206,877

278,608

-

278,608

(57,370)
-

(13,086)
(5,264)

(70,456)
(5,264)

-

(70,456)
(5,264)

receivable, accounts payable,
cash
and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
Depreciation
of property,
on the balance sheet.

plant and equipment
Amortization of mining rights

Geographical
information
The Company did(d)
not have
any financial
derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.
The Group operated in two geographical areas, Canada and the PRC. The Group's

OFF-BALANCE SHEET
corporateARRANGEMENTS
division located in Canada only earns revenue that is considered incidental to the
As at December 31, 2016,activities
the Company
notand
entered
into any
arrangements.
of the had
Group
therefore
doesoff-balance
not meet thesheet
definition
of an operating segment

as defined in IFRS 8 Operating Segments. During the years ended December 31, 2016
and 2015, the Group's revenue was generated from gold sales and copper multi-products to
DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND
customers in thePOLICY
PRC. Approximately 99% (2015: 99%) of non-current assets of the
Group
located since
in theincorporation
PRC.
The Company has not paid
anyare
dividends
and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and

(e)

Information about major customers

financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada and Hong KongRevenue
and at both
TSX and
HKSE, and
theaccounts
amount of
profits
and
other relevant
fromthe
major
customers
which
fordistributable
10% or more
of the
Group's
total factors.

revenue are sales of gold doré bars and copper and other products to CNG and its
subsidiaries as disclosed in note 28 (a) (i).

Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that

6. date GENERAL
AND
EXPENSES
the record
for the purpose
of ADMINISTRATIVE
determining shareholders
entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.

2016
US$'000

2015
US$'000

A dividend may be
paid wholly orand
partly
by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully7,394
paid shares or of 8,934
bonds, debentures
Administration
office
Professional
fees
1,546
1,802
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets

Salariesgrounds
and benefits
8,590
if there are reasonable
for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment
of the dividend9,474
would render the
Company insolvent.
Others

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

2,721
1,188
_______

2,640
979
_______

OUTSTANDING SHARES

21,439
_______

23,829
_______

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

7.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE

2016

2015

378
2
_______

302
_______

380

302

US$'000
The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies related by way
of shareholders US$'000
and shareholder
in common:

CSH Gold Mine (note 20(a))
Generative exploration

On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and

_______
_______
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally
sold gold doré
bars to CNG
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold
Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the

8.

FINANCE COSTS

time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another

2016

2015

three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January
1, 2015 to December
US$'000
US$'00031, 2017.

Effective interests on borrowings:

- wholly
repayable
within
5 yearsfrom US$233.8 million for the year ended
28,447
42,225
Revenue from sales of gold
doré bars
to CNG
decreased
December 31, 2015
to US$227.6
- wholly repayable over 5 years
Accretion on environmental rehabilitation (note 26)

million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

9,929
2,967
_______

468
2,606
_______

41,343
(24,770)
_______

45,299
(23,892)
_______

16,573

21,407

On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the

Less: Amounts capitalized to property, plant and equipment

Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment
terms be established
from time
_______
_______
to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service

capitalized
at the
interestfrom
applicable
the specific
borrowings
financing
Framework Agreement.Interest
For the has
yearbeen
ended
December
31, rate
2016,ofrevenue
sales oftocopper
concentrate
and other
products to
the assets under construction, or, where financed through general borrowings, at a capitalization
rate representing the average interest rate on such borrowings.

CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to
the Company by2015
subsidiaries of
2016
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).

Capitalization rate

%

4.12

%

4.01

_______
_______
In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains
additional services
from related
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Company was incorporated in Canada and is subject to Canadian federal and provincial tax
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
requirements which are calculated at 26% (2015: 26%) of the estimated assessable profit for the

The Board of Directors has
theDecember
Company31,
approval
conduct
reviews of a number
of projects
may qualify
as acquisition
yeargiven
ended
2016. to
Since
its incorporation,
the Company
had that
no assessable
profit

targets through joint venture,
and/orfederal
outright
Therequirements.
Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
subjectmerger
to Canadian
andacquisitions.
provincial tax
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible

PRC Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT") is calculated at the prevailing tax rate of 25% on the
estimated taxable profit of the group entities located in the PRC for the years ended December 31,
such review will result in2016
any acquisition
transactions.
(2015: 25%)
except as described below.

acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that

Huatailong and Metrorkongka County Jiama Industry and Trade Co. ("Jiama Industry and
Trade"), subsidiaries acquired in December 2010, were established in the westward development
area of the PRC and subject to preferential tax rate of 15% of taxable profit.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
ofINCOME
applyingTAX
the EXPENSE
Company’s - accounting
9.
continued policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

Under
relevant
PRC Tax Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of
annual consolidated
financial
statements.

profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries from January 1, 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not
been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary differences
Key assumptions attributable
concerning to
theaccumulated
future and other
key sources
of estimation
atamounting
the end of to
each reporting period that
distributable
profits
of the PRCuncertainty
subsidiaries
approximately
US$334,637,000
and
US$334,480,000
at
December
31,
2016
and
2015,
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
respectively, as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of temporary differences
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.
and it is probable the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
for other relevantPOLICIES
jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in each of those
CHANGE INTaxation
ACCOUNTING

jurisdictions
respectively.
A summary of new
and revised
IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

Tax expense comprises:

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

2016
US$'000

2015
US$'000

The Company holds
a number
of financial
the most significant of which are available-for-sale
investments,
accounts
Current
tax expense
- PRCinstruments,
EIT
17,998
11,747
Deferred
tax expense
740
6,687
receivable, accounts
payable,
cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at
either
fair
values
or
amortized
amount
_______
_______
on the balance sheet.

18,738
_______

18,434
_______

The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

Per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the tax expense
for the Group can be reconciled to the profit before income tax for the year as follows:

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

2016
As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.
US$'000

2015
US$'000

Profit before
income taxPOLICY
DIVIDEND AND
DIVIDEND

6,413
_______

11,607
_______

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Directors will determine
anytax
future
results of operations,
cash flows and
PRC EIT
ratesdividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the 25%
25%

_______

_______

financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada and Hong
and
at both
the rates
TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits
and other relevant
factors.
TaxKong
at the
PRC
EIT tax
1,603
2,902

Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating
in other
jurisdictions
(39) payment of
Subject to the British
Columbia
Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time(22)
declare and authorize
Tax effect of concessionary tax rate
1,857
2,130
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
Tax effect of tax losses not recognized
654
1,093
the record date Tax
for the
purpose
of determining
shareholders entitled to receive payment of
the dividend must
not precede the
effect
of non-deductible
expenses
4,552
4,886
Tax
effect of
non-taxable
(1,086)
(928)
date on which the
dividend
is to
be paid byincome
more than two months.
Impacts on foreign exchange
8,446
6,571
Withholding tax in respect of interest income earned
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
2,734
1,819
from PRC subsidiaries
_______
_______
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets

18,738

18,434

if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment
of the dividend
would render the
_______
_______
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE - continued

The
following
the major with
deferred
tax (assets)
liabilitiesrelated
recognized
and
The Company had major
related
partyare
transactions
the following
companies
by way
of movements
shareholdersthereon
and shareholder
in common:

during the current and prior years:

Property,

Plant and Pacific
Environmental
Mining
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia
entered into
a non-exclusive
contract for the purchase and
(1)
equipment

rehabilitation

Rights

Inventories

Others

Total

US$'000
US$'000 occasionally
US$'000 sold
US$'000
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuantUS$'000
to which Inner
Mongolia Pacific
gold doréUS$'000
bars to CNG

through to December 31,
2011. 1,
The
pricing was based on
the daily average
of gold ingot4,198
as quoted(1,754)
on the Shanghai
At January
2015
(13,482)
(5,868) price133,905
116,999 Gold
(credit)price
to profit
loss as quoted
2,671
(4,094) Huatong
(734)
652 prevailing
6,687 at the
_______
_______
_______
_______
_______
Exchange and the dailyCharge
average
of orsilver
on the Shanghai
Platinum_______
&8,192
Silver Exchange

At December
31, 2015
(10,811)
(9,962) 27, 2012,
133,171
(1,102)
123,686
time of each relevant purchase
order
during the contract
period. On January
the 200812,390
Contract was
renewed
for another
Charge (credit) to profit or loss

6,420
_______

(212)
_______

(676)
_______

(5,204)
_______

412
_______

740
_______

At December 31, 2016

(4,391)
_______

(10,174)
_______

132,495
_______

7,186
_______

(690)
_______

124,426
_______

three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.
(1)
Revenue from sales of gold
doré represents
bars to deferred
CNG decreased
from
foronthe
year
31, 2015
to US$227.6
Amount
tax liability arising
from US$233.8
the fair valuemillion
adjustment
mining
rightsended
during theDecember
business acquisition
of Skyland

Mining Limited and its subsidiaries ("Skyland") in December 2010.

million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position, certain
deferred tax
assets into
and aliabilities
have been offset.
The transaction
following isand
the analysis
of the deferred
On May 29, 2015, the Company
entered
revised continuing
connected
major transaction
amending the
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment
terms be established
2016
2015from time

to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set US$'000
out under the Product
and Service
US$'000
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.

382
(124,808)
_______

1,728
(125,414)
_______

(124,426)

(123,686)

2016
US$'000

2015
US$'000

14,797
2,178
_______

14,143
1,143
_______

16,975
_______

15,286
_______

For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided_______
to the Company by
subsidiaries of
_______
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).

The Group's unrecognized deferred income tax assets are as follows:

In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related
parties in its normal course
of business,
a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Deferred
incomeincluding
tax assets
Pacific, Huatailong and Tax
China
Gold
Finance.
loss
carry
forwards

Other deductible temporary differences

Total unrecognized deferred income tax assets
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition

Deferred
tax asset
of US$14,797,000
(December
31, 2015:
US$14,143,000)
has not
been and disposal
targets through joint venture,
merger
and/or
outright acquisitions.
The Group
did not
have any material
acquisition
recognized
in respectinofthe
unused
tax lossDecember
due to the unpredictability
of future continues
profit streams.
of subsidiaries and associated
companies
year ended
31, 2016. The Company
to review possible
Under Canadian tax laws, unused tax loss arising in a tax year ended between March 22, 2004 and
December 31, 2005 can be carried forward for 10 years while the unused tax loss can be carried
such review will result inforward
any acquisition
transactions.
for 20 years
if the loss is arising in tax years ended after December 31, 2005.

acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that

Other deductible temporary differences primarily comprise of share issue costs and cumulative
eligible capital expenditures that were incurred by the Company which are tax deductible
according to the relevant tax law in Canada. No deferred tax asset has been recognized because
the amount of future taxable profit that will be available to realize such assets is unpredictable and
not probable.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
applying
accounting policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
10. ofLOSS
FOR the
THECompany’s
YEAR
2016
2015 in the audited
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the
amounts recognized
annual consolidated financial statements.

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

US$'000

US$'000

Key assumptions Auditor's
concerning
the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the633
end of each reporting
remuneration
613 period that

_______

_______

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
months are described
in Note 4included
of the audited
financial statements for
the year ended December
Depreciation
in cost annual
of salesconsolidated
and inventories
74,965
67,816 31, 2016.

Depreciation included in administrative expenses (note 6)

CHANGE INTotal
ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
depreciation

2,721
_______

2,640
_______

77,686
_______

70,456
_______

208
_______

185
_______

4,814

5,264

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

Release of prepaid lease payment (included in cost of sales)

FINANCIALAmortization
INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
of mining rights (included in cost of sales)

_______
The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are_______
available-for-sale investments,
accounts
receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

on the balance sheet.

34
_______

_______

Staff costs

andfinancial
chief executive's
emoluments
(notehedging
11)
328
The Company did Directors'
not have any
derivatives
or outstanding
contracts as at December
31, 2016.417
Staff salaries and benefits
Retirement benefit contributions

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Total salaries and benefits included in administrative
expenses (note 6)
Total salaries and benefits capitalized in construction in progress

7,744
518
_______

As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

DIVIDEND AND
DIVIDEND POLICY
Staff costs included in cost of sales and inventories

8,382
675
_______

8,590
5,368

9,474
5,918

14,220

10,297

_______
_______
The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have
a fixed dividend
policy. The Board of

Total staff
28,178
25,689
Directors will determine
any costs
future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things,_______
the
results of operations,
cash flows and
_______
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both

Operating
lease
payment
1,163
1,527
Canada and Hong
Kong and
at both
the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable _______
profits
and other relevant
factors.
_______
Subject to the British
Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time
declare and authorize
BankColumbia
interest income
(562)
(1,498) payment of

_______

_______

such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
(1)
the record date Government
for the purpose
of determining
shareholders entitled to receive payment of(660)
the dividend must
not precede the
subsidies
(4,087)

date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
(1)

_______

_______

Included government subsidies of nil (2015: US$3,934,000) received from the local Finance

A dividend may be paid
wholly
or partly
by the
ofthe
cash,
specific
assets or oftofully
paid shares
or of bonds, debentures
Bureau
of Tibet
in 2016
as distribution
a reward for
Group's
contribution
community
development
or other securities of and
the Company,
or in preservation
any one or more
of local
thoseTibet
ways.region.
No dividend
paid in money
or assets
environmental
in the
Theremay
wasbe
nodeclared
conditionorattached
to

the subsidies
andbelieving
the entire
amount
was recognized
as other
income
in 2015.
if there are reasonable
grounds for
that
the Company
is insolvent
or the
payment
of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

11.

DIRECTORS', CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(a)related
Directors'
and Chief Executive's
emoluments
The Company had major
party transactions
with the following
companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

Directors' and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
applicable Listing Rules and CO, is as follows:

On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and

For Contract”)
the year ended
December
31, Inner
2016 Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008
pursuant
to which
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold
ingot as quoted
on the Shanghai Gold
Salaries
Retirement

and other
benefit
Fees
benefits
contributions
Total
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000
time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January
27, 2012, the
2008 Contract
was renewed
for another
Executive Directors and
three years ending December 31,
2014
and
subsequently
on
June
30,
2014
for
the
period
of
January
1,
2015
to
December
31, 2017.
Chief Executive (Note a)
Bing Liu (Note e)
-

Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the

Revenue from sales of gold doré
bars toDirectors
CNG decreased
Executive
(Note b) from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
Xin Song31,
(Note
e)
million for the year ended December
2016.
Xiangdong Jiang
Liangyou Jiang

-

119
56

-

-

2

121
56

On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
Non-executive Directors (Note c)

Lianzhong
Sun (Note
e)
Product and Service Framework
Agreement
with CNG.
According to the amendments,
CNG -purchases the- copper concentrates

produced at the Jiama Mine. Independent
The quantityNon-executive
of copper concentrates,
terms and payment terms be established from time
Directors (Notepricing
d)
Ian He to the pricing principles for connected transactions
41
43Service
to time by the parties with reference
set- out under the2Product and
Yunfei Chen

36

-

-

36

Framework Agreement. For theGregory
year ended
to
Hall December 31, 2016, revenue from sales
36 of copper- concentrate- and other products
36
John King
Burns million for the same period in
36
_______
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared
to US$21.0
2015.

_______

_______

36
_______

149
_______

175
_______

4
_______

328
_______

For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of

For ended
the yearDecember
ended December
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year
31, 2015).31, 2015

Salaries
Retirement
and other
benefit
Fees
benefits
contributions
In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company
also
obtains additional
servicesTotal
from related
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000
parties in its normal course of business,
including
a
Financial
Services
Agreement
entered
on
May
29,
2015
among
Inner
Mongolia
Executive Directors and
Chief
Executive
(Note
a)
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.
Bing Liu (Note e)
Executive Directors (Note b)
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
Xin Song (Note e)

-

-

-

-

-

60

-

60

Jiang approval to conduct reviews of a -number of projects
200
202
The Board of Directors has givenXiangdong
the Company
that may2qualify as acquisition
Liangyou Jiang

targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
Non-executive Directors (Note c)
of subsidiaries and associatedLianzhong
companies
in the year ended December 31, 2016.
The Company
continues
to review- possible
Sun (Note e)
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
Independent Non-executive Directors (Note d)

such review will result in any acquisition
transactions.
Ian He
Yunfei Chen
Gregory Hall
John King Burns

42
37
37
37
_______

_______

2
_______

44
37
37
37
_______

153
_______

260
_______

4
_______

417
_______
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
applying the CHIEF
Company’s
accountingAND
policies,
the Directors
of the Company
have identified accounting
11. ofDIRECTORS',
EXECUTIVE'S
EMPLOYEES'
EMOLUMENTS
- continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

(a) financial
Directors'
and Chief Executive's emoluments- continued
annual consolidated
statements.
Notes:

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that

Mr.
Liu adjustment
is a directortoand
Chief Executive
the Company.
The within the next twelve
have a significant risk of(a)
causing
a Bing
material
thethe
carrying
amounts ofofassets
and liabilities
emoluments disclosed above are inclusive of services rendered by him as the Chief
Executive.

months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

(b)
The executive
directors' emoluments shown above were mainly for their services in
CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

with and
the Management
the outlined
affairs ofinthe
Company
and
the Group.
A summary of new and revisedconnection
IFRS standards
interpretationsofare
Note
2 of the
audited
annual consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

(c)

The non-executive directors' emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as directors of the Company.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
(d)
The independent non-executive directors' emoluments shown above were mainly

The Company holds a number offor
financial
instruments,
the most
of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
their services
as directors
of significant
the Company.
receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
on the balance sheet. (e)

Mr. Xin Song, Mr. Bing Liu and Mr. Lianzhong Sun have also been employed by
CNG and the payment of their emoluments was centralized and made by CNG for
both years, in which the amounts are considered as insignificant.

The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, none of the directors of the Company
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As at December (b)
31, 2016,Employees'
the Company
had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.
emoluments

The five highest paid individuals included nil (2015: one) director for the year ended
DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND
POLICY
December 31, 2016.
The emoluments of the remaining five (2015: four) non-director

The Company has not paid
any dividends
and31,
does
not are
currently
have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
individuals
for thesince
year incorporation
ended December
2016,
as follows:
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and

2016
US$'000

2015
US$'000

financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada and Hong KongEmployees
and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.

Salaries and other benefits
964
778
Retirement
benefit
contributions
4
4 payment of
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to_______
time declare and _______
authorize
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and968
method of payment
782provided that

_______

_______

the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

11.

DIRECTORS', CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS - continued

(b)related
Employees'
emoluments
continued
The Company had major
party transactions
with -the
following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

No. of individuals

On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive
contract for the2015
purchase and
2016

Nil to
HK$1,000,000
(equivalent
to Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008
Contract”)
pursuant
to which Inner
to US$129,000)
through to December 31, 2011. approximately
The pricing wasnil
based
on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted
on the Shanghai
Gold
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 (equivalent to

Exchange and the daily average
price of silverUS$129,001
as quoted ontothe
Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver 4Exchange prevailing
approximately
US$193,000)
3 at the
time of each relevant purchaseHK$1,500,001
order during the
period. (equivalent
On January to
27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
tocontract
HK$2,000,000

approximately
US$193,001
to US$258,000)
three years ending December 31,
2014 and subsequently
on June
30, 2014 for the period of January 1,- 2015 to December- 31, 2017.
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately US$258,001 to US$323,000)

1

1

_______
_______
Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015
to US$227.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors of the Company or the five highest paid individuals as an
On May 29, 2015, the Company
entered into
a revised
continuing
connected
and major
transaction
inducement
to join
or upon
joining the
Group or transaction
as compensation
for loss
of office.amending the

Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time

12.

DIVIDEND

to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
Framework Agreement.No
Fordividends
the year ended
December
31, 2016,
revenue
fromended
sales December
of copper concentrate
other
to
were paid
or proposed
during
the year
31, 2016 andand
2015,
norproducts
has

anycompared
dividend been
proposed
since
the same
end ofperiod
reporting
period.
CNG was US$59.8 million,
to US$21.0
million
for the
in 2015.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of

13.

LOSS PER SHARE

CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).

Data used in determining loss per share are presented below:

2016
2015
In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains
additional services
from related
Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the

parties in its normal course
of business,
including
a Financial
Services
Agreement entered on May13,304
29, 2015 among Inner
Mongolia
purposes
of basic
and diluted
loss per
share (US$'000)
8,188
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

Weighted average number of shares, basic and diluted

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

___________

___________

396,413,753
___________

396,413,753
___________

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition

Basic loss per share (US cents)

US3.36 cents

US2.07 cents

___________
___________
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have
any material acquisition
and disposal
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible

Diluted loss per share (US cents)
N/A
US2.07 cents
___________
___________
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However,
there can be
no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.

No diluted loss per share for 2016 was presented as the Group had no potential dilutive
instruments issued during the year ended December 31, 2016.

The computation of diluted loss per share for 2015 does not assume the exercise of the Company's
stock option, as it would result in a decrease in loss per share for the year ended December 31,
2015.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
applying
Company’s
accounting policies, the BANK
DirectorsBALANCE
of the Company have identified accounting
14. ofCASH
ANDthe
CASH
EQUIVALENTS/RESTRICTED
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group are comprised of bank balances and bank deposits with an

annual consolidated
financial
statements.
original
maturity
of three months or less. The Group's bank balances, cash equivalents and

restricted bank balances are denominated in the foreign currencies other than the respective group
entities' functional currencies are presented below:
Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end
reporting
December
31, of each
December
31,period that
2016
2015the next twelve
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statementsUS$'000
for the year endedUS$'000
December 31, 2016.
Denominated in:
Canadian dollars ("CAD")
1,512
494
("RMB")
43,447
35,673
CHANGE INRenminbi
ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
US$
35
971
A summary of newHong
and Kong
revised
IFRS standards
2 of
the audited annual
dollars
("HK$") and interpretations are outlined in Note
571
600 consolidated
_______
_______
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
45,565
37,738
_______
_______

FINANCIALThe
INSTRUMENTS
OTHER
bank balances and AND
bank deposits
carryINSTRUMENTS
interest rates ranging from 0.3% to 2% (2015: 0.2% to

1.92%)
per annum
for theinstruments,
year ended December
31, 2016.of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
The Company holds
a number
of financial
the most significant
receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount

Restricted bank balance carries interest at market rates ranging from 0.3% to 1.55% (2015:

on the balance sheet.
0.35%) per annum for the year ended December 31, 2016. The balance represents deposits

pledged to banks to secure bills payable issued to suppliers for mining costs.

The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

15.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

OFF-BALANCE
SHEET
ARRANGEMENTS
The Group's
accounts
receivable arise from the following sources: trade receivables and amounts
fromthe
related
companies.
The
components
as follows:sheet arrangements.
As at December due
31, 2016,
Company
had not
entered
into anyare
off-balance

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

December 31,
2016
US$'000

December 31,
2015
US$'000

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of

Trade receivables
Less: allowance for doubtful debts

4,054
11,189
(94)
(398)
_______
_______
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
3,960
10,791
Canada and Hong
Kong and
bothrelated
the TSXcompanies
and HKSE, (note
and the
amount
of distributable profits
and other relevant
factors.
(1)
Amounts
dueatfrom
28(a))
128
2,407
Loans to related companies (note 28(a))
158,433
14,021
(2)
Loans
to a non-controlling
shareholder
1,263 payment of
Subject to the British
Columbia
Business Corporations
Act, the Directors may from time to time -declare and authorize
707
7,319
Other receivables(3)
_______
_______
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
163,228
35,801
_______
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment
of the dividend _______
must not precede the
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and

date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
(1)

The outstanding balances represent service fee receivables arising from provision of
transportation services to the subsidiaries of CNG during the years ended December 31,
A dividend may be paid
wholly
partlyThe
by the
distribution
of cash, specific
or repayable
of fully paid
or of bonds, debentures
2016
and or
2015.
amounts
are unsecured,
interest assets
free and
onshares
demand.
or other securities(2)of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets

Loans to a non-controlling shareholder carry a floating rate, currently set at 4.35% per

if there are reasonableannum
grounds
for on
believing
that the interest
Company
insolvent
or theBank
payment
of the
would render the
based
the benchmark
rateis of
the People's
of China,
anddividend
are
Company insolvent.
(3)

unsecured and repayable on demand.

Included in the balance as at December 31, 2016 is an amount of approximately

OUTSTANDINGUS$279,000
SHARES (2015: US$6.3 million) value-added tax recoverable which is expected to be
recovered within twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

15.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES - continued

The
Groupparty
allows
an averagewith
credit
of 90
days andrelated
180 days
itsofexternal
trade customers
The Company had major
related
transactions
the period
following
companies
by to
way
shareholders
and shareholder
in common:

including CNG for gold doŕe bar sales and copper sales, respectively.

Below is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance) presented based on invoice

On October 24, 2008, the
Company’s
subsidiary, Inner
Pacific
entered
into a non-exclusive
contract
the purchase and
dates,
which approximated
theMongolia
respective
revenue
recognition
dates, at the end
of theforreporting

sale of doré with CNG period:
(the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG

December
31, on December
31,Gold
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot
as quoted
the Shanghai
2016

2015

Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum US$'000
& Silver Exchange prevailing
US$'000 at the
time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another

Less than
days
5,834
three years ending December
31,30
2014
and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1,- 2015 to December
31, 2017.
31 to 90 days
1,307
4,532
91 to 180 days
2,387
75
Revenue from sales of gold
December
31, 2015 to
US$227.6
Overdoré
180 bars
days to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended
266
350
_______
_______
million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

3,960
_______

10,791
_______

On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the

In determining
the recoverability
of a tradeto
receivable,
the Group
considers
any the
change
in the
Product and Service Framework
Agreement
with CNG. According
the amendments,
CNG
purchases
copper
concentrates
credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting

produced at the Jiamadate.
Mine.The
Thecustomers
quantity of
copper
concentrates,
pricing
terms
payment have
termsgood
be established
with
balances
that are neither
past
dueand
nor impaired
repayment from time

to time by the parties with
reference
theimpairment
pricing principles
for connected
transactions set out under the Product and Service
history
and thustono
is considered
necessary.
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to

Included in the Group's trade receivables balances are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
US$266,000 and US$350,000 at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, which are past due
over six months for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss as there has not been a
For the year ended December
31, change
2016, construction
services
US$39.6 are
million
provided
to the Company
by subsidiaries of
significant
in credit quality
andofamounts
stillwere
considered
recoverable
based on
historical
experience.
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:

In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains
additional
from31,
related
December
31, services
December

2016
2015 Mongolia
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May
29, 2015 among Inner
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

US$'000

US$'000

At January 1
398
167
Addition
248
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
Amount written off as uncollectible
(291)
The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
Exchange realignment
(13)
(17)
_______
_______

targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal

At December
31
94
398possible
of subsidiaries and associated
companies
in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company
continues to _______
review
_______
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that

holdstransactions.
no collateral for any receivable amounts outstanding as at December 31, 2016
such review will result inThe
anyGroup
acquisition
and 2015.
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In the process
applying EXPENSES
the Company’s
16. ofPREPAID
ANDaccounting
DEPOSITSpolicies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
31, recognized
December in31,the audited
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect December
on the amounts
annual consolidated financial statements.

2016
US$'000

2015
US$'000

Key assumptions Deposits
concerning
future
and other
key sources
end of each reporting
forthe
mine
supplies
and services
(Noteofa)estimation uncertainty at the509
2,702 period that

Deposits
for sparea parts
(Note
a)
4,420
have a significant
risk of causing
material
adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets4,670
and liabilities within
the next twelve

Deposits for environmental protection (Note b)
11,425
10,665
Deposit for acquisition of property, plant and equipment
(Note c)
90
616
property and machinery
insurance
152
250
CHANGE INPrepaid
ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
Amount
due
from
a
non-controlling
shareholder
A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
of a subsidiary (Note d)
353
384
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
Other prepayment and deposits
590
1,383
_______
_______
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

FINANCIALLess:
INSTRUMENTS
OTHER
INSTRUMENTS
Amounts that willAND
be settled
or utilized
within one year

17,789

20,420

(5,633)
(8,446) accounts
shown under
current
assets
The Company holds a number
of financial
instruments,
the most significant of which are_______
available-for-sale
investments,
_______

receivable, accounts
payable,
cashbeand
loans.
financial
instruments
areyear
recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
Amounts
that will
settled
or The
utilized
for more
than one

shown under non-current assets
on the balance sheet.

12,156
_______

11,974
_______

The Company didNotes:
not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

a.
The amount
represents deposits paid to third party vendors and related companies (note
OFF-BALANCE
SHEET
ARRANGEMENTS
28) for purchasing of raw materials, consumable, spare parts and mine services.
As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

b.

The amount represents deposits paid to the PRC local land administration bureau for
undertaking the restoration of land when the lease term is expired. Such amount is
DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND
receivable upon POLICY
the end of the mine life and is expected to be repaid after one year and
The Company has not paid
any dividends
since
not2016
currently
have year
a fixed
dividend policy. The Board of
therefore
it is shown
as aincorporation
non-current and
assetdoes
at both
and 2015
end.

Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and

c. operating
The amount
represents
deposits paid
thirdpromulgated
party contractors
forregulators
the acquisition
of dividends in both
financial conditions,
and capital
requirements,
thetorules
by the
affecting
property, plant and equipment to expand its mining capacity in Tibet, the PRC. The

Canada and Hong Kongamount
and at both
the TSX
and HKSE, and
the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
is shown
as non-current
asset.

d. Columbia
The amount
dueCorporations
from a non-controlling
shareholder
is non-interest
and payment of
Subject to the British
Business
Act, the Directors
may from
time to timebearing,
declareunsecured
and authorize
repayable after one year.

such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

17.

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

US$'000

The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

At January 1, 2015
Release to profit or loss
Exchange realignment

8,372
(185)
(342)
_______

On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and

At December 31, 2015 and January 1, 2016
7,845
Additions
7,586
through to December 31,
2011. to
The
pricing
was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on(208)
the Shanghai Gold
Release
profit
or loss
(454)
Exchange and the dailyExchange
average realignment
price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange
prevailing at the
_______

sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG

time of each relevant purchase
order31,
during
the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was14,769
renewed for another
At December
2016

_______

three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

December 31,

December 31,

Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015
to US$227.6
2016
2015
million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

US$'000
US$'000
Analysed for reporting purpose:
Current portion
366
225
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
Non-current portion
14,403
7,620
_______
_______

Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates

14,769

7,845

produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment
terms be established
from time
_______
_______
to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service

payments
represent
for medium-term
land locatedand
in the
PRC.
Framework Agreement.Prepaid
For the lease
year ended
December
31,payments
2016, revenue
from sales of leasehold
copper concentrate
other
products to
The prepaid lease payments are released to profit or loss over the remaining lease terms.

CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.

For the year ended
31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of
18. December
INVENTORIES
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).

December 31,
2016
US$'000

December 31,
2015
US$'000

In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related

Goldofinbusiness,
process including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May
190,832
parties in its normal course
29, 2015 among 160,843
Inner Mongolia
doré
bars
Pacific, Huatailong andGold
China
Gold
Finance.

PROPOSED

Consumables
Copper
Spare
parts
TRANSACTIONS

14,118
4,923
544
10,140
_______

9,565
5,966
4,597
9,905
_______

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects
that may qualify
as acquisition
220,557
190,876

_______

_______

targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible

Inventories totalling US$277,896,000 (2015: US$272,209,000) for the year ended December 31,

acquisition targets, including
the recognized
Jinfeng Mine
by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
2016 was
in acquired
cost of sales.
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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In the process
applying the Company’s INVESTMENTS
accounting policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
19. ofAVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
31, recognized
December in31,the audited
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect December
on the amounts
annual consolidated financial statements.

Listed investment, at fair value:

2016
US$'000

2015
US$'000

(1)
Key assumptions concerning
the future
andinother
key
sources
of estimation uncertainty at12,737
the end of each reporting
- Equity securities
listed
Hong
Kong
15,291 period that

Unlisted
investment,
at cost:adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
have a significant
risk of causing
a material
- Equity securities(2) (3)

2,018

2,156

14,755
_______

17,447
_______

months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements_______
for the year ended_______
December 31, 2016.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(1) and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
A summary of new
On June 29, 2012, the Group acquired 70,545,000 shares of China Nonferrous Mining

financial statements as atCorporation
December Limited
31, 2016.("CNMC"), a listed company in Hong Kong at HK$2.20 per share for

a total consideration of US$20,011,000 which represents 2.03% equity interest in CNMC.

During the year,AND
impairment
loss of
US$3,831,000 (2015: US$4,720,000) was further
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
OTHER
INSTRUMENTS

to profit
or loss as there
wassignificant
significantofdecline
fair value of theinvestments,
security accounts
recognized
The Company holds a number
of financial
instruments,
the most
which of
arethe
available-for-sale
below its cost in the first quarter of the year and the Group considered that such a drop is

receivable, accounts payable,
cash andDue
loans.
financial in
instruments
recorded
at either
fair values
an impairment.
to The
the increase
fair value are
of the
listed shares
subsequent
to or
theamortized amount
on the balance sheet. recognition of impairment loss, as mentioned US$1,278,000 was recognized in other

comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation
reserve
in accordance
with the
Group's accounting
The Company did not have any financial
derivatives
or outstanding
hedging policies.
contracts as at December 31, 2016.
(2)

As of December 31, 2016, the Group has invested RMB10,000,000, approximately

US$1,441,000
(2015: US$1,540,000), representing 10% share interest in Inner Mongolia
OFF-BALANCE SHEET
ARRANGEMENTS
Yong'an
Co.,
Chemicals").
Yong'an Chemicals is
As at December 31, 2016,Chengxin
the Company
hadChemicals
not entered
intoLtd.
any("Yong'an
off-balance
sheet arrangements.

established in the PRC and principally engaged in the development and manufacturing of
chemicals.

DIVIDEND AND
DIVIDEND POLICY
(3)

As of December 31, 2016, the Group has invested RMB4,000,000, approximately
US$577,000 (2015: US$616,000), representing 10% share interest in Mozu Gongka
Directors will determine any
future
dividend
policy on Material
the basis Co.
of, among
othersExplosives").
things, the results
of operations,
Jiulian
Industrial
Explosives
Ltd. ("Mozu
Mozu
Explosives cash flows and
established
the PRC
and principally
engaged
in the development
and manufacturing
of
financial conditions, operating
and in
capital
requirements,
the rules
promulgated
by the regulators
affecting dividends
in both
explosives.
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.
The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of

Both Yong'an Chemicals and Mozu Explosives are measured at cost less impairment at the end of

Subject to the British
Columbiaperiod
Business
Corporations
Act,ofthe
Directorsfair
mayvalue
fromestimates
time to time
and that
authorize
the reporting
because
the range
reasonable
is sodeclare
significant
the payment of

values
be measured
reliably.
such dividends asfair
they
may cannot
deem advisable,
including
the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that

the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

20.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture
Machinery
Construction
The Company had major related party transactions with the following
companies
related
by
way of Mineral
shareholders
and shareholder
and office
and
Motor
Leasehold
in progress

in common:

COST
At January 1, 2015
Additions
Reversal
Disposals
Transfer from CIP
Environmental rehabilitation
adjustment (note 26)
Exchange realignment

Buildings
US$'000

213,950
808
(286)
2,274

Crushers
US$'000

equipment
US$'000

equipment
US$'000

vehicles
US$'000

215,879
-

3,341
507
-

97,467
4,825
(129)
92

8,484
413
-

improvements
US$'000
285
(87)
-

assets
US$'000

304,108
70,536
-

("CIP")
US$'000

Total
US$'000

585,260
201,519
(2,366)

1,428,774
278,608
(87)
(415)
-

On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG
17,568
17,568
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based
on the-- daily average
price
of (289)
gold
ingot-- as quoted
on(32,237)
the
Shanghai
Gold
(8,238)
(87)
(2,550)
(4,722)
(48,123)
_______

_______

_______

_______

_______

_______

_______

_______

_________

60,870

162,283

228,296

Exchange and the dailyAt average
price of silver as
quoted215,879
on the Shanghai
Huatong8,608
Platinum 198
& Silver
Exchange
December 31, 2015
208,508
3,761
99,705
387,490
752,176prevailing
1,676,325 at the
Additions

1,075

-

398

3,216

454

-

Disposals

-

-

(25)

-

(145)

-

time of each relevant purchase
order during the contract
period.
On January
27,
2012, -the 2008 -Contract- was renewed
for
another
Reversal
(2,735)
(2,735)
-

-

(170)

Transfer from31,
CIP 2014 and subsequently
2,196
11,117
- of January
three years ending December
on June
30,425
2014 for
the period
1, 2015
to (13,738)
December -31, 2017.
Environmental rehabilitation
adjustment (note 26)
Exchange realignment

(13,066)
_______

_______

(156)
_______

(3,661)
_______

(415)
_______

_______

857
(6,683)
_______

857
(53,931) _________
(77,912)
_______

_______

_______

_______

_______

_______

_______

_______

_______

Revenue from sales of gold
doré bars to CNG decreased
from US$233.8
million
for the8,502
year ended
December
31, 2015
to US$227.6
At December 31, 2016
198,713
213,144
4,403
110,377
198
442,534
846,790
1,824,661
million for the year ended
December 31, 2016.
ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION
As at January 1, 2015
Provided for the year
Eliminated on disposals
Exchange realignment

(28,984)
(9,435)

(29,524)
(16,855)

(1,860)
(372)

(36,564)
(8,970)

(3,936)
(1,217)

(104)
(21)

(53,468)
(33,586)

_________

-

(154,440)
(70,456)

On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised
continuing
connected
and- major transaction
amending
the
33
47 transaction
80
1,285
_______

_______

40
_______

981
_______

149
_______

_______

355
_______

_______

2,810
_________

Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
At December 31, 2015

(37,101)

(46,379)

(2,192)

(44,506)

(5,004)

(125)

(86,699)

-

(222,006)

Provided
for the
yearquantity of copper
(9,033) concentrates,
(16,837)
(466)
(1,027)payment
(18) terms
(40,854)
(77,686)
produced at the JiamaReversal
Mine.
The
pricing(9,451)
terms
and
be established
from time
1,537
1,537

Eliminated on disposals
24
112
136
to time by the parties with
reference to the pricing
principles
for connected
transactions
set out
under
the Product
and
Service
Exchange realignment
2,177
65
1,660
247
516
4,665
_______

_______

_______

_______

_______

_______

_______

_______

_________

Framework Agreement.AtFor
the 31,
year
2016, revenue
sales_______
of
copper
concentrate
and
products to
December
2016 ended December
(43,957) 31,
(61,679)
(2,569) from
(52,297)
(5,672)
(143)
(127,037)
-other
(293,354)
_______
_______
_______
_______
_______
_______
_______
_________
CNG was US$59.8 million,
compared
CARRYING
VALUE to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.
At December 31, 2016

154,756
_______

151,465
_______

1,834
_______

58,080
_______

2,830
_______

55
_______

315,497
_______

846,790
_______

1,531,307
_________

At December 31, 2015

171,407
_______

169,500
_______

1,569
_______

55,199
_______

3,604
_______

73
_______

300,791
_______

752,176
_______

1,454,319
_________

For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by _________
subsidiaries of
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for mineral assets, are depreciated using
the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets as follows:

In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related

Buildings
OverAgreement
the shorterentered
of the term
of lease,
or 24
years Inner Mongolia
parties in its normal course
of business, including a Financial Services
on May
29, 2015
among
Pacific, Huatailong andCrushers
China Gold Finance.

PROPOSED

Furniture and office equipment
Machinery and equipment
Motor vehicles
TRANSACTIONS
Leasehold improvements

14 years
2 to 5 years
2 to 10 years
5 to 10 years
Over the shorter of the term of lease, or 5.5 years

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
targets through joint venture,
The Group
not have
material
acquisition
Mineralmerger
assets and/or
mainly outright
representacquisitions.
drilling, stripping
and did
related
costs any
incurred
on sites
with anand disposal

existing mine
and oninareas
within
the boundary
of a31,known
deposit which
contains
of subsidiaries and associated
companies
the year
ended
December
2016. mineral
The Company
continues
to review possible
proventhe
andJinfeng
probable
reserves
andby
areCNG
capitalized
when they
incurredthere
to improve
to the that
acquisition targets, including
Mine
acquired
in September
2016.areHowever,
can beaccess
no assurances
future ores. Mineral assets are depreciated using the unit-of-production method based on the

such review will result inactual
any acquisition
productiontransactions.
volume over the estimated total proven and probable reserves of the mines.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
applying thePLANT
Company’s
accounting policies,
the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
20. ofPROPERTY,
AND EQUIPMENT
- continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

Mineral
Assets
annual consolidated
financial
statements.
(a)

CSH Gold Mine

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that

GoldaMine,
in which
the Group
a 96.5%
equityofinterest,
consists
of a within
licensed
have a significant risk ofCSH
causing
material
adjustment
to theholds
carrying
amounts
assets and
liabilities
the next twelve

area of 36 square kilometers ("km2") in the western part of Inner Mongolia, northern
China. The site is centrally positioned within the east-west-trending Tian Shan Gold Belt
and is approximately 650 kilometers ("km") northwest of Beijing. The carrying value of
the CSH Gold Mine
in relation to mineral assets is US$252,467,000 as at December 31,
CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
2016
(December
31,
2015:
A summary of new and revised IFRS standards
andUS$233,066,000).
interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

(b)

Jiama Mine

The Jiama Mine, a large copper-gold polymetallic deposit consisting of skarn-type and
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
hornfels-type mineralization located in Metrorkongka County in Tibet, in which the Group

The Company holds a number
of financial
the most
significant of which
are available-for-sale
investments, accounts
holds 100%
equityinstruments,
interest through
its wholly-owned
subsidiary,
Skyland. The Group
acquired
Skyland
on December
1, 2010.
The Jiama
holds
mining
permits
receivable, accounts payable,
cash
and loans.
The financial
instruments
are Mine
recorded
attwo
either
fair values
or amortized amount
2
2
on the balance sheet. covering an area of approximately 76.9 km and 66.4 km , respectively and were

combined as one mining permit. The carrying value of the Jiama Mine in relation to
mineral assets is US$63,030,000 as at December 31, 2016 (December 31, 2015:
The Company did not have
any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.
US$67,725,000).

OFF-BALANCE
SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
21.
MINING RIGHTS

As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.US$'000

DIVIDEND

COST
At January 1, 2015
AND
DIVIDEND
Exchange
realignment

POLICY

979,607
(2,208)
_______

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of

At December 31, 2015 and January 1, 2016
Exchange realignment

977,399
(3,058)
_______

At December 31, 2016

974,341

Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and _______
other relevant factors.

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION
At
1, 2015
(41,801)
Subject to the BritishJanuary
Columbia
Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare
and authorize payment of
Additions
(5,264)
such dividends asExchange
they mayrealignment
deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of182
payment provided that
_______
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
At December 31, 2015 and January 1, 2016
(46,883)
date on which the
dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
Additions
(4,814)
Exchange realignment
173
_______
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures

At December 31, 2016

(51,524)
_______

or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets

CARRYING VALUE
At December 31, 2016

if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

At December 31, 2015

OUTSTANDING SHARES

922,817
_______

930,516
_______

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

21.

MINING RIGHTS - continued

The
amounts
represent
mining
rights
in the Jiama
Mine, inrelated
relation
theofcopper
concentrate
and
The Company had major
related
party
transactions
with
the following
companies
bytoway
shareholders
and shareholder

other by-products production, acquired through the acquisition of Skyland. The two mining
permits were renewed in 2014 and 2015, respectively and were combined as one mining permit.
The mining permit will expire in 2023. The Group considers that it will be able to renew the
On October 24, 2008, the
Company’s
subsidiary,
Inner Mongolia
Pacific
enteredcontinuously
into a non-exclusive
contractcost
for the
and
mining
rights with
the relevant
government
authority
at insignificant
untilpurchase
the
mineContract”)
life.
sale of doré with CNG end
(theof
“2008
pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG
in common:

through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold

Amortization on mining rights acquired is provided to write off the cost of the mining rights using

Exchange and the dailythe
average
price of silvermethod
as quoted
onon
thethe
Shanghai
Huatong Platinum
& Silver
at the
unit-of-production
based
actual production
volume over
theExchange
estimatedprevailing
total

time of each relevant purchase
order
during reserves
the contract
period.
On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
proven and
probable
of the
mines.
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

22.

ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
million for the year ended
December
31, 2016.
Accounts
and other
payables of the Group are principally comprised of amounts outstanding for

trade purchases relating to minerals production activities and construction activities. The average
credit period taken for trade purchases is between 120 to 150 days.

On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
Product and Service Framework
with CNG.
to the amendments,
purchases the copper concentrates
Accounts Agreement
and other payable
andAccording
accrued expenses
comprise the CNG
following:
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time

December
31,the Product
December
to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set
out under
and31,
Service
2016

2015

Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper US$'000
concentrate and other
products to
US$'000
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.

Accounts payable
17,738
51,815
Bills
payable
73,785
For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by 36,960
subsidiaries of
Construction costs payable
69,582
61,005
CNG (US$140.8 million for
the yearfrom
ended
December 31, 2015).
Advances
customers
46
49
Mining cost accrual
5,453
6,466
Other accruals major related party transactions, the Company also obtains1,138
In addition to the two aforementioned
additional services1,844
from related
Payroll and benefit payable
4,967
4,271
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Other tax payables
1,762
1,061
Pacific, Huatailong andOther
Chinapayables
Gold Finance.
1,993
2,533
_______
_______

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

176,464
_______

166,004
_______

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition

The following is an aged analysis of the accounts payable presented based on the invoice date at

targets through joint venture,
and/or outright
the endmerger
of the reporting
period:acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal

Decembercontinues
31,
December
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company
to review 31,
possible
2015
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However,2016
there can be no assurances
that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.

Less than 30 days
31 to 90 days
91 to 180 days
Over 180 days

US$'000

US$'000

7,277
5,445
2,396
2,620
_______

41,975
1,783
1,195
6,862
_______

17,738
_______

51,815
_______
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In the process
applying theAND
Company’s
policies,
the Directors
of the Company
have identified accounting
22. ofACCOUNTS
OTHER accounting
PAYABLE AND
ACCRUED
EXPENSES
- continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

The financial
credit period
for bills payable is 180 days from the bills issue date.
annual consolidated
statements.

The following is an ageing analysis of bills payables, presented based on bills issue date at the end

Key assumptions of
concerning
the future
the reporting
period:and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that

December
31,next twelve
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts ofDecember
assets and31,
liabilities
within the
2016
US$'000

2015
US$'000

months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

than 30 days
CHANGE INLessACCOUNTING
POLICIES

18,739
31
to
60
days
7,208
12,320
A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated
61 to 90 days
11,799
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
91 to 180 days
36,039
24,640
_______
_______

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

73,785
_______

36,960
_______

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
receivable,
payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
23.accounts
BORROWINGS
on the balance sheet.

The borrowings are repayable as follows:

December
31,
December
The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts
as at December
31,
2016. 31,

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

2016
US$'000

2015
US$'000

amount
repayable
on demand
one year sheet arrangements.
As at December Carrying
31, 2016, the
Company
had not
entered and
into within
any off-balance
(Note 1)
Carrying amount repayable within one to two years
Carrying
amount repayable
within two to five years (Note 2)
AND
DIVIDEND
POLICY
Carrying amount repayable over five years (Note 2)

596,233
189,009
57,662
487,766
204,699
126,278
DIVIDEND
296,238
149,378
_______
The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently_________
have a fixed dividend
policy. The Board of
1,154,832
952,431
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
Less:operating
Amountsand
due capital
within one
year (shown
financial conditions,
requirements,
theunder
rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
current liabilities)
(596,233)
(189,009)
_________
_______
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable
profits and other relevant
factors.
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities
558,599
763,422
_________
_______
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
such dividends asNotes:
they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the

1.

On July 17, 2014, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Skyland Mining

date on which the dividend
is toLimited,
be paidcompleted
by more than
months.
(BVI)
the two
issuance
of bonds to independent third parties in an

aggregate principal amount of US$500 million, listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong

bonds
were issued
at aspecific
price ofassets
99.634%,
interest
ofbonds,
3.5% debentures
A dividend may be paidKong
whollyLimited.
or partly The
by the
distribution
of cash,
or ofbearing
fully paid
sharesrate
or of

a maturity
of July
17, 2017.
Interest
in may
equalbesemi-annual
or other securities of the with
Company,
or in date
any one
or more
of those
ways. is
Nopayable
dividend
declared orinstalments
paid in money or assets
on January 17 and July 17 in each year.

if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

23.

BORROWINGS - continued

Notes:
The Company had major
related party transactions with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

2.

Skyland entered into a syndicated long term loan facility agreement with a syndicate of
banks ("The Lenders"), on November 3, 2015 which is available for Skyland to draw
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s
subsidiary,
Inner
Pacific
entered into
a non-exclusive
contract
the purchase
and
down up
to October
30,Mongolia
2018. As
at December
31, 2016,
Skyland has
drawnfor
down
the
loanContract”)
amount ofpursuant
RMB2,885,000,000
(equivalent
approximately
US$415,886,000)
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008
to which Inner
MongoliatoPacific
occasionally
sold gold doré (2015:
bars to CNG
(equivalent
to approximately
The unutilized
through to December 31, 2011.RMB1,400,000,000
The pricing was based
on the daily
average priceUS$215,597,000)).
of gold ingot as quoted
on the Shanghai Gold
facility was RMB1,095,000,000 (equivalent to approximately US$157,849,000) as at
Exchange and the daily average
price
of
silver
as
quoted
on
the
Shanghai
Huatong
Platinum
&
Silver
Exchange
prevailing at the
December 31, 2016 (2015: RMB2,580,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
time of each relevant purchaseUS$397,314,000)).
order during the contract
period.
On aJanuary
2012,
the 2008set
Contract
was
The loan
carries
floating27,
rate,
currently
at 2.83%
perrenewed
annum, for
setanother
by the
Bank of China
Lhasa
interest
rate bench
mark,
discounted
three years ending December 31,
2014People's
and subsequently
on June
30, Center
2014 forBranch's
the period
of January
1, 2015
to December
31, 2017.
by 7 base points (or 0.07%) as at December 31, 2016 and 2015. Repayment of the loan is
scheduled to begin in May 2019 and will reach full maturity and repayment in November
Revenue from sales of gold doré
bars The
to CNG
from
US$233.8covenant
million forwith
the year
ended
December
31,in2015 to US$227.6
2023.
loandecreased
is subject to
a financial
which
the Company
was
million for the year ended December
31, 2016.
compliance
as at December 31, 2016 and 2015.
Analysed as:

On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the

December 31,

December 31,

Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases
concentrates
2016 the copper2015

US$'000
US$'000
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment
terms be established
from time

to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service

Secured

415,886
_________

215,597
_______

1,154,832
_________

952,431
_______

Framework Agreement.Unsecured
For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate
and other
products to
738,946
736,834
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of

Fixed
amounting
approximately
US$738,961,000 (December 31, 2015:
CNG (US$140.8 million for
the rate
yearloans
ended
Decemberto31,
2015).

US$736,835,000), carry weighted average effective interest rate of 3.13% (2015: 4.54%) per
annum.

In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related

The of
carrying
values
of theapledged
to secure
borrowings
byon
theMay
Group
are asamong
follows:
parties in its normal course
business,
including
Financialassets
Services
Agreement
entered
29, 2015
Inner Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

December 31,
2016
US$'000

December 31,
2015
US$'000

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition

Mining rights

922,817

930,516

_______
_______
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any
material acquisition
and disposal
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that

24.

ENTRUSTED LOAN PAYABLE

such review will result in any acquisition transactions.

On January 17, 2014, the Group entered into a three-year entrusted loan agreement with CNG
(note 28) and China Construction Bank ("CCB") in which CNG provided a loan of RMB200
million (equivalent to approximately US$32,221,000 based on the spot rate at the withdrawal date)
to the Group through CCB as the entrusted bank. The entrusted loan is unsecured and carries
interest at a fixed rate of 3% per annum. The principal amount was fully repaid on January 18,
2017.
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In the process
applying the
Company’s accounting policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
25. ofDEFERRED
INCOME
31, recognized
December in31,the audited
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect December
on the amounts
annual consolidated financial statements.

2016
US$'000

2015
US$'000

Key assumptions Deferred
concerning
the future
and othergrants
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of each reporting
income
- government
4,195
1,779 period that

Deferred
lease inducement
19 liabilities within
19 next twelve
have a significant
risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and
the
_______
_______
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for4,214
the year ended December
1,798 31, 2016.

_______

_______

CHANGE INMovement
ACCOUNTING
in the deferredPOLICIES
income - government grants:

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2016
2 of the audited annual
2015 consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

US$'000

US$'000

At January 1

1,779
1,772
3,488
940
Charged
to
other
income
(658)
(716)
The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
Exchange realignment
(414)
(217)
_______
_______

FINANCIALAddition
INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount

At December 31
on the balance sheet.

4,195
_______

1,779
_______

The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

26.

ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION

OFF-BALANCE
SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
The environmental
rehabilitation relates to reclamation and closure costs relating to the Group's
As at December mine
31, 2016,
the Company
had not
entered
into Jiama
any off-balance
arrangements.
operations
at the CSH
Gold
Mine and
Mine. Thesheet
environmental
rehabilitation is

DIVIDEND

calculated as the net present value of estimated future net cash flows of the reclamation and
closure costs, which total US$85,467,000 (2015: US$94,710,000), discounted at 6.19% (2015:
AND
DIVIDEND
POLICY
6.9%) per
annum at December
31, 2016.

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of

The following
is an
analysispolicy
of theonenvironmental
rehabilitation:
Directors will determine
any future
dividend
the basis of, among
others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
2016

2015

financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the
regulators affecting
dividends in both
US$'000
US$'000
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.

At January 1
49,090
30,932
Additions
to
site
reclamation
15,537
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
Additions resulted from change in discount rate during the year
857
2,031
such dividends asAccretion
they mayincurred
deem advisable,
including
method of payment
in the current
year the amount thereof and the time and
2,967
2,606provided that
the record date Payment
for the purpose
shareholders entitled to receive payment of(284)
the dividend must not
during of
thedetermining
year
- precede the
Exchange
(3,293)
(2,016)
date on which the
dividendrealignment
is to be paid by more than two months.
_______
_______
At December 31

49,337
_______

49,090
_______

A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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CNG owned 39.3
of theCAPITAL
outstanding
common
shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.
27.percent
SHARE
AND
OPTIONS

(a)related
Common
shares
The Company had major
party transactions
with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

(i)

Authorized - Unlimited common shares without par value

(ii) subsidiary,
Issued andInner
outstanding
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s
Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and
Number

sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally
bars to CNG
of shares sold gold doré
Amount
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on theUS$'000
Shanghai Gold

Issued & fully paid:
At January 1, 2015, December 31, 2015
time of each relevant purchase order during
contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008
Contract was renewed
for another
and the
2016
396,413,753
1,229,061
___________
_________
Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

(b)

Stock options

Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6

The Group had a stock option plan which permits the board of directors of the Company to
grant options to directors and employees to acquire common shares of the Company at the
price on the date of approval by the board of directors. The Company granted such
options
for into
exercisable
periods
of up connected
to six years,transaction
with a portion
the options
having
On May 29, 2015, the Company
entered
a revised
continuing
and of
major
transaction
amending the
vested immediately on the grant date and the balance having vested over a period of up to
Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
five years from the grant date. The fair market value of the exercise price is the volume
produced at the Jiama Mine. weighted
The quantity
of copper
concentrates,
established
from time
average
price of
the commonpricing
shares terms
for theand
fivepayment
days on terms
whichbe
they
were traded
immediately
the datefor
of approval
bytransactions
the board ofset
directors.
to time by the parties with reference
to thepreceding
pricing principles
connected
out under the Product and Service
million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Framework Agreement. For theThe
yearfair
ended
31, 2016,
sales date,
of copper
and other
products to
valueDecember
of the options
was revenue
measuredfrom
at grant
usingconcentrate
the Black-Scholes
option

pricingtomodel,
is recognized
over
the vesting
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared
US$21.0and
million
for the same
period
in 2015.period that the employees earn the

options. The fair value is recognized as an expense over its vesting periods with a
corresponding increase in equity (equity reserve). The amount recognized as expense in
For the year ended Decembereach
31, 2016,
construction
US$39.6
million
were options
provided
to the Company
by subsidiaries
of
period
is adjustedservices
to reflectofthe
number
of share
expected
to vest. When
the
share
options
are
forfeited
after
the
vesting
or
are
still
not
exercised
at
the
expiry
date,
the
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
amount previously recognized in equity reserve will continue to be held in equity.
In addition to the two aforementioned
major related
party transactions,
the Company
alsothe
obtains
additional
services
from related
The following
is a summary
of option transactions
under
Group's
stock option
plan

during the
year: a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
parties in its normal course of business,
including
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

2016

2015
Weighted
Weighted
average
average
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
Number of
exercise
Number of
exercise
options of a number
priceof projectsoptions
The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews
that may qualifyprice
as acquisition
CAD
CAD
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
of subsidiaries and associatedBalance
companies
in the 1
year ended December- 31, 2016. The-Company400,000
continues to review
at January
5.56possible
Options
expired
400,000
6.09
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in_______
September 2016.
However, there
can be no _______
assurances that
_______
_______
such review will result in any acquisition
Balance attransactions.
December 31

_______

_______

_______

_______

400,000 stock options were granted during the year ended December 31, 2010. The options were
granted on June 1, 2010 and expire on June 1, 2015. No stock options were granted during the
year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
applying the
Company’s
accounting policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
28. ofRELATED
PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

The financial
Group operates
in an economic environment currently predominated by enterprises directly
annual consolidated
statements.

or indirectly owned or controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government (hereinafter
collectively referred to as "Government-related entities"). In addition, the Group itself is a
Key assumptions Government-related
concerning the futureentity.
and other
key
sources of estimation
at the influence
end of each
period that
CNG,
a substantial
shareholderuncertainty
with significant
overreporting
the
Group,
is
a
state
owned
company
registered
in
Beijing,
PRC,
which
is
controlled
by
State-owned
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council of the PRC.
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.
During the year, except as disclosed below, the Group did not have any individually significant

with other government-related
CHANGE INtransactions
ACCOUNTING
POLICIES entities in its ordinary and usual course of business.

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note 2 of the audited annual consolidated

Name and relationship with related parties during the years are as follows:

financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

CNG owned the following percentages of outstanding common shares of the Company:

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

December 31,

December 31,

39.3
_______

39.3
_______

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale
investments,
accounts
2016
2015
%
receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either
fair values or %
amortized amount
on the balance sheet.

CNG

The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

(a)

Transactions/balances with government-related entities in the PRC

OFF-BALANCE SHEET
ARRANGEMENTS
(i)
Transactions/balances
with CNG and its subsidiaries

As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

The Group had the following transactions with CNG and CNG's subsidiaries:

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

December 31,

December 31,

2016
The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have
a fixed dividend 2015
policy. The Board of

US$'000
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things,US$'000
the results of operations,
cash flows and
financial conditions, operating and
requirements,
rules(Note
promulgated
by the227,580
regulators affecting
dividends in both
Goldcapital
doré bars
sales by thethe
Group
a)
233,799
_______
_______
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.

Copper and other product sales by the Group

Subject to the British Columbia Business
Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time
declare and authorize
(Note b)
59,750
20,987 payment of
_______provided that
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time_______
and method of payment
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the

Provision of transportation services by the Group

date on which the dividend is to be
paidb)by more than two months.
(Note

633
_______

428
_______

A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures

Office lease to the Group (Note b)

1,129

1,162

_______
_______
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may
be declared or paid
in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

Construction, stripping and mining services
provided to the Group (Note b, c)

OUTSTANDING SHARES

39,624
_______

140,829
_______

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.

- 54 -

57

61

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

28.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS - continued

(a)related
Transactions/balances
with
entities
in by
theway
PRCof-shareholders
continued and shareholder
The Company had major
party transactions with
thegovernment-related
following companies
related
in common:

(i)

Transactions/balances with CNG and its subsidiaries - continued

On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive
contract
the purchase
December
31, forDecember
31, and

2016 sold gold doré2015
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally
bars to CNG
US$'000
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot
as quoted on theUS$'000
Shanghai Gold

Exchange and the daily average priceLoan
of silver
as quoted
onGroup
the Shanghai
&150,000
Silver Exchange prevailing
advanced
by the
(Note d)Huatong Platinum _______
14,021 at the
_______
time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

Loan provided to the Group (Note e)

43,246
_______

21,560
_______

Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6

Cash
and cash equivalent held by the Group (Note e) _______
31,052
million for the year ended December 31,
2016.

14,956
_______

Notes:
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered
into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates

a.

On May 7, 2014, the Company's subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific Mining

produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity ofCo.
copper
concentrates,
pricing
terms
and payment
established
from time
Ltd. ("IMP")
entered
into an
exclusive
contract terms
for thebesale
of doré with

to time by the parties with reference to the pricing
principlestofor
connected
transactions
the the
Product
CNG pursuant
which
IMP sells
gold doréset
barsout
to under
CNG for
periodand
up Service
to
December
31,
2017.
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.

The extent of the continuing connected transactions for the year ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015 did not exceed the limit as set out in the
For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction
servicesof
ofthe
US$39.6
million
were
announcement
Group
on May
7, provided
2014. to the Company by subsidiaries of
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).

b.

On April 26, 2013, the Company entered into a product and service
framework agreement with CNG for the provision of providing mining
In addition to the two aforementioned major related
transactions,
the Company
also obtains
additional
services
relatedparty
services
and products
to the Company
for three
years until
Junefrom
18, related
2016.
The agreement
amendedentered
to extend
the term
of the
agreement
parties in its normal course of business, including
a Financial
Services was
Agreement
on May
29, 2015
among
Inner to
Mongolia
December
31,
2017
and
to
include
copper
concentrates
sales
contract
and
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.
office lease contract with CNG since May 29, 2015.

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

The extent of the continuing connected transactions for the year ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015 did not exceed the limit as set out in the
The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
announcement of the Group on May 29, 2015.

targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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In the process
applying the
Company’s
accounting -policies,
the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
28. ofRELATED
PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

(a)

Transactions/balances with government-related entities in the PRC - continued

annual consolidated financial statements.

(i)

Transactions/balances with CNG and its subsidiaries - continued

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that

c.

On May 7, 2014, Tibet Huatailong entered into a stripping and mining
agreement with China Tenth Metallurgy Group Limited Corporation
months are described in Note 4 of the audited
annual
consolidated
financial
statements
for shall
the year
ended
December 31, 2016.
("CTMG"),
a subsidiary
of CNG,
whereby
CTMG
provide
stripping
and mining services for phase II production-period hornfels at the Jiama
Mine.

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A summary of new and revised IFRS standards
and
outlinedtransactions
in Note 2 of
annual consolidated
The extent
of interpretations
the continuing are
connected
forthe
theaudited
year ended

31, 2016 and 2015 did not exceed the limit as set out in the
financial statements as at December 31,December
2016.
announcement of the Group on May 7, 2014.

d.
On
AprilOTHER
14, 2015, INSTRUMENTS
Skyland Mining (BVI) Limited ("Skyland (BVI)"), the
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AND
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a loan agreement

The Company holds a number of financial
the most
of which
available-for-sale
investments,
accounts
withinstruments,
China National
Goldsignificant
Group Hong
Kongare
Limited
("CNGHK"),
a

subsidiary
CNG, pursuant
to which
Skyland at
(BVI)
as fair
lender,
agreed
to
receivable, accounts payable, cash and
loans. Theoffinancial
instruments
are recorded
either
values
or amortized
amount
provide the loan in the principal amount up to US$14 million for a term of
one year, to CNGHK as borrower. US$6 million of the loan was repaid on
August 25, 2016. On April 12, 2016, the loan was extended to April 2017.

on the balance sheet.

The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

On August 25, 2016, Skyland (BVI) entered into a loan agreement with
CNGHK, a subsidiary of CNG, pursuant to which Skyland (BVI) as a
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
lender, agreed to provide the loan in the principal amount up to US$120
expiring
July
1, 2017, to
CNGHK
as borrower.
As at December 31, 2016, the Companymillion
had notand
entered
intoon
any
off-balance
sheet
arrangements.
On September 13, 2016, Skyland (BVI) entered into a loan agreement with
Chaarat CISC ("Kichi") a subsidiary of CNG, pursuant to which
DIVIDEND AND DIVIDENDKichi
POLICY
Skyland (BVI) as a lender, agreed to provide the loan in the principal
The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
amount up to US$30 million and expiring on July 10, 2017, to Kichi as
Directors will determine any future dividend
policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and
borrower.
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both

The transaction constituted a connected transaction for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, details of which are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated April 14, 2015 and May 24, 2016,
Subject to the British Columbia Business respectively.
Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.

such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that

e.

On May 29, 2015, the Company's subsidiaries, IMP, Huatailong and China

the record date for the purpose of determining
shareholders
entitled
receive
payment
the dividend
must not precede the
Gold Finance,
a subsidiary
of to
CNG,
entered
into a of
financial
services

pursuant
to which China Gold Finance will provide deposit
date on which the dividend is to be paidagreement
by more than
two months.

services, loan, settlement, credit facility, financial advisory and other
financial services subject to terms and conditions provided therein for a
A dividend may be paid wholly or partlyterm
by the
distribution
of three
years. of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets

The extent of the continuing connected transactions for the year ended

if there are reasonable grounds for believing
that31,
the2016
Company
is insolvent
or the payment
of set
the out
dividend
December
and 2015
did not exceed
the limit as
in the would render the
Company insolvent.
announcement of the Group on May 29, 2015.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

28.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS - continued

(a)related
Transactions/balances
with
entities
in by
theway
PRCof-shareholders
continued and shareholder
The Company had major
party transactions with
thegovernment-related
following companies
related
in common:

(i)

Transactions/balances with CNG and its subsidiaries - continued

The GroupInner
has Mongolia
the following
significant
balances
with CNGcontract
and its subsidiaries
at and
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary,
Pacific
entered into
a non-exclusive
for the purchase
the end of each reporting period:

sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG

December 31,

December 31,

through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot 2016
as quoted on the Shanghai
Gold
2015

US$'000 at the
Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum US$'000
& Silver Exchange prevailing
Assets
Amounts due from related companies (note 15)
128
2,407
three years ending December 31, 2014Deposits
and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 168
1, 2015 to December
31, 2017.
912
Loans receivable from CNG subsidiaries (note 15)
158,433
14,021
Cash and cash equivalents held in a CNG subsidiary
31,052
14,956
Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
Trade receivables from CNG subsidiaries (note 15)
490
_______
_______

time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another

million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

190,271
_______

32,296
_______

On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the

The loans
from CNG's
includedthe
in trade
andconcentrates
other
Product and Service Framework Agreement
with receivable
CNG. According
to the subsidiaries,
amendments,which
CNG is
purchases
copper
receivables, carry fixed interest rates at 3.9% to 5% (2015: 5%) per annum and are

produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity
of copper
concentrates,
termsThe
andremaining
paymentamounts
terms bedue
established
from time
unsecured
and repayable
withinpricing
one year.
from CNG

andthe
itspricing
subsidiaries
which
included transactions
in other receivables
is non-interest
bearing,
to time by the parties with reference to
principles
forare
connected
set out under
the Product
and Service
unsecured
and repayable
demand.
Framework Agreement. For the year ended
December
31, 2016, on
revenue
from sales of copper concentrate and other products to
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.

December 31,
2016
US$'000

December 31,
2015
US$'000

Liabilities
For the year ended December 31, 2016,
construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of
Entrusted loan payable (note 24)

28,831
30,800
33
35
Construction costs payable to CNG's subsidiaries
14,970
15,564
payableparty
to a CNG
subsidiary
43,304
21,560
_______
_______
In addition to the two aforementioned Loans
major related
transactions,
the Company also obtains
additional services
from related
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended
December
31, 2015).
Customer
advance
paid by CNG's subsidiary

87,138
67,959
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May
29, 2015 among_______
Inner
Mongolia
_______
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

_______

_______

The loans payable to a CNG subsidiary, which are included in borrowings, carry
fixed interest rates at 4.35% (2015: range from 4.13% to 4.37%) per annum and are
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
unsecured and repayable within one year. With the exception of the entrusted loan
The Board of Directors has given the Company
to conduct
reviewstoofa aCNG
number
of projects
may qualify
acquisition
payable approval
to CNG and
loans payable
subsidiary,
thethat
amounts
due to as
CNG
and
its
subsidiaries
which
are
included
in
other
payables
and
construction
costs
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
payable, are non-interest bearing, unsecured and have no fixed terms of
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
repayments.
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that

(ii)
Transactions/balances
with other government - related entities in the PRC
such review will result in any acquisition
transactions.

Apart from the transactions with CNG and its subsidiaries disclosed above, the
Group has also entered into transactions of bank deposits, borrowings and other
general banking facilities with other government-related entities in its ordinary
course of business. Over 74%, 56% and 100% (2015: over 95%, 47% and 95%) of
the Group's bank deposits, borrowings and other general banking facilities are with
government-related entities respectively.
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In the process
applying the
Company’s
accounting -policies,
the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
28. ofRELATED
PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

(b) financial
Compensation
of key management personnel
annual consolidated
statements.

Other than the directors' emoluments disclosed in note 11(a), the Group has the following

Key assumptions concerning
the future to
and
other
sources of estimation
uncertainty
at the end of each reporting period that
compensation
other
keykey
management
personnel during
the years:
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve

2016
US$'000

2015
US$'000

months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Salaries and other POLICIES
benefits
CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING

854
1,033
Post-employment
benefits
13
11 consolidated
_______
A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note
2 of the audited_______
annual
867
1,044
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
_______
_______

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

29. holds
CAPITAL
RISK
MANAGEMENT
The Company
a number
of financial
instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
receivable, accounts
payable,
cash and
loans. The
financial
instruments
areasrecorded
at either
fair objectives
values or amortized amount
The Group
manages
its common
shares
and stock
options
capital. The
Group's
on the balance sheet.
when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order

to operate its mines, pursue the development of its mineral properties and to maintain a flexible
capital structure which optimizes the costs of capital at an acceptable risk. The Group's overall
The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.
strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The Group
manages
the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of operating results,
OFF-BALANCE
SHEET
ARRANGEMENTS

and the into
riskany
characteristics
the underlying
assets. To maintain
As at December changes
31, 2016, in
theeconomic
Companyconditions
had not entered
off-balanceofsheet
arrangements.

or adjust the capital structure, the Group may attempt to issue new shares or options, issue of new
debt, redemption of existing debt or acquire or dispose of assets.

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

In order to facilitate the Management of its capital requirements, the Group prepares annual
expenditure budgets that are updated as necessary depending on various factors, including
Directors will determine
anyresults,
future successful
dividend policy
ondeployment
the basis of,and
among
others
things,conditions.
the results of
operations,
cash flows and
operating
capital
general
industry
The
annual and
updated
budgets
arecapital
approved
by the boardthe
of rules
directors
of the Company.
financial conditions,
operating
and
requirements,
promulgated
by the regulators affecting dividends in both
The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of

Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.

In order to maximize ongoing development efforts, the Group does not pay out dividends. The
Group's investment policy is to invest its short-term excess cash in fixed bank deposits with
Subject to the British
Columbia
Business
the Directors
may from time
to timewith
declare
andtoauthorize
payment of
maturities
of 90
days orCorporations
less from theAct,
original
date of acquisition,
selected
regards
the
timing
expenditures
from its
such dividends asexpected
they may
deemofadvisable,
including
theoperations.
amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

31,
December
31,
The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies related by way December
of shareholders
and shareholder
Financial instrument classification

in common:

2016
US$'000

2015
US$'000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
59,930
112,399
On October 24, 2008, the
Company’s
subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Loans
Pacific
into a non-exclusive contract
Restricted
bank balance
andentered
receivables
21,085 for the purchase
9,242 and
and other
receivablespursuant to whichLoans
receivables
sale of doré with CNG Trade
(the “2008
Contract”)
Innerand
Mongolia
Pacific occasionally163,228
sold gold doré 35,801
bars to CNG
Amount due from a non-controlling
through to December 31,
2011. Theofpricing
was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold
shareholder
a subsidiary
prepaid
Loans
and receivables
353
384 at the
Exchange and the daily(included
averageinprice
ofexpenses)
silver as quoted on the
Shanghai
Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange
prevailing
Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale financial assets
14,755
17,447
_______
_______
time of each relevant purchase order during the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract
was renewed
for another

three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.
Financial liabilities
Accounts and other payables*
Other financial liabilities
163,098
152,312
Borrowings
Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
Other financial liabilities
738,946
736,834
- Loans, other than syndicated loan
- Syndicated
loan31, 2016.
Other financial liabilities
415,886
215,597
million for the year ended
December
Entrusted loan payable
Other financial liabilities
28,831
30,800
_______
_______

On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
*

Excluded advances from customers, mining cost accrual, other accrual, payroll and benefit payable and other tax

Product and Service Framework
Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
payables.
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time

The reference
Group's financial
instruments
are exposed
to certain
financial risks
including
market
riskand
(e.g.Service
to time by the parties with
to the pricing
principles
for connected
transactions
set out
under the
Product
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from sales of copper concentrate and other products to
CNG was US$59.8 million,
to US$21.0
(a)compared
Currency
risk million for the same period in 2015.

Groupconstruction
is exposed to
the financial
riskmillion
relatedwere
to the
fluctuation
of Company
foreign exchange
For the year ended DecemberThe
31, 2016,
services
of US$39.6
provided
to the
by subsidiaries of
rates for the monetary assets and liabilities denominated in the currencies other than the

CNG (US$140.8 million for the year
ended currencies
December to
31,which
2015).they related. The Group has not hedged its exposure to
functional

currency fluctuations. However, the Management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and willmajor
consider
hedging
foreign
currencyalso
exposure
should
the need
arise.from related
In addition to the two aforementioned
related
partysignificant
transactions,
the Company
obtains
additional
services
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia

At the end of each reporting period, Huatailong of which its functional currency is RMB,

Pacific, Huatailong and China had
GoldUS$
Finance.
denominated intra-group borrowings from Skyland Mining (BVI) Limited. The

intra-group borrowing is approximately US$251,000,000 (2015: US$346,000,000) as at
December 31, 2016.

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.

- 59 -

62

60

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CHINA GOLD INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CORP. LTD.
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In the process
applying theINSTRUMENTS
Company’s accounting
policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
30. ofFINANCIAL
- continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

(a) financial
Currency
risk - continued
annual consolidated
statements.

The Group is mainly exposed to exchange rate fluctuation of RMB and US$.

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that

monetary
assetsadjustment
and liabilities
have a significant risk ofRMB
causing
a material
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
December 31,
2016
US$'000

December 31,
2015
US$'000

months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

andIFRS
cashstandards
equivalents
26,430 consolidated
A summary of new and Cash
revised
and interpretations are outlined in Note 22,362
2 of the audited annual
Restricted bank balances
Trade and other receivables
Available-for-sale investments
Accounts and other payables
INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER
Borrowings

financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

21,085
20
1,442
(112,290)
(72,077)
_______

9,242
1,524
1,540
(91,311)
(50,819)
_______

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts

_______
_______
receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded (139,458)
at
either fair values(103,394)
or amortized amount
on the balance sheet.
Based on the above net exposures, and assuming that all other variables remain constant, a
5% any
(2015:
5%) depreciation/appreciation
the RMB
againstas
theatUS$
would result
in an
The Company did not have
financial
derivatives or outstandingof
hedging
contracts
December
31, 2016.
decrease/increase in the Group's loss for the year of approximately US$5,230,000 (2015:
decrease/increase in the Group's loss for the year of approximately US$3,877,000) for the
year ended
December 31, 2016.
OFF-BALANCE SHEET
ARRANGEMENTS
As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

US$ monetary assets and liabilities

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

December 31,
2016
US$'000

December 31,
2015
US$'000

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Directors will determine any
dividend
policy on the basis of, among others things, the results
cash flows and
Cashfuture
and cash
equivalents
35 of operations,971

Inter-company
loansrequirements, the rules promulgated by the
(251,000)
(346,000)
financial conditions, operating
and capital
regulators affecting
dividends in both
(9,686)
(10,431)
Canada and Hong KongOther
and atpayables
both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable _______
profits
and other relevant
factors.
_______
(260,651)
_______

(355,460)
_______

Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of
such dividends as they may
deem
advisable,
including
the amount
thereofthat
andallthe
timevariables
and method
of constant,
payment aprovided that
Based
on the
above net
exposures,
and assuming
other
remain
the record date for the purpose
of 5%)
determining
shareholders entitled
to receive
payment
of thewould
dividend
must
not precede the
5% (2015:
depreciation/appreciation
of the
US$ against
the RMB
result
in an

decrease/increase
the Group's
for the year of approximately US$11,078,000 (2015:
date on which the dividend
is to be paid byinmore
than twoloss
months.

decrease/increase in the Group's loss for the year of approximately US$15,107,000) for the
year ended December 31, 2016.

A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures

opinion,
sensitivity
analysis
unrepresentative
of the inherent
Management's
or other securities of the In
Company,
or in any
one or the
more
of those ways.
Noisdividend
may be declared
or paid in money or assets
foreign exchange
risk that
as the
year
end exposure
does not
reflect
the exposure
during the
if there are reasonable grounds
for believing
the
Company
is insolvent
or the
payment
of the dividend
would render the
Company insolvent.

year.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

(b)related
Interest
risk
The Company had major
party rate
transactions
with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value in relation to bank balance, borrowings,
entrusted loan payable and loan to a CNG subsidiary of US$782,521,000 (2015:
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s
subsidiary, Inner
Mongolia
Pacific entered
into a non-exclusive
forinstrument
the purchase and
US$802,389,000)
bearing
fixed interest
rate or future
cash flows of contract
a financial
willContract”)
fluctuate because
oftochanges
in market
interest
rates.occasionally
The Group sold
is exposed
to cash
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008
pursuant
which Inner
Mongolia
Pacific
gold doré
bars to CNG
flow
interest
rate
risk
on
the
variable
rate
bank
balances
and
variable-rate
bank
borrowings
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold
(see note 23 for details of these borrowings).
Exchange and the daily average price of silver as quoted on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the

time of each relevant purchaseSensitivity
order during
the contract period. On January 27, 2012, the 2008 Contract was renewed for another
analysis
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

The following analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the
end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year and all other variables
Revenue from sales of gold doré
barsheld
to CNG
decreased
from US$233.8
million
thepoints)
year ended
December
31, 2015
to US$227.6
were
constant.
A 25 basis
point (2015:
25 for
basis
increase
or decrease
is used
million for the year ended December
31, 2016. interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents
when reporting
Management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the

The analysis below reflects the sensitivity that the interest rate may drop by 25 basis points

Product and Service Framework
Agreement
with
CNG.orAccording
(2015:
25 basis
points)
limit to 0 to
%.the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time

2016
2015
to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out
under the Product
and Service
US$'000

US$'000

(152)
671
_______

11
302
_______

152
(671)
_______

(11)
(302)
_______

Framework Agreement. For the25
year
ended
December
2016,
revenue
from sales of copper concentrate and other products to
basis
points
(2015: 2531,basis
points)
higher
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared
to US$21.0
millioninforprofit
the same
period
- (increase)
decrease
for the
year in 2015.

- addition in finance costs capitalized

For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of

25 basis points (2015: 25 basis points) lower

CNG (US$140.8 million for the year
ended December
2015).for the year
- decrease
(increase) 31,
in profit

- reduction in finance costs capitalized

In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related
parties in its normal course of business,
including
a Financial
Services
Agreement
entered
on hedging
May 29, significant
2015 amonginterest
Inner Mongolia
The Group
monitors
interest rate
exposure
and will
consider
Pacific, Huatailong and China rate
Goldexposure
Finance.should the need arise.

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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In the process
applying theINSTRUMENTS
Company’s accounting
policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
30. ofFINANCIAL
- continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

(c) financial
Creditstatements.
risk
annual consolidated

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial asset

Key assumptions concerning
future
other keyobligations.
sources of estimation
at the end100%
of each
reporting period that
fails the
to meet
itsand
contractual
The Groupuncertainty
sold approximately
(2015:

of aitsmaterial
gold to one
creditworthy
CNG, approximately
(2015:within
20%)the next twelve
have a significant risk of100%)
causing
adjustment
to thecustomer,
carrying amounts
of assets and48%
liabilities

and 52% (2015: 80%) of its copper concentrate and other by-product to a CNG's
subsidiary and third party respectively for the year ended December 31, 2016 and exposes
the Group to concentration of credit risk. The failure of these customers to make required
payments could have
a negative impact on the Group's results. The Group manages this
CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
risk
by
demanding
upfront
from CNG
and has set
up monitoring
procedures
to consolidated
A summary of new and revised IFRS standards andpayment
interpretations
are outlined
in Note
2 of the audited
annual
ensure that follow-up action is taken for timely settlement of receivables from the CNG's
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.
subsidiary and the third party. The Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure the adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, Management consider the
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.
months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts

The Group
to credit
riskinstruments
on loans toare
related
parties.
Management
receivable, accounts payable,
cashwas
andexposed
loans. The
financial
recorded
at either
fair values or amortized amount
on the balance sheet. periodically monitors the financial position of each of the related companies to ensure

each related company is financially viable to settle the amount due to the Group.

The Company did not have
financial
or outstanding
hedging
contracts
as PRC,
at December
31, 2016.
Theany
Group's
cashderivatives
and short-term
bank deposits
are held
in large
Hong Kong
and

Canadian financial institutions. These investments mature at various dates within three
months from inception date. The exchange rate of RMB is determined by the Government
OFF-BALANCE SHEET
ARRANGEMENTS
of the PRC and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions
As at December 31, 2016,
the Company
had not entered
intoPRC.
any off-balance sheet arrangements.
imposed
by the Government
of the
The Group had concentration of credit risk by geographical locations as the other
DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND
POLICY
receivables comprise
various debtors which are located either in the PRC or Canada for

The Company has not paid
since incorporation
and2015.
does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
the any
yearsdividends
ended December
31, 2016 and
Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and

Other than the concentration of the credit risk on bank balances and accounts receivable,
the Group does not have any other significant concentration of credit risk.

financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.

(d)

Liquidity risk

Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time to time declare and authorize payment of

The Group operates in a capital intensive industry. The Group’s liquidity requirements
arises principally from the need for financing the expansion of its mining and processing
the record date for the purpose
of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the
operations.
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than two months.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as
they fall due. The Group manages liquidity risk through the Management of its capital
A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
structure and financial leverage as outlined in note 29.

or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

(d)related
Liquidity
risk - continued
The Company had major
party transactions
with the following companies related by way of shareholders and shareholder
in common:

The Group relies on existing cash resources, available banking facilities, bank borrowings
and bonds listed on the Stock Exchange as significant sources of liquidity. As at
On October 24, 2008, the Company’s
subsidiary,
Innerthe
Mongolia
Pacific
entered
into a non-exclusive
contract
for the purchase and
December
31, 2016,
Group has
available
unutilized
bank facilities
of approximately
US$496
million.
In addition,
the Inner
management
arePacific
of theoccasionally
view that thesold
banking
sale of doré with CNG (the “2008
Contract”)
pursuant
to which
Mongolia
gold facilities
doré bars to CNG
could
be
renewed
as
the
Group
has
no
difficulty
to
obtain
the
renewal
based
on
historical
through to December 31, 2011. The pricing was based on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the
Shanghai Gold
experience. The management can monitor the utilization of bank borrowings to finance
Exchange and the daily average
price
of
silver
as
quoted
on
the
Shanghai
Huatong
Platinum
&
Silver
Exchange
prevailing
at the
the Group's operation and maintain the Group's liquidity. Therefore, the management
time of each relevant purchaseconsider
order during
contract
period.
On January
27,meet
2012,inthe
2008
renewed
that itthe
has
sufficient
working
capital to
full
its Contract
financial was
obligations
asfor another
they2014
fall and
due subsequently
for at least theonnext
months
the of
end
of the 1,
reporting
period and 31, 2017.
three years ending December 31,
Junetwelve
30, 2014
for thefrom
period
January
2015 to December
accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.
Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to US$227.6
million for the year ended December
31, 2016.table details the Group's remaining contractual maturities for its financial
The following

liabilities (see note 31 for other commitments). The table is based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the
required to satisfy the liabilities.

Product and Service Framework Agreement with CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates

extent of
that
interest
flows are floating
theand
undiscounted
amount
derived from
produced at the Jiama Mine. To
Thethe
quantity
copper
concentrates,
pricingrate,
terms
payment terms
be isestablished
from time

interestto
rate
the endprinciples
of the reporting
period: transactions set out under the Product and Service
to time by the parties with reference
theatpricing
for connected
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31,On
2016,
revenue from sales of copper concentrate
demand
Totaland other products to
or within
1 - 2 in 2015.2 - 5
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the
same period
At December 31, 2016

1 year
US$'000

years
US$'000

years
US$'000

Over 5
years
US$'000

undiscounted
cashflow
US$'000

Carrying
Amount
US$'000

For the year ended DecemberAccounts
31, 2016,
of US$39.6 million
were- provided to
of
andconstruction
other payables services
163,098
- the Company
163,098 by subsidiaries
163,098
Borrowings
615,386
72,756
238,590
319,098
1,245,830
1,154,832
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2015).
Entrusted loan payable
28,869
28,869
28,831
_______

_______

_______

_______

_________

_________

807,353
_______

72,756
_______

238,590
_______

319,098
_______

1,437,797
_________

1,346,761
_________

In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.
Accounts and other payables
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
At December 31, 2015

Borrowings

On demand
or within
1 year
US$'000

1-2
years
US$'000

2-5
years
US$'000

Over 5
years
US$'000

Total
undiscounted
cashflow
US$'000

Carrying
Amount
US$'000

152,312
197,688
_______

495,082
_______

143,909
_______

155,652
_______

152,312
992,331
_________

152,312
952,431
_________

_______

_______

_______

_______

_________

_________

The Board of Directors has givenEntrusted
the Company
approval to conduct
that may
qualify as30,800
acquisition
loan payable
955 reviews
31,797of a number
- of projects
32,752

targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions.
Group did143,909
not have 155,652
any material
acquisition
and disposal
350,955 The526,879
1,177,395
1,135,543
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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In the process
applying theINSTRUMENTS
Company’s accounting
policies, the Directors of the Company have identified accounting
30. ofFINANCIAL
- continued
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited

(e) financial
Fair value
- continued
annual consolidated
statements.

Except for the available-for-sale investment - listed equity securities which are measured

Key assumptions concerning
the future
and in
other
key sources
estimation
uncertainty
end
of eachassets
reporting period that
at quoted
bid price
an active
marketof(Level
1), the
fair value at
ofthe
other
financial

financial
liabilities
is determined
accordance
with generally
pricing
have a significant risk ofand
causing
a material
adjustment
to theincarrying
amounts
of assets accepted
and liabilities
within the next twelve
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

The Group considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities

recorded at amortized
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

was no transfer
between 1, 2 are
and outlined
3 in the current
A summary of new and values.
revised There
IFRS standards
and interpretations
in Note and
2 ofprior
the years.
audited annual consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2016.

31.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

FINANCIALOperating
INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
leases commitments

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts

At thepayable,
end of each
period,
the Group
had commitments
for future
minimum
leaseor amortized amount
receivable, accounts
cashreporting
and loans.
The financial
instruments
are recorded
at either
fair values
payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:
on the balance sheet.

December 31,

December 31,

US$'000

US$'000

108

171
_______

106
350
247
_______

583
_______

703
_______

The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as 2016
at December 31, 2016.
2015

OFF-BALANCE
SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
Within one year

As at December In
31,the
2016,
the Company
hadinclusive
not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.
second
to fifth year
304

Over five years

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The Board of
Directors will determine
anylease
futurepayments
dividendrepresent
policy onrentals
the basis
of, among
results ofLeases
operations,
Operating
payable
by theothers
Groupthings,
for itsthe
premises.
are cash flows and

negotiated
for aand
termcapital
of 1 torequirements,
14 years.
financial conditions,
operating
the rules promulgated by the regulators affecting dividends in both
Canada and Hong Kong and at both the TSX and HKSE, and the amount of distributable profits and other relevant factors.

December 31,
December 31,
2016
2015
Subject to the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, the Directors may from time toUS$'000
time declare andUS$'000
authorize payment of
commitments
such dividends asCapital
they may
deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend must not precede the

Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition

date on which theof
dividend
is to
be paid
by more than
two months.
property,
plant
and equipment
in the

consolidated financial statements

not provided
for
218,994
211,196
A dividend may be- contracted
paid whollybut
or partly
by the distribution
of cash, specific assets or of _______
fully
paid shares or_______
of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable
for believing
the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Capital grounds
expenditure
in respectthat
of capital

injection to an investee
Company insolvent.

3,604
_______

3,850
_______

Other commitments
OUTSTANDING
SHARES and contingencies existed at the end of each reporting period
As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

32.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES – continued

In related
Octoberparty
2006,transactions
the Group signed
ten-year service
contract
with
thirdofparty
to provide
mining
The Company had major
with thea following
companies
related
byaway
shareholders
and
shareholder
services to the Group commencing in the first quarter of 2007. The value of the mining service of
each year will vary and is dependent upon the amount of mining work performed.

in common:

On October 24, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered into a non-exclusive contract for the purchase and

33.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

sale of doré with CNG (the “2008 Contract”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific occasionally sold gold doré bars to CNG
through to December 31,
The pricing
basedsubsidiaries
on the dailyare
average
price
gold ingot as quoted
on the
Shanghai Gold
The2011.
employees
of thewas
Group's
members
of of
a state-managed
retirement
benefits

operated
the PRC
government.
The subsidiaries
required
to contribute
a certain
Exchange and the dailyscheme
average
price ofbysilver
as quoted
on the Shanghai
Huatongare
Platinum
& Silver
Exchange
prevailing at the

percentage
of payroll
costcontract
to the retirement
tothe
fund
theContract
benefits.was
Therenewed
only for another
time of each relevant purchase
order
during the
period. Onbenefits
Januaryscheme
27, 2012,
2008
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

The total
to the consolidated
statement
of for
profit
lossended
and other
comprehensive
Revenue from sales of gold
doré cost
bars charged
to CNG decreased
from US$233.8
million
the or
year
December
31, 2015 to US$227.6
income
of approximately
million for the year ended
December
31, 2016. US$1,964,000 and US$1,363,000 for the years ended December 31,
2016 and 2015, respectively, represent contributions payable to the scheme by the Group.

On May 29, 2015, the Company entered into a revised continuing connected transaction and major transaction amending the

OF with
SUBSIDIARIES
34. Framework
PARTICULARS
Product and Service
Agreement
CNG. According to the amendments, CNG purchases the copper concentrates
produced at the Jiama Mine. The quantity of copper concentrates, pricing terms and payment terms be established from time

Details of the Company's subsidiaries at December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service
Place and date
Issued and fully
Equity interest
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December
31, 2016, revenue
from
copper
and other products to
of incorporation/
paid share
capital/sales of
attributable
to theconcentrate
Group
Name of subsidiaries

establishment

registered capital

CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.
Pacific PGM Inc.

British Virgin Islands
("BVI")

US$100

as at December 31,
2016
2015

Principal activities

100%

Investment holding

100%

Mayservices
17, 2001
For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction
of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of
Pacific
PGM
(Barbados)
Inc. December Barbados
CNG (US$140.8 million for
the
year
ended
31, 2015).
September 6, 2007

IMP

PRC

US$200,000

100%

100%

Investment holding

US$45,000,000

96.5%

96.5%

Engaged in exploration and

29, 2002
development of mining
In addition to the two aforementioned major relatedApril
party
transactions, the Company also obtains additional
services
properties
in China from related

parties in its normal course
Services
Agreement entered
among
Skylandof business, including a Financial
Barbados
US$233,380,700
100% on May
100% 29, 2015
Investment
holdingInner Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

Tibet Jia Ertong Minerals Exploration
Ltd. (1)

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
Huatailong(1)

October 6, 2004

plus RMB1,510,549,032

PRC
October 31, 2003

US$273,920,000

100%

100%

Exploration, development and
mining of mineral properties
and investment holding

PRC
January 11, 2007

RMB1,760,000,000

100%

100%

Exploration, development and
mining of mineral properties

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
Jiama Industry and Trade(1)

PRC

RMB5,000,000

51%

51%

Mining logistics and transport

December
1, 2011
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright
acquisitions.
The Group did not have any materialbusiness
acquisition and disposal
Skyland Mining (BVI) Limited
US$1
100%
100%
Issue of bonds
of subsidiaries and associated
companies in the October
yearBVI
ended December
31, 2016. The
Company
continues
to review possible
26, 2012

acquisition targets, including
Jinfeng
Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
(1)
Domesticthe
limited
liability company.
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the process
applying the OF
Company’s
accounting
policies,
Directors of
Company
have identified accounting
35. ofSTATEMENT
FINANCIAL
POSITION
ANDthe
RESERVES
OFthe
THE
COMPANY
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited
annual consolidated financial statements.

Current assets

2016
US$'000

2015
US$'000

Key assumptions Cash
concerning
theequivalents
future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at10,180
the end of each reporting
and cash
71,601 period that

Other
receivables
27 liabilities within the
25 next twelve
have a significant
risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Loan receivables from subsidiaries
Amounts due from subsidiaries

438
452,684
49,258
_________

457
110,613
_________

512,587

182,696

months are described in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

_________
_________
A summary of new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations are outlined in Note
2 of the audited
annual consolidated
Non-current
assets 31, 2016.
financial statements
as at December

Property, plant and equipment
91
153
Loan receivables from subsidiaries
58,033
387,507
investment
12,737
15,291
FINANCIALAvailable-for-sale
INSTRUMENTS
AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS
Investments
in
subsidiaries
987,016
987,016
The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are available-for-sale investments, accounts
Amounts due from subsidiaries
50,664
47,493
_________
_________

receivable, accounts payable, cash and loans. The financial instruments are recorded at either fair values or amortized amount
on the balance sheet.

Total assets

1,108,541
_________

1,437,460
_________

1,621,128
_________

1,620,156
_________

834
490,000
_________

1,248
490,000
_________

_________

491,248
_________

19
_________

19
_________

_________

_________

The Company did not have any financial derivatives or outstanding hedging contracts as at December 31, 2016.

Current liabilities
Other payable and accrued expenses
Advance
from aARRANGEMENTS
subsidiary
OFF-BALANCE
SHEET

As at December 31, 2016, the Company had not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.
490,834

Non-current liability

DIVIDEND AND
DIVIDEND
POLICY
Deferred
income

The Company has
not paid
any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have
a fixed dividend491,267
policy. The Board of
Total
liabilities
490,853

Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of operations, cash flows and

Net current assets (liabilities)

21,753

(308,552)

_________
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by_________
the regulators affecting
dividends in both
Total
assets
less
current
liabilities
1,130,294
1,128,908
Canada and Hong
Kong
and at
both
the TSX
and HKSE, and the amount of distributable
profits and other_________
relevant
factors.
_________

Owners' equity
Share
capital (note
27)Corporations Act, the Directors may from time 1,229,061
Subject to the British
Columbia
Business
to time declare and1,229,061
authorize payment of
Reserves
(note
35)
4,073
2,795
such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment provided that
Deficits (note 35)
(102,859)
(102,967)
_________
_________
the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment
of the dividend
must not precede the
Total
owners'
date on which the
dividend
is to equity
be paid by more than two months.
Total liabilities and owners' equity

1,130,275
_________

1,128,889
_________

1,621,128
_________

1,620,156
_________

A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, debentures
or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or paid in money or assets
if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of the dividend would render the
Company insolvent.

OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of December 31, 2016 the Company had 396,413,753 common shares issued and outstanding.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CNG owned 39.3 percent of the outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

36.

RESERVES AND DEFICITS OF THE COMPANY

The Company had major related party transactions with the following companies related byAccumulated
way of shareholders and shareholder

Reserves
US$'000

in common:

losses
US$'000

Total
US$'000

On October 24, 2008, the
subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Pacific entered2,073
into a non-exclusive
contract for the
purchase and
AtCompany’s
January 1, 2015
(105,253)
(103,180)

for the
year
2,286
sale of doré with CNG Profit
(the “2008
Contract”)
pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Pacific
occasionally
sold gold doré 2,286
bars to CNG
Fair2011.
valueThe
loss
on availablefor-sale
through to December 31,
pricing
was based
on the daily average price of gold ingot as quoted on the Shanghai Gold
investment

(3,998)

-

(3,998)

Exchange and the dailyReclassification
average price of
silver as quoted
on the Shanghai Huatong Platinum & Silver Exchange prevailing at the
adjustment
upon impairment

time of each relevant purchase
order during the
contract period. On January
27,
2012, the 2008_______
Contract
for another
of available-for-sale
investment
4,720
- was renewed
4,720
_______
_______
three years ending December 31, 2014 and subsequently on June 30, 2014 for the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017.

Total comprehensive income for the year

At December 31, 2015 and January 1, 2016

722
_______

2,795

2,286
_______

3,008
_______

(102,967)

(100,172)

_______
_______
_______
Revenue from sales of gold doré bars to CNG decreased from US$233.8 million
for the year ended
December 31, 2015
to US$227.6
Profit
for the year
million for the year ended
December
31, 2016.

108
108
Fair value loss on available- for-sale
investment
(2,553)
(2,553)
On May 29, 2015, the Company
entered
into a revised
Reclassification
adjustment
uponcontinuing
impairmentconnected transaction and major transaction amending the
Product and Service Framework
Agreement with
CNG. According to the amendments,
concentrates
investment
3,831 CNG purchases
- the copper
3,831
of available-for-sale
_______
_______
_______
produced at the JiamaTotal
Mine.comprehensive
The quantity ofincome
copperforconcentrates,
pricing terms
terms
from time
the year
1,278and payment
108 be established
1,386
_______
_______
_______
to time by the parties with reference to the pricing principles for connected transactions set out under the Product and Service

At December 31, 2016

4,073

(102,859)

(98,786)

_______
_______
Framework Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from
sales of copper _______
concentrate and other
products to
CNG was US$59.8 million, compared to US$21.0 million for the same period in 2015.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, construction services of US$39.6 million were provided to the Company by subsidiaries of
CNG (US$140.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015).
In addition to the two aforementioned major related party transactions, the Company also obtains additional services from related
parties in its normal course of business, including a Financial Services Agreement entered on May 29, 2015 among Inner Mongolia
Pacific, Huatailong and China Gold Finance.

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

The Board of Directors has given the Company approval to conduct reviews of a number of projects that may qualify as acquisition
targets through joint venture, merger and/or outright acquisitions. The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal
of subsidiaries and associated companies in the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company continues to review possible
acquisition targets, including the Jinfeng Mine acquired by CNG in September 2016. However, there can be no assurances that
such review will result in any acquisition transactions.
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